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Transmit Entertainment Limited
(Stock code: 1326)

As a diverse development enterprise focusing on film, television
and variety show content creation and production with the spirit
of business value “Enabling”, Transmit Entertainment Limited
principally engages in (i) film, TV series and variety show production
and distribution; (ii) film exhibition; (iii) pan-entertainment (including
artiste and celebrity agency business as well as pan-entertainment
businesses along the value chain); and (iv) other businesses. The
Group strives to realize the development strategy in relation to
the stay-at-home economy and brand diversity. In addition, the
Group endeavors to develop its self-owned full industry chain
model and construct a unique soft power desirable to the Group
through persistently combined resources of scriptwriting, direction
and celebrity to offer quality content, nurture talented artistes and
explore, cultivate and create popular film and television copyright.

Taking advantages of online platforms to cultivate new artistes and
celebrities, the Group will also proactively explore and develop its
self-owned retail brand targeting young consumers by continuously
identifying business opportunities in relation to the stay-at-home
economy on four aspects including online stream, short videos,
celebrity cultivation and traffic monetization with the aim to focus on
film, television and variety show as its business direction following
the Group's core. Meanwhile, the Group attaches great importance
to expanding its business dimension through collaboration with
partners and establishing more sophisticated upstream and
downstream industry chains by enriching the industry layout with
physical products, thereby seizing new opportunities arising from
the pan-entertainment business.
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During the year under review, under the novel coronavirus
pandemic, online shopping and home entertainment were rapidly
replacing the traditional entertainment model and become a new
trend for entertainment consumption. According to a report from the
mobile data supplier App Annie, expenditure of global consumers
spent on mobile applications during the first half of 2020 exceeded
US$50.0 billion, representing an increase of 10% as compared to the
second half of 2019, and the monthly expenditure hit a record high
of US$6.8 billion in May 2020. Due to the social distancing measures
and travel restriction during the outbreak of pandemic, an increasing
number of consumers turned to shop online via mobile applications
and watch entertainment contents such as live streaming, video
clips and internet dramas, thus increasing loyalty to these platforms.
In February 2020, Chinese users spent an average of 5 hours per
day on their mobile phones, representing an increase of 30% as
compared to 2019.

In the meantime, domestic consumption demand in the PRC revived
steadily from the shadow of novel coronavirus pandemic. According
to statistics from the National Bureau of Statistics, total retail sales
of consumer goods in August 2020 amounted to RMB3,357.1
billion and recorded a year-on-year increase of 0.5%, representing
the first positive growth for the year. Among which, mid to high-
end consumption goods including cosmetics, jewellery and
communication devices recorded a double-digit year-on-year growth,
reflecting that the consumption sentiment gradually improved.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRRE

Capturing the rapid emergence of “stay-at-home economy” and
the shifting trend of entertainment consumption towards online
models, Transmit Entertainment has been proactively expanding its
pan-entertainment businesses such as Multiple Channel Network
(MCN) on top of consolidating its existing business foundation.
Such efforts included joint establishment of companies with leading
film and television platform enterprises to develop celebrity agency
business and launch of its self-owned retail brands targeting
young consumers in order to establish diversified monetisation
channels. We believe that we could provide excellent entertainment
experience for consumers and enhance recognition and
competitiveness of brand-name products by leveraging our content
spread based on big data and word-of-mouth, our content creation
teams who staying abreast of the latest entertainment trend and the
advantages of popular celebrities in various consumption sectors to
explore potential demands of consumers, and thereby creating more
potential development opportunities in the film, television and media
industry and delivering better returns to the shareholders.

To conclude, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to convey my most sincere gratitude to all our
shareholders, partners and dedicated senior management team
for their long-term care and support and to all the staff for their
unremitting efforts.

Zhang Liang, Johnson
Chairman

25 September 2020
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in (i) film, TV series and variety
show production, distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film
exhibition; (iii) pan-entertainment; and (iv) other businesses. The
Group mainly produces Chinese films, variety shows and TV series
in both mainland China and Hong Kong. It also operates five Hong
Kong based cinemas. As the Novel Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19)
has caused uncertainties for the global business environment,
more consumers are inclined to enjoy home entertainment, thereby
further stimulating the needs of online stream, short videos, internet
dramas and online shopping and making a positive contribution
to the digital transformation of traditional film and television
production industry. Therefore, the Group further implemented
the development strategy in relation to the stay-at-home economy
and brand diversity during the year under review. During the year
under review, the Group's proportion of revenue from mainland
China increased by 7.3 percentage points year-on-year and rose to
approximately 64.6% from approximately 57.3% last year. Mainland
China continues to be the major source of the Group’s revenue and
business growth.

In view of keeping abreast of the industry development dynamics
and iterative updates on audience entertainment preference,
the Group is particularly cautious about the selection of theme
and genre of film and television as well as investment attitudes.
The Group has attached greater importance to the review and
consideration of possible operational risks resulting from operation
cycles and inflexible capital. Hence, the Group has gradually shifted
its business focus to other business models such as online variety
shows and short videos which have shorter operation cycles and
lower capital turnover requirements but greater flexibility. For
the year ended 30 June 2020, film, TV series and variety show
production and distribution business remained as the core business
of the Group with reported revenue of approximately HK$307.1
million, representing a decrease of approximately 26.0% as
compared to last year, mainly due to the decrease in the revenue
generated from the film production, distribution and licensing as
there was no new movie released by the Group during the year
under review whereas two films, namely “L Storm” (L &%) and
“The Invincible Dragon” (JLEE8R), were released in the previous
year.

E 3 e

AEEBFERZNEY  ERBIRELEEE
BI{E  BOTRBRHUESRITHEEADTA
(iNERZHBR ¢ (i) IREE  R(vIEMER -
REENPERLEESAEBMISRESE
EEY  ZEHBERERE YKLERERE
BEFETR c RFTAMN  FATKRRESTER
(COVID-19)RIBEARRAERREERTHEE
MBS HBEEERERRLY  E— S5
TRRERE  NRE - BERBREYNS
ko HRERTREETENR T LELS
BIRHESER - IEEFER - AEB IR
H—HHE LB INRREZ TTENERE
RE - NEEFEER  AEEKREFREALL
B IG IR F EF7I3EEDE - HEFEL
57.3%HEINE464.6% » o B A b 48 48 A 7K
EEHRAREFEENEB IR

DETENBRREBREMERIREOKHER
B AEBEEEEM BRI PR &%
BREEEAEE  HELRHBNESHES
AR RMEBELRRENTEZERNEE -
AhEFELEZLERRARAERL BEEE
A BeAEERE/ NG LFEEE - &
RIAE £ EE - H 220206 A30H [H4F
T B ERBIRGEEHBREREITE
BNAAEBMNZLER  SBKREHNAES
¥307. 1B &L MEAFRAPH26.0% @ =2
MRAEEROBEFEANTENEY L
MREFLEMTRIBEY  BELAR) R
CNETED)  UBURBERRE - BITER
tH BT (5 PR R AT MY R ES TR o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

During the year under review, the juvenile social romantic variety
show developed and produced by the Group, namely “I Love You,
Me Too"” (ZEUR + Fit/2) Season 2, was broadcasted on the online
video platform iQlYIl. The show drew persistent heated discussion
from viewers on multiple online social platforms such as Weibo,
Quora, Douban and Douyin and achieved remarkable performance
by becoming one of the hot searches on various hot rankings
such as “lgiyi Variety Champion Ranking” (B & Z=&E.Z#), “Weibo
Hot Searches"” (#81EZE#5) for over 400 times. In addition, the
24-episode new urban idol drama of “Fox Romance” (JIEHRIEP)
directed by Yangian Li (Z=ffEf&) started shooting in May 2020 and is
expected to be broadcasted on the online video platform Mango TV
in the coming year with estimated revenue.

In respect of film direction business, “Well-Dominated Love” (%
fAIBOSS X #01A]) produced by Wu Qiang (238) was broadcasted on
the online video platform Mango TV with accumulated play of over
1 billion and attracted widespread attention on various Internet
platforms, among which, Weibo and #§#§£I&{& recorded over 0.8
billion and 660,000 views respectively. Maoyan popularity index
also recorded continuous growth for the show. Meanwhile, the
urban love drama “Miss Crow With Mr Lizard” (%5 {0 24745 %
A) directed by Wu Qiang started shooting in May 2020 and was
completed in July 2020. The show is expected to be broadcasted
on Tencent Video exclusively in the coming year with estimated
revenue. Furthermore, the film “My People, My Homeland” (FF1%
HIZK ) in collaboration with Huan Shu (3R/2) as a joint director was
scheduled to be released during the National Day in 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

Film exhibition

During the year under review, the consumption sentiment of
Hong Kong citizens continued to be weakened due to local social
movements in Hong Kong during the second half of 2019 and
the outbreak of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) during the first
half of 2020. The prevention and control measures as well as
social distancing measures in relation to the pandemic on public
entertainment places such as cinemas implemented by the
Hong Kong government caused a tremendous negative effect on
our operation. The Group's segment business of film exhibition
encountered unprecedented challenges. The business of cinemas
under the Group was suspended on occasion during the second
half of 2019 and the period from March to June 2020, resulting in
a substantial decline in cinemagoers during the year under review
as compared to the previous year. The revenue from the Group's
film exhibition decreased by approximately 42.6% to approximately
HK$139.9 million as compared to last year, accounting for
approximately 30.0% of total revenue of the Group.

Along with the epidemic development, the Group observed a
gradual change in film watching and consumption behaviors
from the public as well as more time spent at home to watch
films and enjoy other leisure activities. The Group’s management
is continuously assessing the impact of the epidemic on the
film exhibition segment and proactively exploring the future
development prospect of this business segment. The Group's
management is conservative whether the number and the frequency
of film in cinemas will be fully restored after the pandemic. The
Group’s management will keep continuous attention on the change
of situation and make timely response and adjustments in the
future.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

Pan-entertainment and other businesses

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group continuously
forged the collaborative relationship with several artistes, internet
celebrities and artiste agency and launched its first self-owned retail
brand in order to moderately enlarge the scale of film and television
intellectual property (IP) derived products and e-commerce business
and therefore further optimize the industry chain layout and diversify
the revenue base. During the year under review, advertising,
marketing and publication and pan-entertainment businesses of the
Group recorded a total revenue of approximately HK$18.5 million,
representing an increase of approximately 97.5% as compared
to approximately HK$9.4 million last year. This business segment
recorded loss of approximately HK$24.4 million during the year
under review (2019: loss of approximately HK$7.9 million).

In respect of artiste and celebrity agency business, the Group
completed the acquisition of 60% equity interests of B# (/&)
XALEEABR AT (Wenlan (Shanghai) Culture Communication Co.,
Ltd.*) ("Wenlan Culture”) during the year under review. In addition,
the Group tapped into the booming popular idol group industry in
area of the China’s film and television culture and obtained the
commercial performances license* (& % 4 & 1 7 7] %) held by
Wenlan Culture so as to greatly enhance the Group's business value
and brand influence. Wenlan Culture is a professional team focusing
on the planning of culture and entertainment, the performance agent
and the training for music bands businesses. CH2, which is the
music girl group under Wenlan Culture, involves Ms. Yang Chaoyue*
(158 #) as the key member. Ms. Yang debuted as a member of
Rocket Girls 101* (A &54>%22101) of pop music girl group in mainland
China after attending Tencent's girl group talent show Produce 101*
(Bl#%101) and was named by Artiste of the Year 2018* [ /2
(2018FFEZEAWY) |

During the year under review, Guangzhou Daide Management
Consultancy Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, and Beijing iQlYI Science & Technology Co., Ltd. jointly
established X Z &k & 12 3 (£ & R 2 7 (Tianjin Chuan Di Ai Yu
Culture Limited*) to further develop celebrity agency business,
in which, the Group had 51% equity interest. The Group’s
management believes that the establishment of the joint venture
will help the Group realize the integration of artiste and celebrity
resources and leading film and television platform resources and
traffic monetization from its self-owned brands and distributor
brands by leveraging artiste and celebrity influence in various
market segments as well as its production capabilities to boost the
performance of conventional consumer sectors, thereby persistently
expanding business scale of the Group’s Multiple Channel Network
(MCN).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

In the meantime, celebrities Lusi Zhao (#88 &) and Li Yi Tong (&
—1f) drew massive attention due to their outstanding performance
in popular TV series. For instance, the impressive performance
of Lusi Zhao in “The Romance of Tiger and Rose"” (& R
) contributed to satisfactory results where she ranked fourth in
both the most popular actress of More TV and Guduo Popularity
Index Ranking* (BZZEIEEBETEEEF ). On the other hand, a
number of TV series in which Li Yi Tong performed were officially
broadcasted including “Dt.Appledog’s Time" (3EHZEH), “Dear
Missy” (7T #BAYZ %) and “Don't Think Twice, Love's All Right”
(BB K %) and became the center of attention once again.
Among which, “Don’t Think Twice, Love's All Right” ranked first
for three consecutive weeks in terms of prime time viewership on
provincial satellite channels and hit a record high in the “Popularity
Rating” (ZA/Z{H) on the online video platform namely, Youku.

In respect of self-owned retail brand, the Group promoted its new
self-owned tea brand "EJEZLEEYETEA” to young consumer
groups during the year under review. Our first White Peach Oolong
and Grape Oolong have been officially launched on Taobao official
brand stores. Through the collaboration with celebrities with millions
of subscribers on Weibo and Douyin as well as promotion in the
variety show “| Love You, Me Too” Season 2, our brand gained rapid
recognition and market attention.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue and gross profit

Revenue of the Group for the year under review amounted to
approximately HK$465.5 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$202.6 million or 30.3% as compared to last year,
mainly contributed by revenue from the business segment of film,
TV series and variety show production and distribution and film
exhibition of approximately HK$307.1 million and HK$139.9 million,
respectively. The revenue generated from the film production,
distribution and licensing declined since there was no new movie
released by the Group during the year under review whereas two
films, namely “L Storm” (LE%&) and “The Invincible Dragon” (JL&
B, were released last year. For the film exhibition segment, the
revenue in film exhibition business reduced due to the drop in the
cinemagoers resulting from the prevention and control measures in
relation to COVID-19 and the weakened consumption sentiment.

Gross profit of the Group was approximately HK$173.7 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$88.6 million or
approximately 33.8% as compared to last year. Gross profit margin
for the year under review was approximately 37.3%, representing
a slight decrease as compared to approximately 39.3% for the
previous year.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

Other gains and losses and other income

During the year under review, other gains and losses and other
income was approximately HK$41.8 million, representing an
increase of HK$9.4 million or approximately 28.9% as compared to
last year, which was mainly due to rent concessions for cinemas
offered by property owners.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
HK$25.5 million or 12.3% from approximately HK$207.3 million for
the previous year to approximately HK$181.8 million for the year
under review. This was mainly due to the recognition of depreciation
of right-of-use assets of HK$109.5 million and interest expenses of
lease liabilities during the year under review as a result of the effect
of the adoption of the new accounting standard Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16") whereas the interest
expenses of lease liabilities of HK$49.7 million were included in
financial costs during the year under review. In the previous year,
only rental expense of HK$122.1 million was recognised in selling
and distribution expenses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately HK$6.3 million
or approximately 9.4% from approximately HK$67.3 million for the
previous year to approximately HK$61.0 million for the year under
review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

Share of results of associates

During the year under review, share of loss of associates
represented the loss incurred by Supreme Art Entertainment
Limited in the year under review. In addition, the Group disposed of
the entire interest of Supreme Art Entertainment Limited and Jade
Dynasty Holdings Limited during the year under review.

Loss for the year under review

The Group’s loss and total comprehensive expense attributable
to owners of the Company for the year under review amounted
to approximately HK$126.6 million (30 June 2019: loss of
approximately HK$35.5 million) and approximately HK$128.1 million
(30 June 2019: total comprehensive expense of approximately
HK$29.9 million) respectively.

It was mainly caused by (i) severe delay of TV series and variety
show production projects conducted by the Group for the year due
to the effect of mandatory work suspension as a result of COVID-19,
therefore this segment revenue was recognised later than expected;
(i) film exhibition business was sluggish resulting in lower income
due to the effects of relevant policies in relation to COVID-19 and
the market sentiment; and (iii) the application of HKFRS 16 (“HKFRS
16"), which results in a higher total charge to the statement of
profit or loss in the first few years of the lease, and such expenses
will decrease during the latter part of the lease terms. There is no
impact on the cumulative expenses recognised during the remaining
lease terms since the adoption date of HKFRS 16. Accordingly, the
effects of the application of HKFRS 16 resulted in an increase in
corresponding expenses recognised during the year as the Group
currently operates numerous cinemas in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

Impairment loss on right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment (“Impairment”)

Background

As disclosed in Note 2.1, the Group has initially applied HKFRS
16 using the modified retrospective method and adjusted the
opening balances at 1 July 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets
of HK$800.4 million mainly relating to the lease agreements of
five cinemas in Hong Kong which were previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17.

The Impairment was made on right-of-use assets derived from the
lease agreements of numerous cinemas in Hong Kong operated by
the Group (the “Cinemas”) and property, plant and equipment in
relation to the Cinemas, which was determined after considering
the difference between the recoverable amount based on value
in use calculations and the carrying value as at 30 June 2020. The
cinemas located in Hong Kong, have been operating for years and
the management assessed the income to be generated therefrom
after taking into account of the factors explained in the section
headed “Circumstances leading to the Impairment” below.

The relevant cinemas (not including the buildings) were developed
by the Group on its own and were not acquired from third parties,
and the relevant right-of-use assets and property, plants and
equipment in relation to the Cinemas were acquired at various time
from the relevant suppliers in the course of the establishment of
the Cinemas.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

Circumstances leading to the Impairment

At the year ended 30 June 2020, the management of the Company
assessed the carrying value and recoverable amount of the right-
of-use assets and property, plants and equipment in relation to the
Cinemas after taking into account of the following factors:

(@)  the global economic downturn since mid-2019 which leads to
the expected decline of occupancy rate of the Cinemas;

(b)  the change of the movie industry atmosphere in Hong Kong
and the expected slowdown in shooting of international
blockbuster movie, and thus the expected decline in the box
office in the forthcoming year;

(c) the adverse impact due to the social movement since the
second half of 2019, which results in less cinemagoers;

(d) the adverse impact due to the outbreak of novel coronavirus
disease (COVID-19) since the first quarter of 2020, which
results in less cinemagoers;

(e) the review and comparison of the budget of the Cinemas
prepared for the Period Under Review and the actual income
and profit generated from the Cinemas during the period,
and found that there is a material shortfall from the projected
income and operating profit; and

(f)  the need to adopt a reasonable approach in evaluating the
cashflow to be generated from the cinema operation by the
adoption of a discount rate of 13% with reference to the use
of weighted average costs of capital when the recoverable
amount was determined based on value in use calculations.

The above factors were identified close to the end of the year
ended 30 June 2020 and assessed and considered during the
course of the preparation of the annual financial information of
the Company for the year ended 30 June 2020. The above factors
were not anticipated nor taken into account when the development
plan of the relevant Cinemas was implemented.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

The method, basis and key assumptions used in
determining the amount of the Impairment and the
recoverable amount

The Impairment relied on the assessment based on the discount
cashflow method ("DCF"). DCF is adopted because:

(@) the entire carrying amount of the right-of-use assets and
property, plants and equipment was tested for impairment
in accordance with the HKAS 36 issued by the HKICPA by
comparing its recoverable amount with its carrying amount;
and

(b)  the Group adopted the DCF method under the income-based
approach in arriving at the value in use. According to the
HKAS 36, measuring value in use of an entity should consider
an estimate of the future cash flows the entity expects to
derive from the asset. Therefore, the Company adopted the
DCF and that the asset-based approach and market based
approach were not applicable.

The basis and key assumptions used in the assessment are as
follows:

(@) the Group recognised the impairment loss on right-of-
use assets and property, plants and equipment due to the
deteriorating economic environment and intense competition
in the market of cinema and film exhibition;

(b)  the economic downturn will be a mid-to-long term one and
the performance of occupancy rate of the cinema and the box
office will not rebound in a short period taking into account
the declining economic performance of Hong Kong and the
PRC and the uncertainties brought by the increase of the
trade war between the United States of America and the
PRC as well as the outbreak of novel coronavirus disease
(COVID-19);
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

(c) the interest rate of the banking facilities obtained by the
Group for the operation of the Cinemas will not decrease
substantially in the foreseeable period and hence affecting
the discount rate used when adopting the DCF approach; and

(d) for the impairment testing, the recoverable amount was
determined based on value in use calculations which was
performed by management. The calculation uses cash flow
projections of the Group based on financial budgets approved
by the management of the Company covering a lease term
period of the Cinemas and a pre-tax discount rate of 13%.
The key assumption includes the future expected cash flows
based on management’s view of future business prospects
and past performance of the Group.

Taking into account of the above factors and the reasonable
approach in adopting the relevant accounting standard and the
discount rate which is more suitable when making cash flow
projections, the Board considers that the Impairment is fair and
reasonable.

The Company intends to continue with the operation of the
Cinemas which are self-developed, but it will monitor closely
the business performance of the Cinemas from time to time and
formulate appropriate business strategy for the cinema or to
realise the investment if suitable opportunity arises.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 30 June 2020, the Group’s bank balances and cash amounted
to approximately HK$112.3 million (30 June 2019: approximately
HK$122.0 million), which are denominated mainly in HK$, United
States Dollar ("US$"”) and Renminbi (“RMB").

As at 30 June 2020, the Group's total debts, including bank and
other borrowings, bonds payable, loans from related companies
and a controlling shareholder amounted to approximately HK$67.0
million, approximately HK$51.5 million and approximately HK$147.5
million, respectively (30 June 2019: approximately HK$65.2 million,
approximately HK$22.0 million and approximately HK$226.0 million,
respectively). As at 30 June 2020, the gearing ratio, representing the
ratio of total debts to the total assets, was approximately 14.9% (30
June 2019: approximately 31.6%).

On 16 May 2019, 16 September 2019 and 24 February 2020, the
Group and Royston Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”) entered
into a placing agreement, pursuant to which the Placing Agent
conditionally agreed to procure, on a best efforts basis, placees to
subscribe in cash for the bonds in an aggregate principal amount
of up to HK$150,000,000 during the placing period. Details of the
placing of bonds are set out in the announcements of the Group
dated 16 May 2019, 16 September 2019 and 24 February 2020
respectively. As at 30 June 2020, the Group’'s bonds payable
amounted to approximately HK$51.5 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had total non-current assets of
approximately HK$1,308.9 million (30 June 2019: approximately
HK$544.9 million), net current liabilities of approximately HK$126.3
million (30 June 2019: net current liabilities of approximately
HK$95.8 million) and net assets of approximately HK$205.6 million
(30 June 2019: approximately HK$86.2 million). The current ratio
of the Group, representing the ratio of current assets over current
liabilities, was approximately 0.8 as at 30 June 2020 (30 June 2019:
approximately 0.8).

During the year under review, the Group mainly funded its liquidity
by the net proceeds from the Listing, bank and other borrowings,
bonds, loans from related companies and an amount due to a
controlling shareholder, and resources generated internally. The
Group'’s financial resources are sufficient to support its business and
operations. The Group would also consider other financing activities
when appropriate business opportunities arise under favourable
market conditions.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On 10 September 2019, Guangzhou Daide Management
Consultancy Company Limited (“Guangzhou Daide”) entered into
an equity transfer agreement with a group of third party sellers (the
“Sellers”) and B ( £/8) XL EHEFR 2 E (Wenlan (Shanghai)
Culture Communication Co., Ltd.*) (the “Target Company”). Under
the agreement, Guangzhou Daide conditionally agreed to acquire,
and Chen Jie (the “Seller One"”) and B8 X EX/LEEBR Q7
(Shanghai Aibo Culture Communication Co., Ltd.*) (the “Seller
Three”) conditionally agreed to sell, the equity interest collectively
held by Seller One and Seller Three, representing 60% equity
interest in the Target Company, at an aggregate consideration of
RMB96,000,000 and Shou Weida (¥:Z) (the “Seller Two") and
EEEHLEEES L (BRAE %) (Shanghai Huizhe Enterprites
Management Center Co., Ltd.*) (the “Seller Four”) agreed to grant
the call option to Guangzhou Daide for purchasing the remaining
40% equity interest in the Target Company.

On the same day, Guangzhou Daide, the Sellers and the Target
Company also entered into a profit guarantee agreement, pursuant
to which and subject to the completion of the acquisition, the other
two of the Sellers undertake to Guangzhou Daide that the total
aggregated profit for the profit guarantee period from 1 September
2019 to 31 December 2022 shall be not less than RMB70,000,000.
The Company will disclose whether the actual performance of the
Target Company meets the guarantee in due course.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

The Target Company is a company established in Shanghai with
limited liabilities and is principally engaged in the planning of culture
and entertainment, the performance agent and the training for
music bands businesses. In 2016, the Target Company was the
appointed manager of the music band group named, CH2 Girls
Group, which includes Ms. Yang Chaoyue* (#5i&@#) (“Ms. Yang”)
as the key member. Ms. Yang is a Chinese teen idol member and
signed the artiste management contract with the Target Company.
She debuted as a member of Rocket Girls 101* (‘A&7 %4101) after
attending Tencent's girl group talent show Produce 101* (Bl3101)
and was named by Artiste of the Year 2018* [#ZrE (2018FE
SEEAY)) | . The acquisition was completed on 12 March 2020 and
was accounted for using the acquisition method.

In April 2020, Guangzhou Daide and Beijing iQlYl Science &
Technology Co., Ltd. jointly established XZEIEZ IR (L AR R 7
(Tianjin Chuan Di Ai Yu Culture Limited*) to collaboratively develop
celebrity agency business, in which, the Group had 51% equity
interest. In addition, the Group disposed of certain subsidiaries and
associates during the year under review. For details, please refer to
Note 42 and Note 18 respectively.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group had acquired the
entire equity interest in Khorgas Houhai Culture Media Company
Limited (“Houhai Culture”) and its subsidiary 1t REEXLE
®EBRATA (Beijing Juhai Culture Media Company Limited)
(collectively known as the “Khorgas Group”) for a consideration
of RMB450,000,000 payable in three instalments in 2018, 2019
and 2020, subject to the profit guarantee as stated in the profit
guarantee agreement as contemplated thereunder the equity
transfer agreement, pursuant to which the vendors have jointly
and severally guaranteed that the consolidated audited profit of the
Khorgas Group in respect of the financial years ending 31 December
2018 and 31 December 2019 will not be less than RMB40,000,000
(the “2018 Profit Guarantee”) and RMB60,000,000 (the “2019
Profit Guarantee”), respectively. The Board is pleased to announce
that the net profit after tax of the Khorgas Group in respect of the
financial years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019
had exceeded RMB40,000,000 and RMB®60,000,000 respectively
and therefore the 2018 Profit Guarantee and the 2019 Profit
Guarantee had been fulfilled. The acquisition was completed on 28
August 2018 and further details were set out in the circular of the
Company dated 26 July 2018.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant
investments, material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures by the Group for the year ended
30 June 2020 and there was no plan authorised by the Board for
material investments or additions of capital assets during the year
ended 30 June 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2020, the Group employed a total of 308 permanent
employees (30 June 2019: 260) in the PRC and Hong Kong. The total
salaries and wages, including the Directors’ remuneration and part-
time workers’ salary, amounted to approximately HK$50.5 million
during the year ended 30 June 2020 (30 June 2019: approximately
HK$46.2 million).

The Group offers remuneration packages for employees mainly
based on their performance and experience, and with reference
to prevailing industry practices. In addition to enrolling our new
employees into the mandatory provident fund scheme in Hong
Kong and State-managed pension scheme in mainland China and
making contributions for them on a periodic basis, the Group also
provides medical coverage, internal and external training programs
and grants share options and discretionary bonuses to employees
based on employees’ individual performance and the Group's overall
performance. The Group reviews the remuneration policies and
packages on a regular basis.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had bank deposits amounting to
approximately HK$0.7 million (30 June 2019: approximately HK$0.7
million) that were pledged to banks for the bank guarantee provided
to a subsidiary of the Group regarding its due payment under a
cinema equipment rental agreement. The Group’s bank borrowings
were secured by bank deposits of HK$21,000,000 and guaranteed
by an insurance company in the PRC (2019: trade receivables of
RMB32,627,000 (equivalent to HK$37,195,000) and guaranteed by
an insurance company in the PRC).

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20

ADER

MR2020F6 A30H ' AEERFRHAMRE
BEHXIEE308Z 2B IE S (201946 A30
H : 260%) - 8202066 H30H It FE -
e TERE(RIEEERRBETIMS)
HAEEEES0.5B (20196 A308 « 4978
¥A6.2BBTT) °

AEBETZREEBEZRREERI2ERE
TOTEERRRFRERHEFHEFE - KT H
HPHFEBRERNELESE(FB)
REBIERREFE (BRI TERLSESE
tER RN - AR E TR EERRR - WA
KONBEAINRIBARERNEE ZBAARRRK
AEBEZBRERAAREERIBIESE L
BIBIEAL - N B E B B S 5
I8 o

EEMRT

202096 A30H « AEBEHB AHANAEK0.7
AET(201966 A30H : #)EE078&ET)
ZIRITIE ARG T IRIT ARG A& B — R
BRARMEREREERSHEE T 255
IR Z SRITIER - REBARITHE A
& 5 FE YL 7 18 7B #5 21,000,000 7T {E 1K 1 -
I i — R B R AR B A AR AR HE IR (2019
F:UE HEKIEAR32,627,0007T
(A& /B%37,195,0007T ) fE4K R » B —
fal A B A AR BR A Bl IR R R ) ©



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

TREASURY POLICY

The Group's business operations were conducted mainly in
mainland China and Hong Kong with transactions principally
denominated in HK$, US$ and RMB. The monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated mainly in HK$, US$ and RMB. Apart
from HKS$, which is pegged to US$, any significant exchange rate
fluctuations of HK$ against RMB may have a financial impact on
the Group. As the foreign exchange risks arising from sales and
purchases can be eliminated against each other, and the fluctuations
of RMB during the year had no significant impact on the costs and
operations of the Group for the year, the Directors do not foresee
significant risk in exchange rate fluctuation. Currently, the Group
has not entered into any financial instrument for hedging purposes.
However, the Group will closely monitor its overall foreign exchange
exposures and interest rate exposures, and consider hedging
against the exposures should the need arise.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

There were no other capital commitments for the Group as at 30
June 2019 and 2020.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2019 and 2020, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The planned use of proceeds from the Listing as disclosed in
the prospectus of the Company dated 9 October 2012 (the
“Prospectus”) were based on the best estimation of future
market conditions made by the Group at the time of preparing the
Prospectus, while the proceeds were applied in accordance with
the actual development of the market. At as 30 June 2020, the
reallocated total use of proceeds from the Listing had been applied
as follows:

LHARBRERR

RNAFIHEHA2012F10 A9AMBKRER
([HRBRER]MEEN EMAERIENETE
A& DIRBEASENREBRERFE R
R ATER R ER T M HIE - MATERIE
EREMSHERERMBA - 120206
A30R  KEFHR 2 EMABHRIEFRA
BT

Actual use of
Reallocated proceeds from

total use the date of

of proceeds the Listing to

from 30 June

the Listing 2020

BHETASERE

20204

BREFAEZ 6H30H

EHERBRIR Fri8 18

FREE BRFERASE

HK$ million HK$ million

BEEET BEEERT

Expansion of film production business MR ESBUEETR 58.4 58.4
Investment in equipment for & B HBUER

post-production 7.4 7.4

Staff recruitment REST 2.8 2.8

General working capital —REEES 4.9 4.9

Total At 73.5 73.5

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the remaining balance of the
proceeds of approximately HK$2.4 million were utilised as general
working capital as intended, including staff costs and general office
expenses. All of the net proceeds raised from the Listing were
utilised in accordance with the plans of the Company as disclosed
in the Prospectus and the announcement of the Company dated 10
June 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the Group will continue to focus on the
development of film and television production business as well as
artiste and celebrity agency business in mainland China. Besides,
the Group strives to develop pan-entertainment business and
integrate upstream and downstream industry chains by proactively
exploring various realization channels from downstream industry
chains in a bid to attain our tactics goals with the combination
of our strengths and resources. Taking advantages of online
platforms to cultivate new artistes and celebrities, the Group will
also proactively explore and develop its self-owned retail brand
targeting young consumers to further diversify the revenue base
by continuously identifying business opportunities in relation
to the stay-at-home economy on four aspects including online
stream, short videos, celebrity cultivation and traffic monetization.
The Group’'s management believes that new business model will
generate sustainable synergy with the existing resources on film,
television and variety show along with the escalating growth of
consumption demands of domestic online entertainment and the
rapid development of social e-commerce markets. The Group is
committed to fulfilling young female group requirements of the
life quality enhancement and the consumption needs of designer
brand by leveraging market segments in relation to beauty and
lifestyle where there are more female participants by way of precise
marketing strategies of online content promotion, thereby creating
more development opportunities in the pan-entertainment business.

In respect of film, TV series and variety show production and
distribution, a number of projects of the Group are currently under
preproduction stage, including “The Ideal City” (32482 #), an
inspiring urban workplace TV series, “Fox Romance” (ME#RE
%), a new urban idol drama, “Redemption on the Blade” (7J$% I
BIR &), a mystery detective drama, “Young at Style” (#17%H&)),
an online variety show and “I Love You, Me too” Season 3. Among
which, the inspiring urban workplace TV series “The Ideal City”
will start shooting in the second half of 2020, in which, Sun Li (%
&) and Zhao You Ting (8 X &X) who are both well-known actors for
protagonists, Liu Jin (2I3) who is the winner of Magnolia Award and
Wu Zhaolong (RJK8) who is well-known for production will play a
main character, act as a director and is responsible for scriptwriting
respectively. With the good performance and network popularity
of the first season and the second season, the Group is also
considering to produce the third season of “l Love You, Me Too" in
order to create a self-developed multi-season variety show brand. In
addition, the Group will develop the production of a series of popular
copyrights including “Love Destiny” (EBXE), “Ruyi Dan” (I0E
%), "Romance in the City” (3@ F), “Peach blossom debt” (Bt
&), “Holding My Koi Husband” (#8{F#84282), “Locard's theory”
(B REBERR), "Flower Throne” (B¥{£E ) and “Marry Me Today"
(S RABKABKRE).

RE

REARK » NEBESEES TNF B AR
REBBUERT BANMAARLAET -
ENITERZRELEBENITBLETHESR
# HEERhREXFBETENZETEERR
B EREBERSERANERKMAR - &
KELENEEEEERBENERANA
ABYRIBF - AN SR S A8 1 2R R AN 4T 4 T A 67
EHEENBATERMNE—FHRRENRE
o WREERE  BRA - AABEAR
MEHIRIETT MEFEREZ [ LB IR -
AEEEEENRE HBEBEARLREHE
FREFABRBEAEZRASHZIEENIHRIE
REFR - TEBVESRRANTREE
BRELAFEN BRI  BERBEA
BHEANBELHEBBIMEZRELEREH
EMEERBRADITE  REFELEERE
B AR E RTINS RR ARl 4R bR B0 0K
BRER RAKBEREZREHERGAERE
PR R -

Y  EBERBNMGEHBRERETIE
AEENZEEBEMEESREET B
HMHBSBEERECGER ) - BHHB
GBRICIVERIRZSL) BRI LM
KE)  BEEE2HE CARLEEB) AR(ER
R BERIF=F - EF - AHREBHEE
BB CRAR 2 30 BN R 20204 T - F B 40
B SRR E REREGERET TR -
AEMBESEIERTIER URERR
BRKEEHBIAR - ERFE—  BE_FRIY
MRBMBERE - AEETE BHABC(ER
R BRRYBE=F  LITETEZEETED
BEGEMmE - 1IN AEEHE - RIS
ARREETRERE  BRER(EEXRE)
(EE)  CGERRA) - (HIEE) - (BEH
EHEA) OB RBER) (HIEEE) RS
RABRBRE)F -

EIRIRLEB R AT 2019/20 FE§

25



26

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

In respect of self-owned retail brand, following the initial launch
of White Peach Oolong and Grape Oolong, the brand of "Z )&
ZXEYETEA" will continue to put various tastes of the tipsy type
and the fruity type on the market in order to offer more options
for consumers. Moreover, the Group will release multiple brands
step by step according to the elaborated plan in relation to
products for the second half of 2020 including a teen trend lifestyle
brand, a high-class stylish unisex cosmetic brand and a delicate
cosmetic brand with the aim to attract fashion aficionados aged
between 20 and 40 by way of the personalized product designs
and differentiated brand positions. The Group will continuously
enhance brand recognition and business values through social
media such as Taobao, Weibo, Douyin and Little Red Book and
endorsement from artistes and celebrities. By leveraging its popular
comprehensive copyright reserves of film, television and variety
show, quality content creation teams, full industry chain resources
of cash-generating well-known celebrities and low costs of celebrity
cultivation, the Group's self-owned retail brand is expected to
become the influential figure for artistes and celebrities and
forge the collaborative relationship between its internal film and
television copyright and external brands. As a result, the Group not
only frequently provides unique and quality service experience for
customers but also further demonstrates to the public its efforts on
the pan-entertainment sector and its strategic planning for long-term
development.

Note that the Group made adjustment to its original relevant debt
after the approval of substantial shareholders during the year
under review including no specified repayment date and significant
decrease in fixed interest level. The debt adjustment indicates that
substantial shareholders are optimistic about the Group's future
development and provides strong support to the Company’s result
growth in the future.

As a diverse development enterprise focusing on film, television
and variety show content creation and production with the spirit
of business value “Enabling”, the Group will make good use of
combined resources of scriptwriting, direction and celebrity to
cultivate, explore and create popular films and television copyrights
by continuously offering quality content and nurturing talented
artistes in order to develop its self-owned full industry chain model
and construct an unique soft-power moat, thereby continuously
enhancing profitability, sharpening competitive edges in the industry
and generating favorable returns for the Group's shareholders.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSHEEEHE

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 39, was appointed
as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board on 13
December 2017. Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall corporate
and business development and strategic direction of the Group, and
provides leadership for the Board of Directors. He is an entrepreneur
in various industries, including real estate and energy etc. Mr.
Zhang has more than 9 years of experience in the energy sector.
He is a controlling shareholder and an executive director of Kinetic
Mines and Energy Limited (stock code: 1277), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) which principally engages in coal production
and coal trading. Mr. Zhang is also a controlling shareholder and an
executive director of Brainhole Technology Limited (formerly known
as Top Dynamic International Holdings Limited) (stock code: 2203), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhang
has more than 11 years of experience in the real estate sector. He
is a director of Seedland Construction Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 15 July 2008 with limited liability
which, through its subsidiaries, principally engaged in real estate
business.

Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (“Ms. Zhao"”), aged 35, joined the Company
as the President of the Company on 17 September 2018 and
was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 26
November 2018. She holds a Master of Filmography from the
Communication University of China. Ms. Zhao has over 10 years
of experience in mass communications. She is a dynamic leader
with broad exposure and has spearheaded growth initiatives in
her different roles in various companies in mass communication.
Ms. Zhao is currently the general manager of Houhai Culture, the
manager and an executive director of Tianjin Chuan Di Zhong Xing
Entertainment Limited* (REFRREREERAF]) (since March
2019), an executive director of Tianjin Chuan Di Si Li Culture Media
Limited* (RERFEIREM S X(LEEBR A F) (since June 2019), a
director of Tianjin Chuan Di Wei Lai Culture Media Limited* (K&
EIEAR K EE AR QA (since June 2019), and an executive
director of Tianjin Chuan Di Shuo Chi Advertising Limtied* (K&
EIEEEE E S AR AF]) (since August 2019), being subsidiaries of
the Group. Prior to this, she was the deputy director of Dongyang
Sansang Media Co., Ltd.* (R[5 =HEHAMD AR A EF]) until 2013.
She was also the distribution director and vice-president of Beijing
Xishiji Film and Televison Culture Development Co., Ltd.* (1t X%
AR BER AR AT in 2014 and the general manager and
vice-president of the department of filmography and television
of Nanjing Avenue Hengzhi Culture Media Co., Ltd.* (F & K&
TTEXCEH AR A7) from 2014 to 2016. She gained abundant
experience by participating in many television entertainment
shows and television series before, including “Three Kingdoms”
((=[E1)), “Long Trip to Beautiful Rivers and Mountains” ((FET
1)), “The Lost Tomb" ({(BREZEE)), “Go Fighting” (IR PKEL))
and “Give Me Five” (=g E)).

*  For identification only
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSHREEEBE

Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick (“Mr. Lee”), aged 45, was appointed
as an executive Director on 1 December 2017. Mr. Lee has over 17
years of experience in the financial services industry. He obtained
a Bachelor of Business degree from the La Trobe University,
Melbourne Victoria Australia in 1997. During the period from 1997
to 2006, he was employed by HSBC Broking Securities (Asia) Ltd
with his last position as a vice president. He was also a type 4
(advising on securities), type b (advising on futures contracts), type
6 (advising on corporate finance) and type 9 (asset management)
licensed representative of the HSBC group from 2003 to 2004, and a
type 1 (dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures contracts) and
type 3 (leveraged foreign exchange trading) licensed representative
of the HSBC group from 2003 to 2006. He then worked as the
personal assistant of Mr. Zhang, an existing executive Director and
the chairman of the Board and the controlling shareholder of the
Company, from 2006 to 2011. Since 2011, he has been employed as
a financial analyst by Kinetic (Asia) Limited which is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Kinetic Mines and Energy Limited (stock code: 1277), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, of which
Mr. Zhang is an executive director and a controlling shareholder.
Since 2016, he has also been a director of Seedland Construction
Holdings Limited, a company indirectly wholly owned by Mr. Zhang.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Bo (“Mr. Wang”), aged 44, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 13 December 2017. Mr.
Wang has over 22 years of experience in financing and insurance
industry. He received from the Sun Yat-Sen University in China
his Bachelor of International Accounting degree minoring in
international finance in June 1998. He was the general manager
of Guangdong Baolihua New Energy Stock Co., Ltd. (stock code:
000690), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from
August 2015 to March 2018. From July 1998 to June 2015, he was
employed by Guangdong Finance Investment (Holding) Corporation
Limited with his last position as the deputy general manager in the
financial planning department. During the course of employment
with Guangdong Finance Investment (Holding) Corporation Limited,
he also served as the deputy general manager of Guangdong
Finance Trust Company Limited, the director of Zhong Cheng
Vehicle Insurance Company Limited and Zhu Jiang Life Insurance
Company Limited, and the supervisor in Guangdong Guanhao
High-tech Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600433), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSHREEEBE

Mr. Xiang Feng (“Mr. Xiang”), aged 43, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 13 December 2017. Mr.
Xiang has over 15 years of experience in the movie industry. He
received his Bachelor of Economics degree from the University of
International Business and Economics in China in July 1998 and
his Master of Arts in Media Production degree from the Griffith
University in Australia in April 2005. He has been a general manager
of Funtasy Pictures Co., Ltd. since February 2015. He has also
been a supervisor of Fengzhimeng Visual Media Culture (Beijing)
Company Limited from October 2013 to March 2019. Previously
he has served as the chief operating officer of the Entgroup from
March 2009 to September 2010. Mr. Xiang was also the executive
producer of the movie “No Liar, No Cry”, the art director interpreter
of the movie “the Mummy, Tomb of the Dragon Emperor”, the
script planner of the movie “Cities in Love”, the bilingual production
coordinator of the movie “Up in the Wind”, and the line producer of
the movie “Last Flight”.

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson (“Mr. Chang”), aged 40, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 13 December 2017.
Mr. Chang has over 17 years of experience in accounting, finance
and business advisory work. He received his Bachelor of Commerce
degree from the University of British Columbia in May 2002. He is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since September 2005 and the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since January 2005. Mr. Chang has been an
independent non-executive director of DL Holdings Group Limited
(previously known as Season Pacific Holdings Ltd) (stock code:
1709), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
since May 2018. From September 2019 to May 2020, Mr. Chang
was the independent non-executive director of Centenary United
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1959), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange since 18 October 2019. He had been
the chief financial officer, company secretary and an authorised
representative under the Listing Rules and under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws in Hong Kong) of
China Tangshang Holdings Limited (previously known as Culture
Landmark Investment Limited) (stock code: 674), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from April 2017 to August
2019. He was also a non-executive director of Sino Vision Worldwide
Holdings Limited (previously known as DX.com Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 8086), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange, from May 2017 to July 2018. From July 2015 to April
2017, Mr. Chang served as the executive director, chief financial
officer, joint company secretary and authorised representative of ZH
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 185), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EE NS REREHRE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Zhang Tingting (“Ms. Zhang”), aged 42, joined Houhai Culture
on 1July 2018. Ms. Zhang is currently the deputy general manager
of Houhai Culture and the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Si Li
Culture Media Limited* (KEEEMN I LEEFRAE), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group. She obtained a Bachelor’s degree in
journalism from Communication University of China and did further
study at Peking University of China and the University of Cambridge
of the United Kingdom. Ms. Zhang has over 20 years of experience
in the media and film and television industry, during which she
was responsible for the production and direction as well as the
arrangement and operation of channels of Anhui TV, established the
branding department and was in charge of the broadcasting channel
operation and the national promotion of various projects, such as
Mao Ren Chao Ji Mei Li Host Show (" AR I EHHF") (the
promotion of artists like Liu Yan, Xie Nan and Shi Yang), Domestic TV
Series Ceremony and the New Four Great Classical Novels.

Mr. Ma Jin (“Mr. Ma"”), aged 37, joined Houhai Culture on 1
December 2017. Mr. Ma is currently the deputy general manager
of Houhai Culture, an executive Director of Tianjin Miu Si Culture
Media Limited* (X 22 ff XL F HK F R 2 &), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group and the general manager of Chuan Di Living
Technology (Tianjin) Limited* (iR EERHFR(KE) BR A F]). He
graduated from Zhejiang University of Technology with a Bachelor
degree in Law and obtained a professional certificate in production
and direction from the academy of visual arts of the Shanghai
Fudan University. Mr. Ma has over 8 years of experience in variety
shows and the film and television industry. From 2012 to 2015, he
has been the assistant of general manager of Blue Star Company
under the Zhejiang Radio and TV Group as well as being responsible
for and participating in the production, planning and promotion of
variety show “Running Man” ({FFHIE25)) as well as movies like
“Running Man"” %)), “Monster Hunt” (#lEK5E)). From 2015 to
November 2016, he was the general manager of TV entertainment
show department of the Beijing Jingxi Culture & Tourism Co.,
Ltd (stock code: 000802.SZ) who was responsible for the content
production and artist arrangement of Dragon TV's variety shows “Go
Fighting” (({RPR kL)) and “Girls Fighting” ((IRZE A Z0)). He was
the executive filmmaker of Zhejiang TV's “Give Me Five” & 4F
[E)) Season | and Il as well as the executive filmmaker of iQIYI love
programme “| Love You, Me Too” ({ZE{R » HtbLE)).

*  For identification only
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EE NS REREHE

Mr. Wang Jun, aged 39, joined Houhai Culture on 1 April 2017.
Mr. Wang Jun is currently the deputy general manager of Houhai
Culture, the vice-president of Guangzhou Daide Management
Consultancy Company Limited (“Guangzhou Daide”), a subsidiary
of the Group, the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Zhong Xing
Entertainment Limited* (RFEFIERERLER A7), the general
manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Wei Lai Culture Media Limited* (K;2{&
AR EE AR AT, the general manager of Chuan Di Family
(Shanghai) Technology Limited* (&R ( /&) BHEBRAF]) and
the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Ai Yu Culture Limited* (K
EEREERIREBERAR]). He graduated from the Business School
of the University of Shanghai for Science and Technology with a
bachelor’'s degree in management. Mr. Wang Jun has 16 years
of experience in the film and television industry and was the vice
president of Cathay Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. from 2014 to 2016,
of which he was responsible for the production and marketing of
TV dramas, namely “Gods of Honour"” ({Zf##)) and “The Condor
Heroes" ({8 {%{2)). From 2013 to 2014, he was the marketing
director of B A& R K 15 B BR A 7] and was responsible for the
production and marketing of the TV drama namely “Bu Bu Jing
Qing” ({(F##15)) as well as the promotion of artists like Hu Ge,
Liu Shishi and Gulinazha. From 2004 to 2012, he was the promotion
director of It RE(FEFAREM AR F who was responsible for TV
dramas, namely “the Dream of the Red Chamber” ((AL#2E)), “Ma
La Po Xi" (JiERZ18)) and movies like “Gongfu Xia"” (X)) and
“Door” ({F9)) as well as the promotion of artists ranging from Chen
Kun, Yang Mi, Yang Yang and Li Qin.

*  For identification only
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Mr. He Xian (“Mr. He"), aged 34, joined Houhai Culture on 26
October 2016. Mr. He is currently the producer of Houhai Culture
and the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Kua Ke Culture
Media Limited* (RKZEFIES = X(LEEBR 2 F]), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group. He graduated from the Communication
University of China with a Master's degree in filming. Mr. He has
9 years of experience in the film and television industry, of which
he was in charge of film and television program planning and
distribution in Dongyang Sansang Media Co., Ltd.* (55 =i X{tf&
## /2 F]) and was responsible for the post-production and overseas
distribution of the movie version of “New Romance of the Three
Kingdoms"” ({¥1=E1)) from 2011 to 2014. He was the producer
of Nanjing Avenue Hengzhi Culture Media Co., Ltd.* (F8 R AETT
HAEEAR A R]) from 2014 to 2016, during which he was the
executive producer of “Singing All Along” ({(FET L2 KH;KIT)),
the executive producer of TV drama “Naughty Grandfather and
Grandson"” ({JA & & & )), the executive producer of web drama
“The Lost Tomb" ((ABEZE:Z)), the joint producer of movie “Bad
Guys Always Die” ({(ZEZE B )) and the executive producer of
“Go Fighting — Royal Treasure” ((iRR BB 2 EXEH )). He is
currently responsible for web dramas namely “Hikaru no Go" ({4
ZR)), “Persuader” ({5277 2 #REN)) and “Love Destiny” (BH
RED).

Mr. Li Xiaoming (“Mr. Li”), aged 64, joined the Group on 15
June 2019 and is currently the director of literature of the Group.
He graduated from Beijing Normal University with a Bachelor’s
degree in Chinese language in 1982. Mr. Li is a Chinese renowned
scriptwriter, from 1982 to 2010, he worked for Beijing TV Art Center
as the deputy director, and served as the script producer in Xinli
Media and Limon Pictures. His classic works, including his early
works such as “Yearnings” ({3BE£)), “Beijinger in New York” ({dt
RATEARA)), “Satisfied” ((GBIEFE)) and “Love Story in Shanghai”
(EFEEFEXIER)), and modern dramas on which he served as the
producer in recent years such as “May-December Love"” ({ A K))
and “The First Half Of My Life” ((REVRTEA)).

Ms. Lau Yee Wa (“Ms. Lau”) was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company and the authorized representative under
Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules on 4 April 2018. Ms. Lau has over 20
years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and provides
professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as
well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms. Lau is
a Chartered Secretary and an Associate of both The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom. She holds
a Bachelor’'s degree in Business Administrative Management from
University of South Australia. Ms. Lau is a senior manager of the
corporate services division of Tricor Services Limited.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30
June 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in Note 50 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business for the year ended 30 June
2020, a discussion on the Group's future business development and
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group
may be facing are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 6
to 7 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 8 to
26 of this annual report. The capital risk management and financial
risk management objectives and policies of the Group are set out
in Notes 44 and 45(b) to the consolidated financial statements
respectively. An analysis of the Group's performance during the year
under review using financial key performance indicators is set out
in the Financial Summary on pages 291 to 292 of this annual report.
This discussion forms part of this report.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group respects the environment and is committed to the
sustainable development of the environment and the society. For
details of the Group's environmental policies and performance
during the year under review, please refer to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report on pages 76 to 106 of this annual
report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws,
rules and regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to
such laws, rules and regulations through various measures such as
internal controls, approval procedures, staff trainings and overseeing
the business operations at different levels of the Group. The Board
also monitors the Group's policies and practices on compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations on a regular basis.
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So far as the Directors and senior management are aware of, for
the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group has obtained the requisite
approvals, permits, consents, licences and registrations for its
business and operations.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group during
the year ended 30 June 2020.

Key relationships with employees, customers
and suppliers

The Group believes that its success depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers and
suppliers.

The Group recognises that employees are the valuable assets of the
Group. The Group has complied with the applicable employment
laws and regulations and periodically review the remuneration
package of the Group’s employees with reference to market
conditions and conform to the performance, qualifications and
experience of employees.

The key customers of the Group include the co-producers,
distributors and cinemagoers. The Group is committed to providing
good quality service to its customers and enhance the loyalty of the
customers by increasing the interaction with customers through
social media platforms particularly in film exhibition business, which
provide good development to the Group’s overall performance in the
long run.

The Group has maintained solid and good relationships with its

suppliers which ensures quality supply so as to provide high quality
films and services to customers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 30 June 2020 is set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 115 to 116 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 30 June 2020 (30 June 2019: Nil).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information of the Group are set out in Note
6 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five financial years as extracted from the
consolidated financial statements in the annual reports 2015/16,
2016/17, 2017/18, 2018/19 and this annual report, respectively are
set out on pages 291 to 292 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings during the year ended 30 June
2020 are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group (30 June 2019: HK$65,220,000).

CAPITALISATION OF INTEREST

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 30
June 2020 (30 June 2019: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year ended 30 June 2020 are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of other equity-linked agreements are included in the section
headed "“Share Option Scheme” in this report.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 30 June 2020 are set out in Note 49 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 119 of this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2020, the Company’'s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$Nil (30 June 2019:
HK$34,036,000).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the
year ended 30 June 2020.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 30 June 2020, income received/
receivable from the top five customers in aggregate accounted
for approximately 51.6% of the Group's revenue (30 June 2019:
48.8%). During the same period, income received/receivable from
the single largest customer accounted for approximately 27.8% of
the Group's revenue (30 June 2019: 11.7%).

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the fees paid/payable to the
top five suppliers in aggregate constituted approximately 33.0%
(30 June 2019: 18.8%) of the Group's total fees paid/payable to the
suppliers. During the same period, fees paid/payable to the largest
supplier constituted approximately 12.3% (30 June 2019: 3.4%) of
the Group's total fees paid/payable to the suppliers.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates or any
shareholder of the Company (who to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the share capital of the Company) had any
interest in any of the top five customers and suppliers.
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EMOLUMENTS POLICY AND PENSION
SCHEMES

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) after considering factors such as the Company's
operating results, individual performance, salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group.

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with
reference to market terms and the performance, qualifications and
experience of the individual employee.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
as an incentive to Directors and eligible employees who contribute
to the success of the Group's operations. Details of the Scheme
are set out in the following section headed “Share Option Scheme”
in this annual report. The Group has also adopted other employee
benefit schemes which include a provident fund scheme for
its employees in Hong Kong, as required under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, and has participated in
employee pension schemes organised and governed by the relevant
local governments for its employees in the PRC.

Details of the emolument of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates the Scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible persons who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. The Scheme was approved by
the then sole shareholder of the Company on 5 October 2012. There
were no outstanding share options under the Scheme as at 30 June
2019 and 2020. No share options have been granted, exercised or
cancelled/lapsed under the Scheme during the years ended 30 June
2019 and 2020. Details of the Scheme are set out in Note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year under review, other than the share option scheme
as set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of this
annual report, the Company did not enter into any other equity-linked
agreement, nor did any other equity-linked agreement exist during
the year under review.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 30 June 2020 and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (Chairman)
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Bo
Mr. Xiang Feng
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from
office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election. Every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric Jackson will retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group are disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 27 to 32 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson, Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr. Lee
Hin Kwong, Patrick, being the executive Directors during the year
under review, had each entered into with the Company a service
contract for an initial fixed term of one year, three years and three
years commencing from 13 December 2017, 26 November 2018
and 1 December 2017 respectively, renewable automatically until (i)
terminated by not less than respectively one month's, two months’
and one month's notice in writing served by either party on the other
expiring at the end of the initial term or any time thereafter or (ii) not
being re-elected at an annual general meeting of the Company at
which he retires and offers for re-election.

Each of Mr. Wang Bo, Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric Jackson,
being all the independent non-executive Directors during the year
under review, had respectively renewed a letter of appointment with
the Company in 2018. Each letter of appointment is for a term of one
year from the date of the letter of appointment.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to enter into a service contract/letter of appointment with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than contracts expiring or
determinable by the Group within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Details of Directors’ interest in transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business are set
out in the section headed “Related Party Transactions/Connected
Transactions/Continuing Connected Transactions” in this annual
report and Note 48 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other than as disclosed above, there was no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company
or its subsidiaries, or its holding companies or any of its fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the
end of the year ended 30 June 2020.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in Note 48 to the consolidated financial
statements of which certain Directors engaged in film-related
businesses, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders of
the Company or their respective associates as defined in the Listing
Rules has any interest in any business which competes or may
compete with the business of the Group during the year ended 30
June 2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the businesses of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 30 June 2020.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Saved as disclosed above, there is no contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 30 June
2020.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2020, the interests of Directors and chief executive of
the Company in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) and required to be entered in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were
required, pursuant to Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Position in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

EERTHRAZNRARATAREMN
BEENKRD  HEROKES
MERR AR

R2020F6 A30R ' EE R AR AITTHARE
RA QRIS E AR AE (& RESH L
BT (BHRAEGO) IEXVED) B H
LR MmO P A ERBEFESFRBEGLE
XVEBEET7 K87 BB #R TE &N & A 1A B) Je Bt 22 Fr Y
Em (BREBEESRBPEKIEEIEUES
WEFIRBEAENER) - RAZHBRAR
AIREES RSN EI2EMTEER
eyt - SZERE EMARRIMETBEE
FRTEFZHNATENGRNR BRI
KRR T ¢

RARBIR RARBE IR KR {2

Number of
Shares or Approximate
Company/name of underlying percentage of
Name of Director associated company  Nature of interest Shares Position the interest
IR AE
BEEpsE ADR/HEHARERE EEME ROBE A BARREIL
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson Company Interest in a controlled  1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
RELE ViN/NE] corporation (Note) tF&
REEEE RS (Pit&E)
Company Beneficial owner 87,984,000 Long 3.39%
PN EnEAA HE
1,924,375,914 74.14%
Note: B 5T -

These shares are registered in the name of Nice Rich Group Limited (“Nice
Rich”), the entire issued share capital of which is legally and beneficially
owned as to 100% by Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhang
Liang, Johnson is deemed to be interested in all the shares registered in the
name of Nice Rich.

25 WD & 22K Nice Rich Group Limited([ Nice
Rich])& T MRELLERERE A Nice
Richz 2B #ITRA - RIEFH RBEKG - &
BEAEWIR BE LM Nice Rich® T2 2 5 H
HEAER -

{BIRIRLE B IR A 7] 2019/20 F R

41



42

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EE i

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2020, the interests of the persons, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of Directors or chief
executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company were
as follows:

FERRREADTARS REERK
DR AR

7K2020F6A30H AT AT ( EXFI#HER
ESRARAITHRARENERRINKRAQF]
IR KR O R EBAREEF LAE K
BIZEXVESE 2 X35 EPIRE AE A A | MR
FresgEes » RSN ARRIREZSEREE
1&BIE336IMTFEERMAER  UE
AR RAE MR

Number of
Shares or Approximate
underlying percentage of
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares Position interest
% 43 =% 46 B
BRRE®HE ERtE BROEBE B BAEZE DL
Nice Richm&@ Beneficial owner 1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
Nice Richm&®@ EnEAA HE
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914M&@ | ong 70.75%
REXE R EE# S HE
Beneficial owner 87,984,000 Long 3.39%
EnEAA HE
China Orient Asset Management Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
Co., Ltd (“China Orient") NI EE R He
HERTEEEERNDERAF
(T+EERs )
Dong Yin Development (Holdings) Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
Limited (“Dong Yin")? REEEEER 45)
RPERER)ERAR([RR])?
Wise Leader Assets Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
("Wise Leader”)? REPEAERER ge
Wise Leader Assets Ltd.
(TWise Leader )@
China Orient Asset Management Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%
(International) Holding Limited WA SiEE Bz [45°)
(“China QOrient Int'l")@
HERGEEEE (BB )k
BRAR(H BB
Charming Treasure Investments  Person having a security interest 1,836,391,914 Long 70.75%

Ltd. (“Charming Treasure”)?
Charming Treasure Investments
Ltd.([Charming Treasure ])®?

in shares

REDEAE R AL

A
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EEEHE
Notes:

1. Nice Rich is a British Virgin Islands company wholly owned by Mr.
Zhang Liang, Johnson. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhang is deemed to be
interested in all the shares registered in the name of Nice Rich.

2. 1,836,391,914 shares were charged by Nice Rich as chargor and
Charming Treasure as chargee as security interest on 30 May 2018.
Charming Treasure is wholly owned by China Orient Int’l. China Orient
Int’l is owned as to 50% by Dong Yin and 50% by Wise Leader. Both
Wise Leader and Dong Yin are wholly owned by China Orient. By
virtue of the SFO, each of the China Orient, Dong Yin, Wise Leader,
China Orient Int'l is deemed to be interested in all the shares held by
Charming Treasure as security interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2020, the Company had not
been notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed
to the Company, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme” and "Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations” in this annual report, at
no time during the year ended 30 June 2020 was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of the
Company or their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the
SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

1. Nice RichBHERELAEEEBHRAZREBEL
HENAE - RIEESRBEEN - RIEEW
BANBE R Nice Rich® T 2 FrE XD T #
B o

2. Nice Rich(fER¥E A ) 720185 H30H
[ Charming Treasure ({E & &3 50 A ) I
HY 1,836,391,914 Rk tE A K W= -
Charming Treasure B BI5R 5 BB 2 & 7
B o REE BB HBEREWise Leader?
BB B50% K% 50% M%7 ° Wise Leader
RRAPERSZERES - BEES KD
EiED - PEEF - BEE - Wise Leader »
hER BB B’ MR AP Charming
Treasure T 2 5 AR P A (E A MR =

P £
B E R EE SN 0 720206 A30H © &

ARBTABETA+ (EFRARANVTRE
S9N RAD TR AR RIRR A R B A AR
B RS O EXVEE2R3D BEE A
AR AHBOEHIAR - RARERALD
AR BB S = 1601 B336 AT BB
etk A -

BARMS NE AR

BRAER [ ERETE IR [EERITHAR
RAR B R EAREEE AR - BN
BEFENEZRAR IMEFTHEEI - #HE
2020F6 H30B LEFEA » AR FAISHEM
WEBARSEEMRERMMBEARMER LT
AL BEESHIARRITHRRHIESE
ZEMNEEHEBA(ERR EMRA)EER
BARASEEMAREE (TR RES RS
HIEP) KBS - kB AR R A ERE
A ABBE R D Sk EH MIEF) o

EIRIRLEB R AT 2019/20 FE§
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that the Directors
and officers shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses with they shall or may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
against the Directors and senior management of the Group that may
be incurred in the course of performing their duties.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard
of corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 56 to 75 of this annual
report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS/CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the year
ended 30 June 2020 are set out in Note 48 to the consolidated
financial statements. All of these related party transactions are
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions fully
exempted under Rule 14A.76(1) of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Guangzhou Daide Management Consultancy Company Limited
("Guangzhou Daide"), through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Houhai
Culture as operating company and its subsidiary (the “Khorgas
Group”), is principally engaged in TV entertainment show and TV
program production and operation (including introduction business).
Guangzhou Daide is a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC and is owned as to 99% by Mr. TANG Jimin (“Mr.
Tang”) (FB#80) and 1% by Ms. WANG Qinyang (“Ms. Wang”) (E&
[%), being the equity owners of Guangzhou Daide nominated by the
Company (the "PRC Equity Owners”).
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Financial contribution of the Khorgas Group to
the Group

The aggregate revenues of the Khorgas Group that were attributable
to the Group through the VIE Operating Agreements amounted to
approximately HK$240,000,000 for the year ended 30 June 2020. As
at 30 June 2020, the net assets attributable to the Khorgas Group
were approximately HK$159,000,000.

On 27 May 2018, Guangzhou Huohua Investment Company
Limited (“Guangzhou Huohua”), Guangzhou Daide and the PRC
Equity Owners entered into the VIE acquisition agreement (the
“VIE Acquisition Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties shall
upon completion enter into the VIE operating agreements. VIE
operating agreements comprised the exclusive operation service
agreement, the exclusive option agreements, the entrustment
agreements and powers of attorney, the equity pledge agreements
and the loan agreement (collectively are referred to as the "VIE
Operating Agreements”). Under the VIE Operating Agreements,
Guangzhou Huohua will have effective control over the finance and
operation of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture and will enjoy
the entire economic interests and benefits generated by Guangzhou
Daide and the Khorgas Group from completion (the “Contractual
Arrangements”), for a cash consideration of RMB450,000,000
(subject to any downward adjustment as contemplated by the profit
guarantee agreement).

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements

Houhai Culture is a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC and is principally engaged in TV entertainment show
and TV program production and operation (including introduction
business). Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding
Foreign Investment (2017 revised version) ({/NEREEEIEER
$%(201741&%]))) (the "Catalogue”) promulgated by the Ministry
of Commerce, the principal business of Houhai Culture, falls
within the prohibited industry for foreign investment. In light of the
abovementioned foreign ownership restriction, in order to comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations and obtain the entire
economic benefits attributable to the Khorgas Group, Guangzhou
Huohua (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Guangzhou
Daide and the PRC Equity Owners entered into the VIE Acquisition
Agreement, pursuant to which the parties agreed to enter into
the VIE Operating Agreements upon completion. Under the VIE
Operating Agreements, Guangzhou Huohua will have effective
control over the finance and operation of Guangzhou Daide and the
Khorgas Group and will enjoy the entire economic interests and
benefits generated by Guangzhou Daide and the Khorgas Group
from completion. No other approval is required to be obtained and
no other additional eligibility standards is required to be fulfilled by
the Khorgas Group under the arrangements as contemplated under
the VIE Operating Agreements.

ERRITEES AR 2B ER

HE2020F6 A30R LFE » BIBVIELE
g AEBERGERRITEBREAE
#4975 75 240,000,000 7T ° 202046 A 30
H ERRNSEBGEEEFAENABE
159,000,0007T °

M2018F 58270 - BEMATEIREBFR AR
(TEMAIED - BENEERPBEREES A
SIS VIEWE R # (TVIEWE 1) - Bt
ST BN TR I VIEZ E R o VIE
EEMREEBREEREHE  BR®E
W ZthEkREE  RESHBZERE
EXmz(SEIVIELER:E ) - BIEVIE
BiERE - BEINATEE R BT BN EE R
ES X b B Rk &iE  WisEH EMNE
MEBRRIER G TKMEEF M D IPAEE
mhkAMm(EHLZHE]  BeREAARE
450,000,0007C (AJ R = TR B ek T 38) o

BRZHZRE

EBXETIREPEERRIZBERAFR
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Requirements related to Contractual
Arrangements (other than relevant foreign
ownership restrictions)

Investment activities in the PRC by foreign investors are primarily
regulated by the Catalogue, which was promulgated and is amended
from time to time jointly by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC
(the “"MOFCOM") and the National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC. The Catalogue divides industries into four
categories in terms of foreign investment, including “encourage”,
“restricted” and “prohibited”, and all industries not listed under any
of these categories are deemed to be “permitted”. Pursuant to the
Catalogue, the business that the Khorgas Group currently operates
falls into the category of “prohibited”. Therefore, as Guangzhou
Huohua is a foreign-owned company, it is not allowed to hold any
equity interests of Houhai Culture under the PRC laws.

The PRC legal advisers, after taking all reasonable and possible
actions and steps to reach its legal conclusions, are of the following
legal opinion:

- the VIE Operating Agreements are narrowly tailored to achieve
the business purposes of the Company and minimise the
potential for conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations;

- each of Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the
members of the Khorgas Group are duly established and validly
existing under the PRC laws, and has obtained or completed
all requisite approvals, permits, registrations or filings that are
material for carrying out its business operations as required by
the applicable PRC laws, regulations and rules;

- each of the VIE Operating Agreements, taken individually and
collectively, constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations
of the parties thereto and will be enforceable under
applicable PRC laws and regulations except that (a) the China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
has no power to grant injunctive relief, nor will it be able to
order the winding up of Guangzhou Daide or Houhai Culture
pursuant to the current PRC laws; and (b) interim remedies
or enforcement order granted by overseas courts such as
the courts of Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands may not be
recognised or enforceable in the PRC;

- the VIE Operating Agreements do not, individually or
collectively, violate the mandatory provisions of the PRC
Contract Law, the General Principles of the PRC Civil Law and
other applicable PRC laws and regulations and are not deemed
as “concealing illegal intentions with a lawful form” resulting in
the invalidity of the VIE Operating Agreements;
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- none of the VIE Operating Agreements violates any provisions
of the existing articles of association of each of Guangzhou
Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and members of the Khorgas
Group; and

- the execution, effectiveness and enforceability of the VIE
Operating Agreements do not require any approvals from
any PRC governmental authority, except that (1) each of the
Equity Pledge Agreements (as defined below) is subject to
registration requirements with the relevant administration
for industry and commerce; (2) the exercising of the
exclusive options by Guangzhou Huohua according to the
Exclusive Option Agreements (as defined below) shall be
subject to the then effective PRC laws and regulations and
relevant approving procedures (if applicable); and (3) if the
enforcement of the VIE Operating Agreements is subject to
the enforcement of the ruling by the arbitrator and/or overseas
courts outside PRC, the claimant shall enforce the ruling via
PRC courts with jurisdiction.

Summary of the major terms of the VIE
Operating Agreements

The following sets out the principal terms of the VIE Operating
Agreements, which were in place since 28 August 2018:

1. The exclusive operation service agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide, Houhai
Culture and the PRC Equity Owners pursuant to which
Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture agreed to engage
Guangzhou Huohua as its exclusive consultant and service
provider. Guangzhou Huohua has the exclusive right to provide
Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture with consulting services
including but not limited to: (1) provision of advice on the
operations of the movie and drama production business; (2)
management and consultation related to the movie and drama
production business, and training of the staff; (3) provision of
advice on human resources; (4) assistance on market research;
(5) selection and introductions of clients; (6) formulation of
operation and sales strategies; (7) quality control of the movie
and drama production business; and (8) provision of advice on
financing.

Guangzhou Daide shall pay to Guangzhou Huohua a service
fee which is equal to 100% of its audited annual distributable
profits (after deduction of any loss of the previous year and
statutory provident fund (if applicable)) before 30 June of every
year. The services fee was determined by the parties to ensure
that Guangzhou Huohua will enjoy the economic benefits of
the VIE Operating Agreements.
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The first exclusive option agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the PRC
Equity Owners (the “Exclusive Option Agreement 1"”), and
the second exclusive option agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture (the "Exclusive Option Agreement 2" and together
with the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, the “Exclusive Option
Agreements”).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, each of the
PRC Equity Owners irrevocably and unconditionally granted
an exclusive option to Guangzhou Huhoua which entitles
Guangzhou Huohua to elect to purchase at any time, when
permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or any part of
the equity interest in the Guangzhou Daide by itself or through
its designated person(s); and Guangzhou Daide irrevocably
and unconditionally granted an exclusive option to Guangzhou
Huohua which entitles Guangzhou Huohua to elect to purchase
at any time, when permitted by the then applicable PRC laws,
all or any part of the assets of Guangzhou Daide by itself or
through its designated person(s).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement 2, Guangzhou
Daide irrevocably and unconditionally granted an exclusive
option to Guangzhou Huohua which entitles Guangzhou Huohua
to elect to purchase at any time, when permitted by the then
applicable PRC laws, all or part of the equity interest in Houhai
Culture by itself or through its designated person(s); and Houhai
Culture irrevocably and unconditionally granted an exclusive
option to Guangzhou Huohua which entitles Guangzhou Huohua
to elect to purchase at any time, when permitted by the then
applicable PRC laws, all or part of the assets of Houhai Culture
by itself or through its designated person(s).

The transfer price of the relevant equity interests and assets
shall be the minimum purchase price permitted under PRC
law, and each of the PRC Equity Owners, Guangzhou Daide
and the Houhai Culture will undertake that she/he/it will return
in full the consideration received in relation to such transfer
of equity interests or assets to Guangzhou Huohua or its
designated person(s). The exercise price was determined
by the parties to ensure that WOFE will enjoy the economic
benefits of the VIE Operating Agreements.
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The first entrustment agreement and powers of attorney was
entered into between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide
and the PRC Equity Owners (the "Entrustment Agreement
and Powers of Attorney 1”), and the second entrustment
agreement and powers of attorney was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture (the
“Entrustment Agreement and Powers of Attorney 2").

Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 1, each of the PRC Equity Owners irrevocably
appointed Guangzhou Huohua or its designated person(s)
(other than the PRC Equity Owners) as its attorney-in-fact to
act for all matters pertaining to the Guangzhou Daide and to
exercise all of their rights as shareholders of the Guangzhou
Daide, including but not limited to: (i) proposing to convene
and attend shareholders’ meetings of the Guangzhou Daide;
(ii) exercising all the voting rights as shareholders of the
Guangzhou Daide; (iii) dealing with the rights as a shareholder
to the assets and profits of the Guangzhou Daide; (iv)
transferring or disposing of the shares of the Guangzhou
Daide; (v) receiving notice of convening and proceedings of
shareholders’ meetings of the Guangzhou Daide, signing
minutes of shareholders’ meetings and submitting any
documents to relevant company registration authorities for
filing purpose; (vi) receiving the remaining assets of the
Guangzhou Daide upon its dissolution or liquidation; and (vii)
exercising all other shareholders’ rights under other applicable
PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association (as
amended from time to time) of the Guangzhou Daide.

Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 2, Guangzhou Daide irrevocably appoints Guangzhou
Huohua or its designated person(s) (other than the PRC
Equity Owners) as its attorney-in-fact to act for all matters
pertaining to Houhai Culture and to exercise all of its rights
as the shareholder of Houhai Culture, including but not
limited to: (i) proposing to convene and attend shareholders’
meetings of Houhai Culture; (ii) exercising all the voting
rights as shareholders of Houhai Culture; (iii) dealing with the
rights as a shareholder to the assets and profits of Houhai
Culture; (iv) transferring or disposing of the shares of Houhai
Culture; (v) receiving notice of convening and proceedings of
shareholders’ meetings of the Houhai Culture, signing minutes
of shareholders’ meetings and submitting any documents to
relevant company registration authorities for filing purpose;
(vi) receiving the remaining assets of Houhai Culture upon
its dissolution or liquidation; and (vii) exercising all other
shareholders’ rights under other applicable PRC laws and
regulations and the articles of association (as amended from
time to time) of Houhai Culture.
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The first equity pledge agreement was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the PRC Equity
Owners (the “"Equity Pledge Agreement 1”), and the
second equity pledge agreement was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture (the
“Equity Pledge Agreement 2", and together with the Equity
Pledge Agreement 1, the “Equity Pledge Agreements”).

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement 1, each of the PRC
Equity Owners agreed to pledge all of his/her respective
equity interests in Guangzhou Daide to Guangzhou Huohua to
secure performance of the obligations of himself/herself and
Guangzhou Daide under the VIE Operating Agreements and
pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement 2, Guangzhou Daide
agreed to pledge all of its respective equity interests in Houhai
Culture to Guangzhou Huohua to secure the performance
of obligations of itself and Houhai Culture under the VIE
Operating Agreements. Without the prior written consent
of Guangzhou Huohua, each of the PRC Equity Owners and
Guangzhou Daide has undertaken not to create or allow to
create any new pledge or encumbrance over their respective
interests in Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture.

The loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) was entered
into between Guangzhou Huohua and Guangzhou Daide.
Pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement, Guangzhou
Huohua shall provide a non-interest bearing loan facility in
the maximum principal amount of RMB450,000,000 (subject
to any downward adjustment as contemplated by the profit
guarantee agreement) to Guangzhou Daide for the purpose of
the acquisition of the entire equity interest of Houhai Culture.
The loan will be provided to Guangzhou Daide by installment
corresponding to Guangzhou Daide’s payment schedule under
the equity transfer agreement. The loan will be financed by
way of shareholder’s loan to be made available to Guangzhou
Huohua, with an annual interest rate of 7% and a term of
three years. The loan will be for a term of 20 years from the
respective drawdown date of each installment of the loan.
Guangzhou Daide shall repay the loan in full if Guangzhou
Huohua gives prior notice to Guangzhou Daide demanding for
repayment. Save as the demand notice given by Guangzhou
Huohua, Guangzhou Daide shall have no right of early
repayment.

The Spouse’s Undertaking

The spouse of Ms. Wang executed a spouse confirmation,
pursuant to which he undertook and agreed to, among
others, (i) acknowledge that all the equity interests held by
Ms. Wang in Guangzhou Daide belongs to herself and do not
form part of the matrimonial property, and any disposal of the
equity interest held by Ms. Wang pursuant to the relevant
VIE Operating Agreements does not require the consent
of him; and (ii) any execution and amendment of any of the
VIE Operating Agreements does not require the signing,
confirmation and consent of him. The other PRC VIE Owner,
Mr. Tang does not have a spouse.
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Risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements and actions taken by the
Company to mitigate the risks

The following are the risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of the risks were set out in the
circular of the Company dated 26 July 2018.

- There is no assurance that the VIE Operating Agreements
could comply with future changes in the regulatory
requirements in the PRC and the PRC government may
determine that the VIE Operating Agreements do not comply
with applicable regulations;

- The VIE Operating Agreements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership and
Guangzhou Daide or its shareholders may fail to perform its
obligations under the VIE Operating Agreements;

- The Group may lose control over Houhai Culture and may
not enjoy the full economic benefits of Houhai Culture if
Houhai Culture declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding;

- The VIE Operating Agreements may be subject to scrutiny
by the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be
imposed. A finding that the Group’s owe additional taxes could
substantially reduce the Group's net income;

- The shareholder(s) of Guangzhou Daide may have conflicts of
interest with the Group, which may materially and adversely
affect the Group's business and financial conditions;

- Certain terms of the VIE Operating Agreements may not be
enforceable under PRC law and enforcement of certain of the
Group’s rights under the VIE Operating Agreements is subject
to regulatory approval;

- A substantial amount of costs and time may be involved in
transferring the ownership of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture to the Group under the Exclusive Option Agreements;
and

- The Group does not have any insurance which covers the risks
relating to the VIE Operating Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder.
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The Group adopted the following measures to mitigate against any
potential risk.

AREBERA AT AR EERBE R

On 19 January 2015, the MOFCOM circulated Foreign
Investment Law (“FIL") of the PRC (Draft for Comment) { (%

RAMBISNR I E = (BERBKE R F))) and the Explanation
on the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law ({ B % (# ZFE A
RHAFMBEINEREEZ(ERBRKERLR)BIHEA)) (collectively
the “Draft Law”), which proposed changes to the PRC
foreign investment legal regime and the treatment of the VIE
structures, including contractual arrangement such as the VIE
Operating Agreements. The Draft Law, if finally adopted, may
have a material impact on the PRC foreign investment legal
regime. As such, as advised by the PRC legal advisers, the
Board will closely monitor the development of the Draft Law
with the help of the Company’s in house counsel in the PRC
and if there is any development, they will discuss with the
Company’s PRC legal advisers in order to assess any possible
impact arising from the change of the Draft Law or the FIL on
the VIE Operating Agreements and the business operation of
the Group. In case there would be material and adverse effect
on the Group or the business of Houhai Culture arising from
the Draft Law or the FIL, the Company will pursuant to Part
XIVA of the SFO, timely announce (i) any updates or material
changes to the Draft Law; (ii) in the event that the FIL has
been promulgated, a clear description and analysis of the law,
specific measures taken by the Company to be in compliance
with the FIL with the support of a PRC legal opinion; and (iii)
any material impact of the FIL on the Company’s operations
and financial position;

as part of the internal control measures, major issues arising
from the implementation of the VIE Operating Agreements
with Guangzhou Daide, the PRC Equity Owners and Houhai
Culture will be regularly reviewed, at least on an annual
basis, by the Board. The Board will determine, as part of its
periodic review process, whether legal advisers and/or other
professionals will be engaged to assist the Group to deal with
specific issues arising from the VIE Operating Agreements;

if the payment of the service fees from Guangzhou Daide to
Guangzhou Huohua is delayed, the chief financial officer must
meet with the PRC Equity Owners to investigate, and should
report any suspicious matters to the Board;
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matters relating to compliance and regulatory enquiries from
government authorities (if any) will be discussed at regular
meetings by the Board no less frequently than on a quarterly
basis;

the relevant business units and operation divisions of the
Group will report regularly, which will be no less frequently
than on a monthly basis, to the senior management of the
Company in relation to compliance and performance conditions
under the VIE Operating Agreements and other related
matters;

the chief financial officer of the Company shall conduct regular
site visits to Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture and conduct
personnel interviews quarterly and submit reports to the
Board;

the chief financial officer of the Company shall collect monthly
management accounts, bank statements and cash balances
and major operational data of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture for review. Upon discovery of any suspicious matters,
the chief financial officer must report to the Board;

any material contracts entered into by Guangzhou Daide and
Houhai Culture which is outside their respective ordinary
course of business must be approved by the Company;

Guangzhou Daide and the PRC Equity Owners have
undertaken that they will not carry on, own or acquire any
business which is in competition with or is likely to be in
competition with the business carried on by Houhai Culture
without the prior written consent of Guangzhou Huohua; and

the Group will terminate the VIE Operating Agreements as
soon as the law allows the business to be operated without
them.
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Material changes to and the unwinding of the
Contractual Arrangements

There has not been any material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were
adopted for the year ended 30 June 2020.

Pursuant to the relevant provisions of the VIE Operating
Agreements, Guangzhou Huohua has the right to unwind the VIE
Operating Agreements as soon as the relevant PRC laws allow
Guangzhou Huohua to register itself as the shareholder of Houhai
Culture. There has not been any unwinding of any Contractual
Arrangements, nor has there been any failure to unwind any
Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that led to the
adoption of the Contractual Arrangements are removed.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained the
prescribed of public float as required under the Listing Rules.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,the Group entered
into the following significant transaction:

The Group entered into an extension agreement with a placing
agent on 21 August 2020. Such extension agreement
was supplemental to a proposed placing of bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of up to HK$150,000,000 pursuant to a placing
agreement dated 24 February 2020, it was agreed that the
termination date of the placing period of the bonds shall be extended
from 23 August 2020 to 23 February 2021.

The outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease (the “COVID-19") in early
2020 has impacted the Group's operations. Local residents have
reduced social activities including attending cinema screenings
since the start of the COVID-19 outbreak. In addition, Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region government implementation of the
safe distancing measures including closure of all cinemas for the
period of 29 March to 7 May 2020 and 15 July to 27 August 2020.
Given the dynamic nature of these circumstances, the Directors
will continue to assess the financial effects on the Group's financial
position and operating results.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2020. For
details of the composition and the functions of the Audit Committee,
please refer to pages 64 to 65 of the Corporate Governance Report
contained in this annual report.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Zhang Liang, Johnson
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 September 2020
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The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance and following the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the
"CG Code").

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 30 June
2020, the Company has complied with and did not deviate from
the code provisions as set out in the CG Code. The Board regularly
monitors and reviews the Group’s progress in respect of corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules.

Having made specific enquires, all the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard of dealings and
the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors
adopted by the Company during the year ended 30 June 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of and
promoting the success of the Company. This is achieved by
setting up corporate and strategic objectives and policies, and the
monitoring and evaluations of operating activities and financial
performance of the Company.

All the Directors carry out their duties in good faith and in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, taking decisions
objectively and acting in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders at all times.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (Chairman)
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (President)
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Bo
Mr. Xiang Feng
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 28 to 32 of this annual
report. The composition of the Board is well balanced. Each of
the Directors has relevant expertise and extensive corporate and
strategic planning experiences that can contribute to the business of
the Group.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Company had complied
with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than one-third of the Board and at
least one of them has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. All the
independent non-executive Directors have met the guidelines for
the assessment of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Board has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 28 to 32 of this annual report, there
is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)) among members of the Board and
the senior management of the Group.
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Formal service contracts or letters of appointment have been issued
to the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors respectively setting out the key terms and conditions of
their respective appointments.

The insurance cover in respect of any legal action against the
Directors and senior officers arising out of corporate activities is
covered by the Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy of
the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of Chairman and President, who serving the function
of Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ"), are held by Mr. Zhang Liang,
Johnson and Ms. Zhao Wenzhu respectively. Under the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of Chairman and CEO
should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
CEO should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The Chairman is responsible for the overall strategic planning
and policy-making of the Group while the Company’s business
development and daily management have been monitored by the
President together with the executive Directors as well as the senior
management of the Group.

The Company has no written terms on the general division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the President. The Board
considers that the responsibilities of the Chairman and the President
are clear and distinctive and hence written terms thereof are not
necessary.
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RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION OF
FUNCTIONS

The Company has formalised and adopted written terms on the
division of functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to
the management of the Group. The Board reserves for its decision
on all major matters of the Company, including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk
management and internal control systems, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial
and operational matters. Responsibilities relating to implementing
decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily
operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) and senior management
of the Group, with a view to ensuring compliance with the Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any Director
may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable
request being made to the Board. The day-to-day management,
administration, and operations of the Company are delegated to
the executive Directors and senior management of the Group.
The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to these
officers for the implementation of the Board decisions. The Board
periodically reviews the delegated functions and work tasks. Prior to
entering into any significant transactions, the aforesaid officers have
to obtain the Board's approval.

No corporate governance committee has been established by the
Company and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties, which included:

(1) developing and reviewing the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Group;

(2)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Group;

(3)  to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

(5)  to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson, Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr. Lee Hin
Kwong, Patrick, being all the executive Directors during the year
under review, had each entered into with the Company a service
contract for an initial fixed term of one year, three years and three
years commencing from 13 December 2017, 26 November 2018
and 1 December 2017 respectively renewable automatically until (i)
terminated by not less than respectively one month's, two months’
and one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other
expiring at the end of the initial term or any time thereafter or (ii) not
being re-elected at an annual general meeting of the Company at
which he retires and offers for re-election.

Each of Mr. Wang Bo, Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric
Jackson, being all the independent non-executive directors
during the year under review, had respectively renewed the
letter of appointment with the Company on 13 December 2018.
Each letter of appointment is for a term of one year from the
date of the letter of appointment and renewable automatically
for successive terms of one year each commencing from the
next day after the expiry of the then term of appointment but
subject to the memorandum and the articles of association
of the Company. Their appointment as independent
non-executive directors of the Company shall be terminated by
either party giving not less than one month's prior notice in writing.

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company's Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from
office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election. Every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric Jackson, being independent
non-executive directors of the Company will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.
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BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND EEEEE  REASRER
PROCEDURES

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Board convened a total of HE2020F6A30HILFE  EE2A KA
four board meetings and one general meetings have been held. The A EEEEHEN—ARERE - LA
following is the Directors’ attendance records of meetings held by EEHFEESommBTesntEats .

the Board:

Number of Number of
attendances/ attendances/
number of number of
board general
meetings meetings
HERE, HERE,
Exyg BRAE
SREE 2B
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson RESLE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick TENEE 4/4 11
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu Xt 4/4 11

Independent Non-Executive Directors BV HHTESE
Mr. Wang Bo FoREE 4/4 1/
Mr. Xiang Feng [A) & %t & 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson R TR S A 4/4 11

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a BREFEOGI  FRRBIIFERITEEN
meeting with the independent non-executive directors without the RERNTELEEARARRAAMESTHENBRLT
presence of other directors of the Company during the year. BIT—REH o

Independent non-executive directors have attend general meetings BYFRTEBSENERERGUESEE

to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the view of HEREARNRRENESR -
shareholders of the Company.
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Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly.

Draft agenda of each Board meeting is sent to all Directors in
advance. Notice of at least seven days is given for a regular Board
meeting. For other Board and committees meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. Board papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information are dispatched to all Directors at
least three days before each regular Board meeting to ensure that
the Directors have sufficient time to review the related documents
and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board
meetings and committees meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to all Directors for comments within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final versions are open for Directors’
inspection. The Company’'s Articles of Association contains
provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions
in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material
interest.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors with names as listed out in the section headed “Board
Composition”
guideline materials regarding the duties and responsibilities of
being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations applicable to
the Directors, duty of disclosure of interest and business of the
Group and such induction materials will also be provided to newly
appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors. All
Directors have been updated on the latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. Continuing briefings and professional
development to Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.

in this annual report have been given relevant
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During the year ended 30 June 2020, all Directors were provided
with monthly updates on the Group’'s business, operations, and
financial matters to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Directors also participated
in other training activities such as attending seminars and reading
materials relevant to the Company’s businesses or to their duties
and responsibilities as directors of a listed company. A summary of
the individual training record of each Director received for the year
ended 30 June 2020 is as follows:

HZE2020F6 A30R ILFE - 2BEEHE
BERAEEER  HERVEREEMA
A EFERITERE - 82202046 A
30RIEFE ESNSHEEMBINES - a0
HERNERHETEAR R ERRFEHE
BETARTEENBRERBENXH - &%
EREE202066 A308 ILFEEES@ARE
Iz s EaT

Directors Type of Training
B g R
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson RELE B
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu X2+ B
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick TEHEE B
Independent non-executive Directors BUYHHTESE

Mr. Wang Bo FREE A, B
Mr. Xiang Feng R 55 & B
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson o )2 50 A& A, B

Note:
Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

All Directors had provided the Company Secretary with their training
records for the year ended 30 June 2020.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the
Nomination Committee, with written terms of reference which are
available for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange to assist them in the efficient implementation of their
functions. Specific responsibilities have been delegated to the above
committees.

MEE
HEIER

Ar Z2INEIIEE - BEESRAERE - e
g iwgkIEY

B: BIEMERAMTEILRER - AR - BT AR
2Rk

BREEZOMARWEREFESENEZ2020
F6H308 IFFERIFIIRER -

EEZ8g
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established the Audit Committee on 5 October 2012
with written terms of reference (updated on 31 December 2018)
in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of the Listing Rules and the
CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly
to communicate with external auditor; to review the remuneration,
terms of engagement, independence and objectivity of the external
auditor; to review the accounting policy, financial position and
financial reporting procedures of the Company; and to review
and assess the financial reporting, risk management and internal
control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function of the
Company and arrangements to enable employees of the Company
to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company and making
recommendations thereof.

The Audit Committee has three members comprising three
independent non-executive Directors, currently they are Mr. Chang
Eric Jackson (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Wang Bo
and Mr. Xiang Feng. During the year ended 30 June 2020, the
Audit Committee had reviewed the annual results and report of
the Company in respect of the year ended 30 June 2019 and the
interim results and report of the Company for the six months
ended 31 December 2019 and re-appointment of auditor. The
Audit Committee had been provided with the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, risk management report, internal control
report and other necessary information to consider, review and
access significant issues and matters arising from these works
conducted. Subsequent to 30 June 2020 and up to the date of this
report, all members of the Audit Committee conducted a meeting
to review the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 30 June 2020. The Audit
Committee had considered and reviewed, with management and
the external auditor of the Company, in detail of the identification
and approach with respect to the key audit matters that were most
significant in the audit procedures included in the “Independent
Auditor's Report” on pages 107 to 114 of this annual report. The
Group's final results and the annual report for the year ended 30
June 2020 had been reviewed by the Audit Committee before
submission to the Board for approval. Members of the Audit
Committee are of the opinion that the preparation of such final
results and annual report complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the Listing Rules, and that adequate disclosure have
been made. The Audit Committee also recommended to the Board
of Directors the re-election of Deloitte Touche Tomatsu as the
external auditor of the Company in the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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During the year ended 30 June 2020, two meetings of the Audit
Committee have been held and the attendance of each member of
the Audit Committee is contained in the following table:

HE2020F6A30HILFE BEXLE=S
TRAEH MBEZZESSKELESH
BRI TR ¢

Number of
attendances/
number of
meetings
HERE,
=1 E

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson SRR A
(Chairman of Audit Committee)
Mr. Wang Bo

Mr. Xiang Feng

FRELE
[F) I 55 A

(FRZEETRE) 2/2

2/2
2/2

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 5 October
2012 with written terms of reference (updated on 31 December
2018) in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are mainly to review of the structure, size,
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least annually and to
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become the Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships of the Company and to
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
In reviewing and recommending the appointment of new Directors,
the Nomination Committee would seek to identify the competencies
required to enable the Board to fulfill its responsibilities. The resume
or document of the nominee or candidate will be given to the
Nomination Committee for consideration.

REEEE
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The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in September 2013 and revised in December 2018
setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to skills, knowledge, industry and regional
experience, cultural and educational background, gender, age and
professional qualification. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board. The Nomination Committee shall discuss and where
necessary, agree on the measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board and make recommendations to the Board.
The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as applicable)
such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives that are
appropriate to the Company’s business and Board succession
planning, as applicable.

The Company has also adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) in December 2018 setting out the
procedures and criteria to be used by the Company in relation to
the selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors to
ensure that the Board maintains an appropriate mix and balance of
skills, knowledge, experience, and diversity of perspectives to the
requirements of the Company's business.

The Nomination Committee shall make reference to this Director
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy to nominate
suitably qualified candidates to the Board for it to consider and
make recommendations to shareholders for election as Directors at
general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies or
as an addition to the Board.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20

ARAFER2013FIARMEZTEXNESTT
EBRRTEFTEKREZTEREK])ALN2018
FI2AEHER  EFHAEREFES S
TUEE T B NER IR — R L TTLE
BREE  SFRETRNKE  M#E - 7%
L& XERBREES - E5 - Fik
REXER RRREBVREAEHNRER
ARESEWRNAERME - REE8EA
AWM RUERREREETE L TN H
BERBENR - YNEFSRIER - &
EFEUTREANR, TET(MER)ERR
ARBEBREZTGEIENZTILAE
K/ sr e B R (mnEm)

NABER2018A12 ARMNE ZIRBHER
((EBREBBEKR]DFIHEARBIRERE
E RAREFEIMERZEFRRER
NHBRESSHIFE RN DB EFAMERMI
£ Wil B kITbzEBEAEURT
fr o

REZBER2EHEZREBRLESS
KREZITIEBER  RAEFSRAA/AENEE
BIREAN - TRERARREHRZZ - URK
RRGPELHEFIZTEFERERNE
ERHBEFSES -

Fﬁs



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

At S/
TEBERMRE

The Nomination Committee has three members comprising three
independent non-executive Directors, currently they are Mr.
Wang Bo (Chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Lee Hin
Kwong, Patrick and Mr. Xiang Feng. During the year ended 30 June
2020, one meeting of the Nomination Committee has been held
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is
contained in the following table:

REZECTH=-BREBANK  BEEE=
EBURTEETIRAE(RBREZEE]
&) - BEEGTERMIESE - HE20205F6
AB0BLEFE  REZEERITXNTH -
IR EESEE - ABRAER - fTZBL
FERITEENBE LM - IRBEEZEEEKET
FeHSEHNTE

Number of
attendance(s)/
number of
meeting(s)
HERE
2EHA

Mr. Wang Bo TR LA
(Chairman of Nomination Committee) (lBEZReF/E) 11
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick ZENEE 171
Mr. Xiang Feng M 5 A A

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on
5 October 2012 with written terms of reference (updated on
13 December 2017) in compliance with the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board of Directors on the Company's
policy structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establish of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing a remuneration policy, review the terms
of the remuneration package of each Director and member of senior
management of the Group and making recommendations to the
Board regarding any adjustment thereof; and to review and evaluate
the performance of individual Directors. No Director shall participate
in any discussion about his or her own remuneration.
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The Remuneration Committee has three members comprising one
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Wang Bo (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee),
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick and Mr. Xiang Feng. The remuneration
of the Directors is determined with reference to their respective
experience, responsibilities with the Group and general market
conditions. During the year ended 30 June 2020, one meeting of the
Remuneration Committee has been held to review the remuneration
package of the Directors and senior management of the Group. The
attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is
contained in the following table:

FTNEEgh=RKEHEK  RRKEE—2
WITESRMEBBUIERTES TR AEG
MEEEER)  TEAEERRELE - F
EHFMNIEBRESZTENER  REAKER
REAREBETRET - #22020F6 A30
BIEFE  FHNEESRT A% UF
MEERAEENEREEBHNEES - &
WEEesKEBLEERLHINTE

Number of
attendance(s)/
number of
meeting(s)
HERE,
SREAE

Mr. Wang Bo FREE
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee) (B ZEEF/E) 1/1
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick E=ENEE 1/1
Mr. Xiang Feng A I 55 A= 1/1

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of senior management of the Group are
disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 28 to 32 of this annual report.

The remuneration paid/payable to senior management of the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2020 fell within the following bands:

EREEEHMN
AEEZEREREREHBRERSFR
£28532E [EERBREREME| 5 -

HZE2020F6 A30B It FEDN ER A E
BeREEEBZFHMN TIATEER :

Number of

individuals

A

Less than HK$1,000,000 KR 1,000,0007T 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 751,000,001 T 278 1,500,0007C 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 751,500,001 7c 278 %2,000,0007T 1
Total st 6

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group's
consolidated financial statements for each financial year and to
ensure that the consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The statement by the auditor of the Company about
their responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 107
to 114 of this annual report. The Board also ensures the timely
publication of the financial statements. The Directors, having
made appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the auditors of the Group for the
year ended 30 June 2020 is set out as follows:

ESHGREUBRRNEE

EEeNTHAREREARESYREE
&R e M IERE Iﬁﬁf%%v?éﬁﬁkiﬁi’%ﬁﬁ
BRERPIFERE EARS - AAFIK
21D L ?’:}ﬁﬂk#&i‘%%‘tﬁ MWEEBAHRNA
FHREIOTE14E [ BURBMBE ] - EF
SRR TIEMBHRE -  EFLELE
EERERER  RELENB M GR AL
CARRBFELLENRENTFEEARANE
HRIEROEATARARRE ©

BB ET &

B E20206F6 A30R LLFE
SEZBEMEHEINET

BN R

Paid/payable

B NS

HK$'000

BT T

Statutory audit services AR R B AR TS 2,600
Non-statutory audit services IEETE LR

Interim review HEAZE B 1,180

Tax compliance and consulting services GG NGB RTS 110

Total Bt 3,890
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has developed the Group's internal control, risk
assessment and management systems and has overall responsibility
for reviewing and maintaining an adequate and effective risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests
of the Shareholders and the assets of the Group. It evaluates
the effectiveness of the systems at least annually to ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions. The review covers all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management.

Risk management and internal control systems

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage and mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Group has employed a bottom-
up approach for identification, assessment, and mitigation of risk at
all business unit levels and across functional areas.

Main features of risk management and internal
control systems

The key elements of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to
keep track of and document identified risks, the assessment, and
evaluation of risks, the development and continuous updating of
responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of internal control
procedures to ensure their effectiveness.

Annually, the Group identifies and assesses the key inherent risks
that affect the achievements of its objectives. A risk matrix is
adopted to determine risk rating into three categories: low, medium
and high, after evaluation of the risk by the likelihood and the impact
of the risk event. The risk ratings reflect the level of management
attention and risk treatment effort required.
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Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, each of the risk owners of
departments is required to capture and identify the key inherent
risks that affect the achievement of its objectives. Each inherent
risk is evaluated according to the risk matrix. After taking into
consideration the risk response, such as control measures in
place to mitigate the risk, the residual risk of each inherent risk
is evaluated again. The risk register with the risk responses and
residual risks is presented to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee evaluates the effectiveness of the systems and reports
to the Board. The highest category of residual risks is subject to the
Board's oversight.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems
and to resolve material internal control defects

The management is responsible for the design, implementation, and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems. In
view of the Group’s business and scale of operations, and in order
to adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic
reviews of the Group’s internal controls, an independent consulting
firm (the “Internal Control Auditor”) has been engaged to work with
the Board, through the Audit Committee, to execute the internal
audit function. The Internal Control Auditor has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 30 June 2020 according to the
scope of review determined, agreed and approved by the Audit
Committee and in accordance with the requirements under code
provision C.2 of the CG Code.

The Internal Control Auditor reported to the Audit Committee and
the Audit Committee is satisfied that there had been no material
deficiency identified in the areas of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems being reviewed, where some minor
areas need to be improved have been identified and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Group would take further steps to improve
by taken implement of the recommendations suggested by the
Internal Control Auditor. Accordingly, the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems to be effective and have
been implemented with adequate resources during the year ended
30 June 2020.
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Procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside
information

The Company is aware of its obligations in disclosure of inside
information under the Listing Rules and Part XIVA of the SFO.
The Board has already established and implemented a policy on
the procedures, guidelines and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information. The policy stipulated
the duty and responsibility of inside information announcement,
restriction on sharing non-public information, handling of rumours,
unintentional selective disclosure, exemption and wavier to the
disclosure of inside information, and also compliance and reporting
procedures. Every senior management of the Company must take
all reasonable measures to ensure that proper safeguards exist
to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the
Group from time to time. They must promptly bring any possible
leakage or divulgence of inside information to the attention of the
Company Secretary, who will notify the Board accordingly for taking
the appropriate action promptly. For any material violation of this
policy, the Board will decide, or designate appropriate persons to
decide the course of actions for rectifying the problem and avoiding
recurrence.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year under review, Ms. Lau Yee Wa (“Ms. Lau"”) of Tricor
Services Limited, an external service provider, was the company
secretary of the Company. Her primary contact person at the
Company from 1 July 2019 to 29 November 2019 was Ms. Chan Sze
Man (“Ms. Chan"), who is the then Chief Financial Officer of the
Company. Upon Ms. Chan’s resignation as CFO of the Company,
Ms. Lau’s primary contact at the Company changed to Ms. Cao
Mengxiao, who is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. The
biographical details of Ms. Lau are set out under the section headed
“Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 28 to 32
of this annual report. Ms. Lau confirmed that she has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended
30 June 2020 in accordance with the requirements of Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 30 June 2020, there was no change in the
Company's constitutional documents.
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SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS

Communications with Shareholders

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and the Shareholders and investors. These include
answering questions through the general meetings, the publication
of annual and interim reports, notices, announcements and circulars
and the Company’s website at www.transmit-ent.com.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An annual
general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at
the place as may be determined by the Board. Any general meeting
other than an annual general meeting shall be referred to as an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM").

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the Listing
Rules and the Company’'s Articles of Association as amended
from time to time, Shareholders may convene an EGM to consider
proposals in accordance with the following provisions:

1. One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings
can deposit a written request to convene an EGM at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (the
“Hong Kong Head Office"), for the attention of the Board or
the Company Secretary.

2. The written request must state the name of the Shareholders
concerned, their respective shareholdings, the objects of the
meeting, including details of the business(es) and resolutions
proposed to be considered and approved at the meeting,
signed by the Shareholders concerned.
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The request will be verified with the Company’'s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office and upon their
confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the Shareholders. On the contrary, if the
request has been verified as not in order, the Shareholders
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, an
EGM will not be convened as requested.

4. If within 21 days of such deposit of the requisition, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

5. The notice period to be given to the Shareholders in respect of
the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal. Notice
of the EGM at which the passing of a special resolution is to be
considered, a notice of the EGM shall be arranged to be sent
to the Shareholders at least 21 clear days or 10 clear business
days (whichever is longer) before such EGM. Notice of all other
EGM shall be arranged to be sent to the Shareholders at least
14 clear days or 10 clear business days (whichever is longer)
before such EGM.

6. There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands or the Company's Articles of Association.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene an EGM following the procedures set out
above in this section.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders and other stakeholders can make any enquiry
in respect of the Company in writing either by email at
“info@transmit-ent.com” or deposited at the Hong Kong Head
Office for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary. The
appropriate management member of the Company will respond to
the legitimate enquiry of the Shareholders, the Company's potential
investors or analysts.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”) is in
place setting out the principles and guidelines that the Company
intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution
of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.
The Board shall take into account factors including but not limited
to financial results, cash flow situations, future operations, and
earnings, any restriction on payment of dividends when considering
the declaration and payment of dividends:

- financial results;

- cash flow situation;

- business conditions and strategies;

- future operations and earnings;

- capital requirements and expenditure plans;

- interests of shareholders;

- taxation consideration;

- any restrictions on the payment of dividends; and

- any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Dividend Policy shall be reviewed when necessary and can be
revised by the Board from time to time.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Transmit Entertainment Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), is pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2020 (the “Report”) to provide an
overview of the Group’s management of significant issues affecting
the operation, including environmental, social and governance
issues. This Report is prepared by the Group with the professional
assistance of APAC Compliance Consultancy and Internal Control
Services Limited.

Preparation basis and scope

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) —
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” and has
complied with the “comply or explain” provision in the Listing Rules.

This year, the Group has extended the scope of this report so that
it covers both its Hong Kong (“HK") and the People’'s Republic
of China (the "PRC") operations. This Report summarises the
performance of the Group in respect of corporate environmental and
social responsibility, covering its operations which are considered
as material by the Group — (i) film and TV series production,
distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film exhibition; (iii) others,
including post-production, advertising, marketing and publication
businesses, internet and pan entertainment businesses and other
revenue in HK and PRC. With the aim to optimise and improve
the disclosure requirements in the Report, the Group has taken
initiative to formulate policies, record relevant data, implement and
monitor measures. This Report shall be published both in Chinese
and English on the website of Stock Exchange. Should there be
any discrepancy between the Chinese and the English versions, the
English version shall prevail.

Reporting period

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the
reporting period from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020.

Contact information

The Group welcomes your feedback on this Report for our
sustainability initiatives. Please give your suggestions or share your
views with the Group via the Group's social media platforms or
email at info@transmit-ent.com.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20

R HRE

ERREAR AR ([ARE] - EREHE
REGHEA [ AKE ) RARZAK2020F R

HoHEREARE(ARE]) - REEHA
MASEERYELEZEREH(BER
B HERERFTEIZME - AFEIAN
SEETAGHRBRERAEREERRAZ
EXHH TR -

mREERE

AHETIKBEBHMAERZAAERAE ([H
R @S EWARAT LW AR A B8k
“tHE-TRR - HEREARARERES R
B WiET ETRR [ BT RARREE RS -

AEE  ARESAREEELTHRERES
BUBREDRPEARAMB(THE]) X
e ARERAAEERECRRERTER
EIENKRR  REAKERRNEB LT
EEERHER E%&%ﬁﬂiﬁ £
TR EFRITRERTA : ()EFHR
(iii) 2l - BIRRHIRUE - f% 35 B M
HARETS - B R NOZ IREE TS A R B A Uk
e RBIEERREABRENRERT - AK

EEXFFEBR  REBEEEE Bk
ERFEE - AmE NP - EXHRATIE - A
TR B PTG - B~ EXRA A E

5% - BUPAR SRR R ZE -

HE AR

AR R FIR 201947 A1 8 202046
A30HB &S MM A B RS

BRER

REBE MTHAREROAZFERRE
A EANRE c WEEMNEZREXER - B
F OETERAEENERERETSKER
Zinfo@transmit-ent.comB 48 KEE o



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B R REARE

INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in (i) film and TV series production,
distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film exhibition; (iii) others,
including post-production, advertising, marketing and publication
businesses, internet and pan entertainment businesses and other
revenue. The Group mainly produces Chinese films and TV series in
both Hong Kong and mainland China. It also operates five Hong Kong
based cinemas.

In order to response to growing trends on the expectation of the
stakeholders on the corporate responsibility performance, the
Group is committed to integrating sustainable development into
business operations. We maintain our operation in a responsible
and value-optimizing manner and value creation for stakeholders
and community by integrating environmental and social factors
into management considerations. Sustainability strategy is based
on the compliance with the legal requirements applicable to us
and opinions from stakeholders. Sustainability is essential for
the Group’s growth in order to achieve business excellence and
enhance capabilities for long-term competitiveness. The Group
has established and implemented various policies to manage and
monitor the risks related to the environment, employment, operating
practices and community. Details of the management approaches
to sustainable development of different areas are illustrated in this
Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group's business
depends on the support from its key stakeholders, who (a) have
invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability to influence
the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested in or affected
by or have the potential to be affected by the impact of the Group's
activities, products, services and relationships. It allows the Group
to understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with
each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the Group's
roles and duties, strategic plan and business initiatives. The Group
engages with its stakeholders to develop mutually beneficial
relationships and to seek their views on its business proposals and
initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the marketplace,
workplace, community and environment.
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The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained
from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest
in the Group’s business activities. The Group has identified key
stakeholders that are important to our business and established
various channels for communication. The following table provides an

overview of the Group’s key stakeholders, and various platforms and
methods of communication are used to reach, listen and respond.

Stakeholders

Expectations

EHEEAEBTERTANHE -

Engagement channels

Fl#516 BE & e SHERE
Government e Compliance with the applicable laws e Annual reports, interim reports and
BRF and regulations announcements
o ESFHERAEREKER o FI - FHRERQM
e Proper tax payment e Company website
o TFEMN o NG
Shareholders and e Low risk e Annual general meetings and other
investors o K& shareholder meetings
BRERKRESE ® Return on the investment o WEBEFASKEMBRASE
o &M e Annual reports, interim reports and
e Information disclosure and announcements
transparency o iy RHIEERAM
o EMEBRRERE e Company website

Employees

Protection of interests and fair
treatment of shareholders

RERRER R A TR

Safeguard the rights and interests of

YNGIEEN
Meetings with investors and analysts

B EERDIENEHE

Trainings, seminars and briefing

EE employees sessions

o [RIB(EERER RiER o Il BERENE

e \Working environment e Newsletters

o T{EIRIR e AELEEA

e (Career development opportunities e [ntranet and emails

s BIXETRME o MK EL

e Health and safety

o REHZE
Customers e Safe and high-quality products e Annual reports, interim reports and
'R o TEREEEM announcements

Stable relationship

Fif - PHBERAM

o TR e Company website

e |nformation transparency o NEABUL

o HMFERAE e Email and customer service hotline
e Integrity o EHREFFRBHL

e WEILH e Regular meetings

e Business ethics o THi®:ZH

o WEBE
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Stakeholders Expectations

Engagement channels

FlzsAEEE & e ZHERE

Suppliers and e Long-term partnership e Business meetings and phone calls
partners o RHEIG{ERAR o XNEamNKERE

HEBR e Honest cooperation e Regular meetings
e e HWAE s FHREH

e Fairness and openness

o RFRFM

e |nformation resources sharing
o AMERKE

e Risk reduction

o [REER

Financial institution e Compliance with the applicable laws

SEKE and regulations
o ETERARNER
e Disclosure of information
. ANBE
Media e [nformation transparency
e o BHFHE
Public and o Community involvement
communities o IR
ABRALTR e Social responsibilities
#HE o HEHME

e Reviews and assessments

o EH K

e Consulting

o

e [nformation disclosure

. EHBE

e Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

o Fi - pHITRE LM

e Company website
o AT
® |nterviews

. K

e Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

o FH - PHBERAM

Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group
understands the expectations and concerns from stakeholders.
The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed
decisions, and to better assess and manage the resulting impact.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important
to the business of the Group. All the key ESG issues and key
performance indicators (KPls) are reported in the Report according
to recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27 of
the Listing Rules) and the Global Reporting Initiative Guidelines. The
Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG aspects
through the following steps:
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Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of
relevant ESG reports of the local and international industry
peers.

The materiality of each ESG area was determined based on
the importance of each ESG area to the Group through internal
discussion of the management and the recommendation of
ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritisation — Stakeholder Engagement

The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG areas
identified above to ensure all the key aspects were covered.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and internal
discussion among the management, the Group’s management
ensured that all the key and material ESG areas, which were
important to the business development, were reported and in
compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2020, those important ESG
areas to the Group were discussed in this Report.

A.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is mainly involved in office operations and its
business activities do not have significant impact on the
environment or natural resources. In spite of this, we
believe that our enterprise has responsibility in promoting
and implementing the sustainable development of
environment. We are committed to continuously improving
our environmental sustainability by responsibly managing our
operation, reducing our carbon footprint and using resources
effectively.
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Accordingly, the Group establishes environmental principles
and policies to ensure the effective execution in various
measures. From film and TV series production to film
exhibition at the cinemas, the Group is committed to making
efforts towards sustainable business and reducing carbon
footprint while showing good stewardship in the community
that the Group serves. For instance, during film and TV
series production, a production manager is assigned for each
production in order to carefully manage, supervise and execute
sustainability practice and performance in every aspect
of the production, from reducing the use of plastic water
bottles to renting vehicles with higher fuel efficiency and the
use of rechargeable batteries. For film exhibition operation,
vegetarian options are available for cinemagoers, as well as
ensuring the cinema venue is accessible to meet the needs of
customers.

The Group always endeavours to operate in a manner that
is economically, socially and environmentally sustainable
while balancing the interests of our various stakeholders and
fostering a positive impact on the society. We also regularly
update ourselves with the latest development of the applicable
laws and regulations on environmental protection.

A1. EMISSIONS

The Group acknowledges its responsibility to the
environment and has ethical duties to reduce emissions.
Given the nature of our business, the impacts on the
environment and nature resources are not significant.
In spite of this, we are committed to minimizing our
environmental impacts by responsibly managing our
business operations, reducing our carbon footprint and
using resources effectively. In the meantime, we have
full complied with all of the relevant environmental
laws and regulations where we operated such as the
Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the People’s Republic of China (2015) in the PRC, the
Motor Vehicle Idling (Fixed Penalty) Ordinance (Cap.
611), and the Road Traffic Ordinance (Cap. 374) in Hong
Kong. Besides, no concluded case regarding emissions
was brought against us or our employees during the year
ended 30 June 2020.
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Air Pollutant Emissions

Air emission control is essential to mitigate
environmental impacts and to protect the health of
employees. As the Group is mainly involved in general
office activities, the amount of air pollutant emissions is
insignificant. Our air pollutant emissions are generated
from the mobile sources including passenger cars.
We take initiative to formulate plans in transportation
management for the reduction of air pollutant emissions
in our daily business operation. For example, encouraging
employees and clients to conduct video conference
meetings instead of transportation. The increase in air
pollutant emissions in 2020 was mainly attributable to
the increase in vehicle usage for business travel during
the year ended 30 June 2020. The details of air pollutant
emissions during the reporting period were as follows:
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Type of air pollutants Unit HK PRC 2020 Total 2019 Total
ERISREYER B & HE 2020F#F 2019F &5t
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 12.23 0.36 12.59 8.05
RA/L¥(NOx) Ny
Sulphur oxides (SOx) kg 0.25 0.28 0.53 0.32
HE(E(SOx) /NN
Particulate matter (PM) kg 0.90 0.13 1.03 0.68
FBIERT(PM) NI
Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions RERB(REREDHEKR

Greenhouse gas is considered as one of the major
contributors to the climate change. Besides, global
warming affects our daily life and poses a risk to
the Group’'s business. Hence, we are committed to
mitigating the effects of climate change and protecting
the health of employees.

Regarding GHG emissions of the Group, scope 1 direct
emissions, scope 2 and scope 3 indirect emissions
mainly result from the combustion of fuels in mobile
sources, purchased electricity and business air travel
respectively for business operations. During the year
ended 30 June 2020, the Group fully complied with
all applicable environmental laws and regulations, and
was not subject to any fine, penalty, investigation or
prosecution for non-compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations relating to emissions.
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Giving the majority of the GHG emissions of the Group
come from energy consumption, the Group tackles the
GHG emission by lowering the energy consumption
in our business operations. Policies and procedures
as mentioned in the section “Use of Resources” to
encourage energy saving have been incorporated
throughout the operations in order to reduce the carbon
footprint. The increase in GHG scope 1 emission in
2020 was mainly attributable to the increase in vehicle
usage for business travel by the Group during the year
ended 30 June 2020. On the other hand, the GHG scope
2 emission in 2020 dropped as the revenue generated
from film and TV series production and distribution, film
exhibition, post-production, advertising, marketing and
publication decreased during the year. In addition, the
increase in business travels by PRC employees during
2020 contributed to the slight increase in GHG scope 3
emission.

The details of GHG emissions during the reporting period
were as follows:
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Type of GHG emissions’ Unit HK PRC 2020 Total 2019 Total
mERBHERER By BE FE 202045 2019F 45
Scope 1? tonnes of CO2e 47 5 52 35
& [F]12 MRS LIRS 8
Scope 23 tonnes of COz2e 1,519 67 1,586 1,835*
&[22 WS LIRSS
Scope 3° tonnes of COze 16 12 28 19
#[2]35 WS biRE 2
Total GHG emissions tonnes of COze 1,582 84 1,666 1,889°
REREBESE MRS LIRS 8
GHG emission intensity ~ tonnes of CO2e/m? 0.13 0.13 0.13 0.14

M —RLREE

FHK

BREREBHFHETER

! The calculation of the GHG emission is based on the
“Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” from
GHG Protocol published by World Resources Institute and
World Business Council for Sustainable Development.

2 Scope 1: Direct emissions from sources that are owned or
controlled by the Group.

8 Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of
purchased electricity consumed by the Group.

4 The data of 2019 has been restated for comparative

purpose for adoption of the latest emission factors for
Mainland China electricity consumption.

5 Scope 3: Indirect emissions from the business travel by
employees.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes
Waste management is considered as one of the material
topics in environmental protection. The Group recognises
the importance of waste reduction. Waste management
measures have been introduced and implemented
to minimise the amount of waste generated and the
impact on the environment. With our business nature,
no hazardous waste was generated or discharged in our
office operation during the year.

Non-hazardous waste mainly consists of paper waste
which is generated from daily office operation. The
Group takes initiative to reduce waste by formulating
effective measures. Generally, we have engaged
qualified recycling companies to collect and handle the
waste in accordance to the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes in the PRC and
the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354) in Hong Kong.
The major source of our non-hazardous waste is paper
waste.

With the aim to reduce the amount of waste generated,
the Group endeavours to cultivate environmental
awareness among employees. In order to reduce the
paper consumption, we actively promote electronic
communication instead of paper use. We also encourage
our employees to consider environmental-friendly
printing such as double-sided printing and copying.
Moreover, we encourage employees to reuse single
sided non-confidential print out. We will seek other
possible measures to manage and reduce the waste
generated in operations in the future. The Group will
look into the development of waste management
system and recycling practice in business operations in
the coming future. The decrease in the amount of non-
hazardous wastes generated in 2020 was mainly due
to the decrease in revenue generated from film and TV
series production and distribution, film exhibition, post-
production, advertising, marketing and publication during
the year ended 30 June 2020.
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The details of non-hazardous waste generated and
recycled by the Group during the reporting period were
as follows:
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AEERBERNELE KO
BEBEZEWHBOT

Wastes Unit HK PRC 2020 Total 2019 Total

B By BB HRE 2020F#F 2019F &5

Non-hazardous waste tonnes 0.02 N/A® 0.02 1.21
generated

EEENEEEEY Mg NiE e

Non-hazardous waste tonnes/employee 0.001 N/A8 0.005 0.005
generated intensity

EEANEBEEENTE W S(ES NiE s

Non-hazardous waste tonnes 0.02 0.01 0.03 0.12
recycled

B ERAEEEREY i

Non-hazardous waste tonnes/employee 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001

recycled intensity

BRERMEEEENTE W SMES
6 The data for waste generated has not been recorded for

the year. We will develop better data collection approach
in the next reporting period for the waste disclosure.

A2. USE OF RESOURCES

The Group considers environmental protection as an
essential component of a sustainable and responsible
business. We have an in-depth understanding of the
importance of safeguarding sustainable development of
the environment and this to attach importance to efficient
utilization of resources by introducing various measures
in daily business operations. We understand that staff
participation is the key to achieve such goals.

We have adopted energy and water efficiency initiatives
to motivate our employees to participate in resource
conservation activities.

Energy Consumption

With the aims of resource saving and implementation
of energy saving measures, we actively promote the
concept of energy saving and emission reduction into
the entire process of our business development and
operation and implements different energy saving
measures.
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Regarding energy consumption, the use of electricity
accounts for the Group’s major energy consumption. In
view of the scarcity of energy, the Group has advocated
various energy conservation strategies to increase
energy efficiency and reduce energy consumption.
For example, all facilities for film exhibition operations
comply with the Building Energy Efficiency Ordinance
(Cap 610) implemented by the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department to ensure key building services
meet the minimum energy efficiency standards of the
Building Energy Code. Besides, the temperature of air-
conditioners is maintained at an energy-efficient level at
around 25 degrees Celsius. A standby mode is set for
computers when they are not in use for a long period of
time. Besides, all lighting and power supply in the area
are switched off while leaving. In order to increase the
environmental awareness of employees, energy saving
reminder notices are posted near the switches and
sockets to encourage our employees to reduce electricity
usage. The decrease in the total energy consumption in
2020 was mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue
generated from film and TV series production and
distribution, film exhibition, post-production, advertising,
marketing and publication during the year ended 30 June
2020. During the reporting period, the details of energy
consumption were as follows:
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Type of energy Unit HK PRC 2020 Total 2019 Total
BERER B &8 HRE 2020F#F 2019F &5t
Purchased electricity MWh 2,201 53 2,254 2,616
EBEN BB
Petrol MWh 153 21 174 116
T EEV
Steam MWh - 42 42 49
A BERER
Towngas MWh — 4 4 4
jos=) BB R
Total energy consumption MWh 2,354 120 2,474 2,785
BEEREREE B & R
Energy consumption intensity MWh/m? 0.19 0.18 0.19 0.21
REIRHAEE B BERE,

F I AR
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Water Consumption

Water is an important resource used by the Group during
operation. For water consumption in Hong Kong offices,
some water supplies are solely controlled and centrally
managed by the property management companies of the
building.

Hence, it is not feasible for the Group to provide water
consumption data as there is no separate meter for
each individual office unit on water usage record.
However, we still actively seek ways to minimise water
consumption.

Although, the Group does not consume a significant
amount of water during business operations, we
endeavour to conserve water effectively in our
operations by implementing various water-saving
measures. For example, employees are encouraged
to turn off the water taps when they are not in use.
Besides, in case of leaking faucet or pipe, we will
promptly report to relevant authority in order to reduce
unnecessary water consumption. Moreover, the amount
of water consumption is recorded regularly for the Group
to monitor the water consumption level and better
formulate water-saving measures. The slight decrease
in the amount of water consumption in 2020 was mainly
due to the decrease in revenue generated from film and
TV series production and distribution, film exhibition,
post-production, advertising, marketing and publication
during the year. During the reporting period, the details of
water consumption were as follows:
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Water consumption Unit HK PRC 2020 Total 2019 Total
KEFHFE B o HE 20205F#5 2019F &5t
Water consumption m? 1,737 1,433 3,170 3,441
KERE#E AVAYSZ
Water consumption intensity m?3/m? 0.14 2.20 0.24 0.26
KEIEREE SLFKS
R
Packaging Material BEM R
Due to our business nature, some packaging material HRERMOEREE - £EZK
made with recyclable paper was used at film exhibition MEBFRERT AT B E KRR

operation. The Group does not have manufacturing
facilities and does not consume a significant amount of
packaging materials.
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A3. THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL

RESOURCES

The Group understands that implementing environmental
protection can reduce operational risk and increase
business opportunities. Regarding the business nature,
we are not aware of any significant impact of our
business activities on the environment and natural
resources.

Despite this, we endeavour to consistently improve
our environmental performance by implementing
aforementioned waste reduction measures and
resources saving initiatives.

We will continue to seek opportunities to further
reduce emission and resources consumption with the
aim to reduce the impacts on environment and natural
resources to minimal. We will review our environmental
policy from time to time and consider implementing
further eco-friendly measures and practices in order to
enhance environmental sustainability in future.

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

B1. EMPLOYMENT

The Group believes employees are valuable assets and
the foundation for success and development of the
Group. We strive to maintain a safe and equal working
environment for its employees and promote employees’
health and well-being. Policies and regulations in the
Group’s staff handbook have been established for the
guidance and observation by the employees of the Group
and will be subject to the laws of the PRC and Hong
Kong as far as they may be applicable in conjunction
with the policies. Staff handbook provides information
and guidelines regarding employee’s standard working
hours, rest days, statutory holidays, termination of
employment, summary dismissal, exit interview, salary
payment, overtime work, various types of leaves,
medical coverage, mandatory provident fund, night shift
travel allowance and overtime work allowance.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R g RERME

A3. RIBERRKRER

AEEHARHETRBREESR
DEERRNIEMEREE -
REGEE  RALEERRXH
EBHRELRARERBEME

=/ 488
AFE -

@B e - RAPIHETT Lt B0 RRE
TENRERER - BHTENE
HIRTRI -

BB EESBE— TR DR
RERBROEE - 5EHHR
BRRARERNFERERE -
BAHIEEERARBE > L E
BETEZRREBNRER - A
REARKNBRIZAFEML -

B. £t2EM
EERSIER

B1. Ef&

AEERAREEEASENESR
BE  DTEXDRERIBA -
BB REEERZER TS
MTIERE - WiRERERERE R
B e NREBEE T FMANBEK
RBOITIsESI AN RENEE K
HREFETMRL - WHZATEE
HEHBRRAKERNTELE
BIEBIFAR - BETFMEBER
BEFRETE  KEB JEER
Hl - RIERRE - BIRRE - 8RR
E& - TEXN - i3 - BHEIK
R BERE  BREEITES
T3 2= iR B R NP B 60 B R
Ktg3l -



Equal opportunity

The Group places a high priority on achieving equality
of opportunity for all employees in relation to all
personnel matters including recruitment, training,
promotion, transfer, benefits and dismissal. The dignity
and individuality of each employee is respected, and
the privacy and confidentiality of employee records
is safeguarded. Employees’ performance is assessed
solely according to their individual ability to meet job
requirements.

Promotion and appraisal

The Group offers internal promotions to employees,
whenever possible, within the Group. Promotion to a
higher grade normally depends on the availability of
vacancy, individual performance and potential to take up
the new position.

The Group provides an open, challenging and
participative environment for all employees. We aim to
provide opportunities for the development of the skills
of employees to the fullest extent possible, consistent
with the needs of the Group. Job performance is
reviewed annually, and this serves as an opportunity
for the supervisor to evaluate employee’s performance
in an objective and open manner, to discuss concerns,
strength and suggestions for further improvement.
Employees’ remuneration and pay scale adjustment are
made reference to individual’'s performance and appraisal
results, industrial standard and market trend.
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Employee welfare

Employees can enjoy free enrolment to Cinema City's
membership along with complimentary movie tickets
and coupons. Movie premiere invitations are also given
to employees for the Group's own film productions.
The Group offers special arrangement to employees
to leave work early on important traditional days which
are not public holidays such as Mid-Autumn Festival,
Winter solstice, Christmas Eve and Chinese New Year's
Eve. The Group regularly organises internal events to
strengthen the sense of belonging within the Group
and boost the communication transparency among all
levels of employees, through Christmas party and annual
dinner, etc.

During the reporting period, the Group was in strict
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC and Hong Kong, including the Labour Law
of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57), the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485), the
Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480) and the Race
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602) in HK. During
the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with those applicable laws and
regulations.
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At the end of the reporting period, the total number of RBEEAR  AEBENEELH
employees of the Group was 308 (30 June 2019: 260). /3084 (20196 A30H : 260
Below is the employee breakdown by gender, age group, 7)o TR - FlRAR KR
geographical region. HEIDHIESPANT o
GENDER AGE GROUP
0
0
48% 5%
41-50 51 or above
Male A B E508% Sz

Sn

20%

31-40
3R E405%
52%
o o
EMPLOYEE CATEGORY GEOGRAPHICAL REGION
EIRE R 1h 32 [ 43
11%
Senior Management 51 %

SEEEAS
PRC

Contract/ 1 8 % ==
Short Term
B EH Middle Management

TEEEAS

49%
General Hong Korjg

—HK 58
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The employee annual turnover rate by gender, age group,
geographical region during the reporting period was as

follows:
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Employee health and safety is the Group's top priority.
The Group takes into consideration every precaution to
establish a healthy and safe working environment for its
employees. We strictly abide by the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong, including the Law
of the PRC on work safety, the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Disease, and the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509)
in Hong Kong. During the year ended 30 June 2020, there
was no case of non-compliance in relation to health and
safety or work-related injury within the Group.

The Group not only strictly implements relevant
laws and regulations, but also proactively formulates
internal policies and standards related to specific
business departments of the Group. For example, the
Group's film exhibition operation has obtained Places
of Public Entertainment License issued by Food and
Environmental Hygiene Department (“FEHD") to ensure
its business comply with relevant laws and regulations.
Besides, as stated in the staff handbook, health and
safety at work are the interest and responsibility of both
employees and the Group.
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2020 2019
Employment EfE 20204 20195
By gender 12 1 Bl 8l 5
- Male — B 79% 70%
— Female — 68% 80%
By age group RERAR B2
- 30 or below —30BRIA T 85% 81%
- 31-40 —31%405% 45% 38%
- 41-50 —41E508% 25% 57 %
- 51 or above —B1mRE A 47 % 100%
By geographical region &ith3E B 8l 5
- PRC — & 48% 11%
- Hong Kong — B 87% 85%
Overall ape 74% 75%
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B3.

Employees’ compensation insurance is provided to cover
any work-related injuries, illnesses and occupational
diseases. The Group is committed to complying with
all local occupational health and safety legislations that
are relevant to the Group. First-aid kits are provided at
all workplaces. Employees must take reasonable care
for the health and safety of themselves and others, as
well as participating in fire safety training or fire drills
provided by the Group or property management offices.
If any employee notices any unsafe conditions or gets
injured at work, he/she should immediately report it to
the supervisor.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, there was no work
injury case (30 June 2019: 3) and lost day (30 June 2019:
239) due to minor injuries during film exhibition and
production operations. There was no work-related fatality
case (30 June 2019: nil) during the reporting period.
Employees were given paid sick leave for their recovery.
Overall, no employees had serious accident during the
reporting period.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group believes the knowledge and skills of its
employees are vital to the sustainable development of
the Group. All training activities, executed through the
Human Resources & Administration Department of the
Group (“HRA"), should comply with the applicable local
laws and regulations and protect the Group’s interest.
We maintain an open dialogue with our employees by
facilitating a transparent two-way communication and
providing on-the-job training to ensure they are well
equipped with skills, knowledge and competencies that
are needed to perform their job duties. Besides, we
also encourage employees to attend external courses
regarding operation skills required for upgraded software
and new equipment during office hours. Standard training
is arranged for directors and the company secretary
on an annual basis and a regular basis respectively, to
strengthen their continuous professional development as
well as to comply with requirements of the Listing Rules.
The Group will enhance the training system in order
to improve the personal development of employees in
future.

B3.
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At the end of the reporting period, the percentage of HERETHER  SIMEEEDL
employees received training and the average training RFEZIEEIRMER RIEELE
hours by gender and employment category were as BEIDWMT -
follows:
2020
Training 23 20205
Percentage of employees received training FEEE S
By gender IR &S
Male B 49%
Female pegi 61%
By employment category ZERERE D
Senior management SEEEAS 71%
Middle management FEEEAE 65%
General staff —REE 50%
Contract or short term & #3558 B 80%
Average training hours received per employee S{I{EEF19Z IR
By gender ZHERE 5
Male B 1.1
Female 7t 0.6
By employment category REBERE D
Senior management SEEEAE 1.8
Middle management FEEEAE 15
General staff —REE 0.5
Contract or short term & #)5k5 Bf 0.8
B4. LABOUR STANDARDS B4. 55 T %8
The Group respects the human rights of employees, REBEESSEREMAE - Wia Rl
and is strongly against the employment of child labour REEREIRESFBT - KN&E
and forced. The Group is strictly in compliance with the B RS EFHRBERRER - W
relevant laws and regulations, such as the Labour Law (PEAREMBELEE) RES
in the PRC and the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57) B CEBGEOIN(ESTE) - BHM=F
in Hong Kong. We pursue fair and equitable principle, TRAFAEMRA - ERERE
promote equal opportunity in recruiting and promotion for ABEFAEERETSKS
employees and prohibit any kind of forced labour. We are EIF—PIE AR S T o KM
committed to supporting the effective abolition of child BRI/ ERELERETIR
labour and upholding the elimination of all forms of forced SERRE R AR GIS T -
labour.
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The HRA conducts checking on candidates and newly
joined employee’s identity cards, working visa, relevant
certificates and references to ensure compliance
with all the applicable laws and regulations relating to
labour standards. The Group respects the freedom of
employees.

All works should be voluntarily performed and must
not involve forced labour. The Group forbids abusing,
corporal punishment, violence, spirit oppression, sexual
harassment (including improper language, posture and
body contact) as forms of penalty.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations related to recruitment of child labour or
forced labour practices.
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OPERATING PRACTICES LEE

B5. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT B5. HEHEEIE

The Group strives to maintain long-term and good
relationships with suppliers, maintain competitive
advantages in the value chain, and provide stable
products and services to our customers. In order to
manage and mitigate the environmental and social risks
in the supply chain, we have adopted a procurement
policy and a stringent supplier selection procedure for
assigning purchasing responsibilities and ensuring a
consistent approach for selecting suppliers who will
provide the best terms, conditions and products to meet
our standards and requirements. We require that all
material aspects of procurement of goods, raw materials,
works and services be conducted to the highest ethical
standards and consistent with the following principles:

o Competitive tendering wherever possible and
the impartial selection of appropriately qualified
tenderers;

° Objective evaluation of tenders and selection of
contractors and suppliers;

° Adoption of appropriate forms of contract according
to needs; and
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o Adoption of effective monitoring systems and
management controls to ensure the proper
fulfilment of contractual obligation, and to detect
and prevent bribery, fraud or other malpractices
throughout all stages of the procurement process.

During the year, the Group had 164 (30 June 2019:
126) suppliers in Hong Kong and zero (30 June 2019: 5)
suppliers in the PRC.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group regards product quality as a key competitive
advantage of its business and makes every effort
to improve the product quality while strengthening
communications with customers. We have strictly
complied with the applicable laws and regulations in the
PRC and Hong Kong, including the Product Quality Law
of the PRC, the Consumer Protection Law of the PRC
and the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362) and
the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486).
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations related to product responsibility in the PRC
and Hong Kong.

Customer Relations

The management plays a vital role in understanding and
communicating with what its customers need. Thus, the
Group has maintained years of business relationships
with its key customers and ensured the end product
fitting for the users. We recognise that customer
satisfaction is of primary importance to our success. We
strive to understand their requirements and concerns and
to merit their business by responding effectively to their
needs. Specifically, our policies include:

° Always put the customers first by providing them
with good quality cinema facilities, high quality
viewing environment and the services that meet or
exceed the customers’ needs under all reasonable
circumstances;

° Provide service hotline and email enquiry channel,
in which all enquiries must be responded within 3
working days;
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° Provide services that reliably and safely meet
responsible standards of performance, efficiency
and courtesy; and

o Provide timely, accurate and sufficient information
about its operations, capabilities and services,
without misrepresentation, exaggeration and
overstatement.

Accessible seats are provided for people with disability
and the people along with them. Subtitled screenings
are provided for deaf and hearing-impaired customers.
Moreover, it is the Group's standard practice to check
every customer’s identification cards when watching
age-restricted movies. During the reporting period, there
were no material products and service-related complaints
received.

Food Health and Safety at Cinemas

The Group obtained the Food Factory License issued
by Food and Environmental Hygiene Department
("FEHD") and strictly complies with the policies and
relevant regulations set by FEHD. Officers from FEHD
regularly conducts inspection on the Group's film
exhibition premises to ensure food quality and hygienic
environment are maintained. Employees working at
concession stands are required to attend training courses
provided by the FEHD and strictly follow the food
preparation guidelines. During the reporting period, none
of the product sold or service rendered was subject to
recall due to safety and health problem.
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Copyrights Management

The Group has established a copyrights management
policy for its distribution and production of films, in
the aspects of copyright’s filing procedure, define
ownership of the copyrights and contract terms. Digital
Cinema Package (DCP) is used for movies for protection
against illegal copying and piracy as specific decryption
is required. In case of any suspected copyrights
infringement item coming to the Group's attention, the
policy also provides guidance on reporting structures
and responsible parties and departments. Moreover,
the Group enforces security encryption, subject to
customers’ instruction, and the Group sets securities
codes for internal data and privacy protection. The use
of pirate software is prohibited to avoid infringement of
copyrights of other parties. For film exhibition operation,
the Group ensures the warning message and policy
trailers are displayed to protect intellectual property
rights of the films exhibited in the cinemas. Employees
are required to strictly follow work procedures to patrol
inside the cinemas during screening to ensure no illegal
recording.

Personal Data Protection and Privacy Policy
The Group is committed to complying with data
protection principles and the requirements of the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. Security software
is installed on server for data protection. No collected
personal data of employees, customers, suppliers and
cinemagoers shall be shared with any third party outside
the Group without their prior consent unless permitted
or requested by law. Only those employees who need
these personal data need to perform a specific task
with such information. For example, job application
and customer services are granted access rights for
personally identifiable information. Personal information
is retained only for such period whenever necessary for
carrying out of the purposes stated in the policy or as
otherwise specified at the time of collection.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R g RERME

IREEE
AEEDREBTREEEZH
EMREEERE - T mERk
RERRRET  BTREMAE
RANIGERE - BRERZIEE
BHEEER  EXRAEX
¥ B (DCP) - BZRE TR BN
e EAEEIEIEMBRUR
LHREIEER - RERITH B ER
TRBUANBEATRAMAR
BHE S| A ETT - S5 NEE
BREFPHETNERZEZNE @ A
B I 2 PO P B4R S AL BB AR i BR S
REREE - REBERIEERER
F - DA R R IEE A 75 B AR
B REXHREBMS - A%
ERAREEZLEABRRESHAR
R BB SCER - LAGR & %2 B BT AR
HEEF R OB ERE - DR
Ml BTABRETTHERERFE
TRAKGE - AERRABIEE

8B R
BRATR -

BAERRERLEBBR
AEBEHNETEANER (ALE)
GBI REER R RRE - &,
e AR5 88 LB R R 2 &I
ETHERE - RERE - F
F-HEARZRBRNELL
FERT - FTRENEAERBETE
EASEE LS EAE =R/
F MR REFHERERIN -
EEFEZSBEAEHNERS
2EBRBERATRHAITIE -
e - B RFREFRE A
RERESEARERNER - fAAR
FHERBE 2 EITHRFTA B & PT
FHRREFPIIEEAHR -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R - g RERME

B7. ANTI-CORRUPTION B7. RE’S

The Group is committed to upholding high standards of
business ethics and integrity. The Group strictly abides
by the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and
Hong Kong, including the Criminal Law of the PRC and
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201) in
Hong Kong. The Group forbids any form of corruption,
extortion, bribery, fraud, money laundering and
embezzlement.

The Group has also established an anti-fraud policy and
code of conduct manual for employees to maintain the
highest standards of integrity and honesty in conducting
the Group's affairs. Any employee contravening the
Group's rules and ethical standards is liable to disciplinary
action.

The Group does not tolerate any illegal or unethical
acts. Anyone violating the code of conduct will be
disciplined and may be dismissed. The Group expects
all employees to honestly uphold the Group’s policy,
the accounting procedures and other controls.
Employees should report to the management at once
when any suspected violations of the code of conduct
and anti-fraud policy including conflicts of interest,
deception, bribery, forgery, extortion, corruption, theft,
conspiracy, embezzlement, asset misappropriation,
false representation, concealment of materials facts
and collusion, fighting or gambling whilst on duty,
serious negligence of duties, money laundering, etc.
are found. This aims to minimize damage to the Group's
reputation. In cases of suspected corruption or other
forms of criminality, once prima facie evidence has
been established, cases will be reported to Hong Kong
Independent Commission Against Corruption or other
appropriate regulatory authorities.
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The Group deeply believes that conducting the business
within an honest, moral and ethical arena is the best
business policy to achieve healthy and sustainable
growth of the Group. The Group manages and directs
its business with honesty including honest financial
procedures, budget proposals and honest economic
evaluation of its business. According to the code of
conduct, those who are involved in the selection of and
purchase from suppliers and contractors should avoid
misuse of authority or engagement in situations which
could interfere, or appear to interfere, with their ability to
make free and independent decisions regarding purchase
or procurement.

During the reporting period, no legal case concerned
with corrupt practices was brought against the Group.
Besides, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations related
to anti-corruption in the PRC and Hong Kong during the
year ended 30 June 2020. Furthermore, 35 people have
received training for anti-corruption during the reporting
period.

At the end of the reporting period, the number of
employees received anti-corruption training and the
training hours by employment category were as follows:
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2020
Anti-corruption Training RESFE 20205
Number of employees received training BEZEINEEAY
Senior management SEEREAE 4
Middle management HEEIEAE 11
General staff —fRBET 20
Total employees EERY 35
Number training hours A BB
Senior management SEERAE 3
Middle management HEEEAE 3
General staff —ET 3
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B8. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT B8. it @&

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group is
constantly aware of the needs of community and strives
to bring a positive impact on community development.
The Group encourages its employees to dedicate their
time and skills to supporting local communities with the
aim to create a harmonious society. The Group strives
to discharge its corporate social responsibility and has
been offering special movie ticket price for the elderly
and students. Moreover, we may consider supporting
non-governmental organisations through charity gala
premiere of the Group's productions or the films
exhibited in the Group’s cinemas.
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections Pages
THHE EH —RESRERENEER E=4:0] BR
A. Environmental A. 815
A1: Emissions A1 : E4
General Disclosure — R #i & “Emissions” 80
[ BEm |
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data “Emissions — Air Pollutant 81
AR EBUEIEAT HERU AR B K B B HE B Emissions”
[ HER) — = RS R MR
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas 82
AR EIEIZAT1.2 appropriate, intensity Emission”
RERBAHNER(WER)ZE [ B — A= REEHEA
KPI' A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where Not applicable to the Group's N/A
FARABUEIZAT.3 appropriate, intensity business i
EXNEEREEVRER(WMER)EE TNEARKNEBES
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where “Emissions — Hazardous and 84
AR IEIZAT .4 appropriate, intensity Non-hazardous Wastes"
EXNEEEEVRER(WMER)BE (B — B EREEEEY ]
KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and “Emissions — Air Pollutant 81-82
AR EMIEIZA1.5 results achieved Emissions”, “Emissions —
AR HE BRE B 78 e S T 1 B SR B Greenhouse Gas Emission”
[HER — =R R MBER ] -
[HER — R =R AR
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous “Emissions — Hazardous and 83
R AE WIEIZA1 .6 wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results Non-hazardous Wastes”
achieved [BE — B EREZEED]
EEREBEEEEMERIEBE B R PTG A
A2: Use of Resources A2 : &R
General Disclosure —f&# & “Use of Resources” 84
[ERfERA ]
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in  “Use of Resources — Energy 85
AR EBUEIRA2.1 total and intensity Consumption”
RSB EER SEEEERERERTE [ EREA—seRERE]
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity “Use of Resources — Water 86
R ABUEIZA2.2 RAk@BeRE7E Consumption”
[BRER—XERBEE]
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and “Use of Resources — Energy 85
AR EIEIEA2.3 results achieved Consumption”
BE R {50 FR 280 3R 45 s M TR P R B [ EREA—seRERE]
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing “Use of Resources — Water 86
PR EIEIEA2.4 water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency Consumption”
initiatives and results achieved [BRER—KERBEFE]
SKEGEFRKREE B AR - &K & AT G B
KPI' A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and, “Use of Resources — Packaging 86

R ERUEIEA2.5

if applicable, with reference to per unit produced

RERK MmN BEHEER(MER)FEESBUGE

Material”

[EIREE —BEYH ]
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections Pages
TEER EH - —REBERBEERES E=4:0] BR
A3: The Environment and Natural Resources A3 : B R XRER
General Disclosure — R E “The Environment and Natural 87
Resources”
[RIBRRRER]
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities “The Environment and Natural 87
FARAERBUERIRAS on the environment and natural resources and the Resources”
actions taken to manage them [IRBERRAER]
BEAFEDEIRERRABRNERZE R E 2
T8
B. Social B.#t &
Employment and Labour Practices EfE R % TE R
B1: Employment B1 : {E{&
General Disclosure —fR# & “Employment” 87-89
[MEfE]
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age “Employment” 90
BABEAEIE1EB .1 group and geographical region [{EfE]
RMR - BRI - FheAR R K&t IR R 5 E 5 # B 8 A8
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and “Employment” 91
BAR A IEIEB1 .2 geographical region (1]
MR - FEAE R R IR B 5 KR B A X
B2: Health and safety B2 : @ERZ 2
General Disclosure —fR i & “Health and Safety” 91
[EREEZ S
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities No work-related fatality was N/A
AR B BUEIEB2.1 A TEREREMIE T A A S bt noted. TiE A
IR TAEMERASE T H -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury The Group current does not report N/A
AR A BIEIEB2.2 AITEEATIIEAE on this indicator. i A
AREE B A IR E SRR -
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures  “Health and Safety” 91-92
AR B IEIER2.3 adopted, how they are implemented and monitored [ 2 |
BB ERR R 2R BE&RERAAHA
B3: Development and Training B3 : & &3
General Disclosure —fR i & “Development and Training” 92
[ 2R K5l
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained by gender and “Development and Training” 92
AR A BUIEIZB3.1 employee category (3R Rz ]
BMRRESRMNESNZIEER S
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by  “Development and Training” 92
BAfR 5 MFEIZEBR3.2 gender and employee category (2R & |

IR R B B AR RS0 8 B4 B T 5epk #3955 B 21

MERE AR AR
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections Pages
TEER EH - —REBERBEERES E=4:0] BR
B4: Labour Standards B4 : % T %8|
General Disclosure — R E “Labour Standards” 93
[ Tg)]
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment “Labour Standards” 93-94
FAR IR BUIEIEB4 N practices to avoid child and forced labour 48 T8 ]
RETEE T R LA 2 3 T o8 |45 THY S HE =i PR
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices The Group currently does not N/A
PR IR IE1EB4.2 when discovered report on this indicator. TiEmA
TEEE R IS SR EBR B B 15 50 P SR ER Y 25 58 3¢ PR NE B B AT R LI
Operating Practices % E &4
B5: Supply Chain Management B5 : {{fESEEE
General Disclosure —fR# & “Supply Chain Management” 94
[ EIE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region “Supply Chain Management” 95
A% A IEIEB5.1 iR R E S EEER [ EIE
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,  “Supply Chain Management” 94-95
RABR4E IE1ZB5.2 number of suppliers where the practices are being [{tEHH%E I |
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored
ZEHERNER BEREETHOEESHE Bk
EEZ 7 R A
B6: Product Responsibility B6 : EREE
General Disclosure —fR i & “Product Responsibility” 95
[EmEME]
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to  “Product Responsibility — 95-96
BRI 4B NFE1ZB6.1 recalls for safety and health reasons Customer Relations”
EHENIHEERLETRLZE2ABERREAARKY [EREE-—SFPBER]
Btk
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints  “Product Responsibility -Food 96
RASR4E IE1ZB6.2 received and how they are dealt with Health and Safety at Cinemas”
BHEEHEDRREHIRFREREER [EREE-FhHRmEER
Eageall
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and “Product Responsibility — 97
AR 4E IE1ZR6.3 protecting intellectual property rights Copyrights Management”
BT RARE M EREET AR [EmEF-—IREEE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall The Group currently does not N/A
BB WIE1ZB6.4 procedures report on this indicator. T A
B EIREBERBIWRFHA REE B AR E SRR -
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy  “Product Responsibility —Personal 97

HSERIE1EB6.5

policies, how they are implemented and monitored

HEEBRERLEBER - Bt k&R RS

Data Protection and Privacy
Policy”

[EmEE— EAEBHRERFL
B B
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e

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections Pages
TEEHE EH  —REERBEENEES =6 BR
B7: Anti-corruption B7 : R &5
General Disclosure —fR i & “Anti-corruption” 98
[RES]
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt No legal case regarding corrupt N/A
RASR A BIEIEBT 1 practices brought against the issuer or its employees practices were brought i@ A
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the against.
case WEE RSB EI5/TRIBLE
RIBEHARRBEITASEREREWEARNEBFRGE FEERY -
BREGHER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- “Anti-corruption” 98-99
BB AE WIEIZEBT.2 blowing procedures, how they are implemented and [KR&}5 |
monitored
TaprtE i R R R - B RER A HA
Community # &
B8: Community Investment B8 : tEi& &
General Disclosure —fR# & “Community Investment” 100
[HEKE ]
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, “Community Investment” 100
AR 4B NIE1ZBS8.1 environmental concerns, labour needs, health, [#[R&E |
culture, sport)
FIrEREB(WHE  BEFH BIFRK BE X
£ 885)
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the The Group currently does not N/A
B A BIEIZBS.2 focus area report on this indicator. i A

HETBEMEMNER(NEERER)

AL B A RS IR ER -

EIRIREA R A R) 2019/20 FR
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ASSUMPTIONS AND REFERENCES
BRESE

Assumptions of calculating KPIs
ATHEARENEREZRR

1.

We have assumed that the accuracy of information provided to us by the Group and relied to a considerable
extent on such information in arriving at our result of calculation and consumption data is adjusted so as to
be consistent with the reporting period of the report.

BHEMRE SEREREMAMEHEEHANEREE  YERAREERBEZSENLEBRMANGESR - BER
EHEAERAE - UERE R RARRSE 2 -

For calculation of SO2 emission from vehicles in the PRC, the sulfur content of petrol and diesel are
a%surged to be 50 ppm and 350 ppm, respectively based on GBS BIE KRS AWHEHUS BRI HITiERm
(F17)).

e R P BB — SCFERN 5 - RIECEREE R XRISRYPFRUE ER bl irigm (517)) - AR
LHNmEE 9 Bl AR50 ppm &350 ppm °

For calculation of air pollution from mobile source based on kilometres travelled by vehicles in the PRC, we
assume that the vehicles are under the following conditions: running at average speed of 30 km/hour, 50%
relative humidity, temperature of 15 degrees Celsius, the sulfur content of petrol and diesel are 50 ppm and
350 ppm and loading percentage is 50%.
BAERTATRARHEBHREDTAMES - RMERTEEN TSR | BT L R30RB178 - 8Y
BERB0%  REABEKISE  UAKRIBNTE =450 ppm &350 ppm - EH B DL AES0% ©

For calculation of air pollutants, the travelling distance of the vehicles are estimated based on their average
fuel consumption.

HAEERSEYM S - AENITRERDIRBEMR R T EREEERE -

For calculation of air pollutants, GHG emission and energy consumption, the amount of diesel used

by vehicles are included in the petrol consumption as it is not feasible for the Group to separate the
consumption data of diesel with that of petrol.

P BERUSRY  RERBHRIERERM S - Ao MR TERERBIRIL T AT - it - 7=
A8 EETHERA -

Key references of calculating KPls
STHREREREENERSE

1.

WO =

©@ENND @O e H

9

10.
10.
11.
11.

Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing Rules — “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide”

B LmRANE 4 [RE - t g RERWMERES]

Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPI

sk — : BRIFRRERIEIRmE S

Sustainability Report 2018, CLP Group

—E-)\EFAHERRRE  FERHE

Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings

(Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong, the Environmental Protection
Department and the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department

BEAEEY(EXE A AHAR)NEEREFHRAKRNZENREES BERESRBETEE
Heat Values of Various Fuels, World Nuclear Association

BTz REE - tHRZeenE

CGERMBNBE KRS EMPEIE BRHIEMERGET) ) PEAREINMBIR B RES
CGERBE B RNR)S RIS BRGIFMER (F1T)) - PEARLFEIRF(RED
(BRAHBEREEFRERRERHRA - BXERBD

(CERAR) BRELEFRBERBEBESFA - BXRERBD
(BREBBREEFRERRERBIRA - BXERB

(CERLH) ARFLELRBERREESZA - BXRERB
CRERBZERREREASIENAZEREEMGEIAER(2.1R) ) tRERHAEH
CRAERBZERREREFS BN AEEREFIGITETREERE(2.1kR)) - tRERHRF
(CEMZES MR - FEIINEENREREBEENEA FEN) - BRI
CERZES BB - EINEE B EREBHEREA TN - thRERFEA

CRA T E3EAI) (GB/T 2589-2008) * BIRIZE(LEZE S

(e BT EimAI) (GB/T 25689-2008) ' EIRIZE({ZE S
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

ERVR Y Gl

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Transmit
Entertainment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 115 to 290,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 30 June 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

BEEREFRATDVERR
(RESHSEME LA ERLA])

=z
=

ZBE (A TEE AT EEZE11E
F20BEMEEBEREREFRAR([ERR])
FEKWBAR(GE I EEE]) 2R HE®R
X BEFRBEEN2020F6 A30H 24548815
MK REEZBLEFEZHGABRENE
thEEKER  SAESEHREGAES
MERXR ' UREEMBEHRENTE  REXE
SEBERRE -

RIRE  HEVBRREBEE SR
AE([BASHMAE ) BHOBETHR
SR ([BEVHBREENDEEMT S
B BEEER2020F6 A30H M4 A BT
MRAREEEZALFENGATBRER
BARSRE  WYEREBEREFBQAAEHHHE
BT ARE -

RRENER

AITERBEFBETHMAGRMONET LR
B ([ FEFTER ) ETEZ - DTRZ
SHRABETHEETITRAITZHE [ZRBE
BEREEVBRRAENAEE | —HhE—F
it o AITREBEERSFMAGRMZIER
SitmBRBETH(TDBIR B&
C ATTEREBETRIBTEMBEEE -
AITHIE  NMTPESHBERRER R LE
EHAANITHE RIEHEE -

FHREZER

IATTREXHEMS @ BREZFAE
BARITER ARG BRRESEEN
FH - xSREREATEGEERAWE
WREFUEXAITHE RSETRE -
AT TEHBRERIREFERER -
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED BEREREERATZTRER(E)

(Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

ARELER

(RESFSEME LA BERLA])

AREEZEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RITHERNMEEFARELER

Impairment loss on film and television series production in progress

HEFEZ R EREIHBEER

We identified the impairment loss on film and
television series production in progress as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the Group’s
film and television series production in progress
to the consolidated financial statements and the
judgment and estimation uncertainty involved in the
management’s impairment assessment of the film
and television series production in progress.
RTHANEEREY R BEB O REBERBEREZ
FE - 2HR EEERERSELERBLHGRSH
BHRENEZEUUREBBHEEREL REEEIE
TRERT L s TS FIET B St AR = -

As at 30 June 2020, the carrying amount of film
and television series production in progress
amounted to HK$163,736,000. In determining
whether impairment on film and television series
production in progress is required, the Group
takes into consideration the distribution and
license agreements entered into by the Group and
the current market environment to project cash
flows expected to be received through box office
receipts and distribution and licensing income.
Impairment loss is recognised in the period in which
the recoverable amount is less than the carrying
amount. As disclosed in notes 4 and 21 to the
consolidated financial statements, no impairment
loss of film and television series production in
progress was recognised and charged to profit or
loss for the year ended 30 June 2020.

720206 A30R - REPEX N EREINEEER
75¥163,736,0007T - RETRIER B REBHREIZ
BREZELRER X BSEEZE SEEEFIVNHE
TRBITEERFIBEARBAINTSRE - A8
BB R BT A R BT RE (R R R AT W A TR A Lk
MHFEHR &M E o MEBEN AW E &5 D RRE
ERERREER - NEEa M IEMKRM T4 %21 PTHEE -
B ZE2020F6 H30R IFFE - WEBRREFET R
BRBIARERE - WE RN ESAR -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment loss on film
and television series production in progress included:

AITEREERERX R ERBIREBENREZF BT

e Understanding the process of how management
performs impairment assessment on the film and
television series production in progress;

o THREREHIEPEXLERBETRENGNIZS

e Evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology
used by management in determining the recoverable
amounts of the film and television series production in
progress; and

o MAEEBREETREPEY REREF O FEEATEK
RAmEa@En &

e FEvaluating the reasonableness of the assumptions
used in the future cash flow projection and challenging
the management’s assessment on the expected
revenue to be generated by the film and television
series production in progress by checking the film and
television budget summary to the contract amounts
of the distribution and licensing agreements and the
estimated film box office receipts to the historical trend
of similar film and television released.

s FERBMEBITRBITREAFINBZNELRBERE
BEXKBESHNSEURZE FHBEUECREGHBE
BEMAFNEZRFRA - fHEARKE € R AT AR
BHEEUEREREEBHREREEZNERBELD
8 B = A AT A o
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED

(Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

HREELER

BERREBRD R FRR ()
(RESFSEME LA BERLA])

AREEZEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RITHERNNEERARERER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

A& R E A

We identified the impairment assessment
of goodwill as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and significant
judgement and estimate involved in determination
of the recoverable amount of cash generating unit
("CGU") to which goodwill has been allocated.
RTBAEBEREMEREREZEIR - BHRNEY
FEVBRRERERECEENREECEDRNE
ZHReEFBEM((ReEAEM]) 2B ST &
BRI R Ak ET o

As disclosed in notes 4 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amount of
goodwill was HK$448,173,000 as at 30 June
2020. In estimating the recoverable amount of
the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated,
the management has made a number of key
assumptions in the value in use calculations. The
key assumptions include revenue growth rates,
discount rates, the forecast performance in respect
of budgeted sales and budgeted costs based on
management’s view of future business prospects.
As disclosed in note 16, based on the management
assessment, no impairment loss was recognised
for the year ended 30 June 2020.
WERE M HRRIMTARI16FTHE - BN 2020466
ﬂwa%%ﬁﬁﬁ #448,173,0007C * IMEEHE
HEMBRESEEEN 2 AJREISER FEER
EREEFERIEHETEERRE - Ix@"“@?ﬁﬁ
BERBHARRERISNBENBEHEREE
REFTOMEERE - BIRE RIBAIKRIR - 1MFE16
PR - IRIBERE L - 21E2020F6 A30H IEF
JE I SRR B BT S -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill included:

AITERBEREMENEF B

Understanding the process of how management
performs impairment assessment of goodwill;

AR TR B A T T R B AR ERT A

Challenging the key assumptions used, including
specifically the operating cash flow projections and
revenue growth rates based on our knowledge of the
entertainment related industry as well as historical
performance of the Group;

BREMEANEERSR  BRE(LHER)BRBRITHRE
METENTSE EXEBEREmMELNCERS
mETEAREERE

Engaging our internal valuation expert to assess the
discount rates used in the impairment assessment
model by benchmarking against independent data;
ZRABHEZRABIBIBEAEE - FHERENGIE
A PTARIBLERE

Testing a selection of data inputs underpinning the

cash flow forecast against appropriate supporting

evidence, such as approved budgets, to assess the

accuracy and reliability of the data input; and

BEEENTHEE  fINERTEE  REIFRESR

ETEANFETH AR - AT HBIRE AR R
JE ‘E ’ &

Assessing the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management on the significant assumptions to
evaluate the extent of impact on the recoverable
amounts of the cash generating units.

A EEEREARRBRENFREDN - AT EEHER
PEFBMNAKRESENTERE

AR /AT 2019/20 F1{
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED BEREREERARZTRR(E)

(Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

ARELER

(REESFHEAMA T BERINE])
BREBEZEE@m)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RITHNBERNMEERREERSEE

Impairment assessment of right-of-use assets in relation to film exhibition segment

B EZ I EE A (2 /1 & B E A

We identified the impairment assessment of right-
of-use assets in relation to film exhibition segment
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance to the consolidated financial statements
as a whole and significant judgement and estimate
involved in the management’'s impairment
assessment of the right-of-use assets.
RTHANEBEZ WD HBEREEENRETES
AREZEE  SRNEHGEEMBRRERER
EEUNEREHERAEEEREN G RNER
HIBR R k5T -

As disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets in relation to film exhibition segment was
HK$668,311,000 as at 30 June 2020. In determining
whether impairment on right-of-use assets in
relation to film exhibition segment is required, the
Group takes into consideration the discounted cash
flow projection with several key assumptions. The
key assumptions include growth rates, discount
rates, the forecast performance of the budgeted
sales and budgeted costs based on management'’s
view of future business prospects and past
performance of the film exhibition segment. As
disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, an impairment loss of right-of-use
assets in relation to film exhibition segment of
HK$28,895,000 was recognised and charged to
profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2020.
MERETHEMEWT16MER - BAETZHED
HEFERAEEER2020F6 A0 MEREMAEABYE
668,311,0007T - NETF AT ERBAEZ LS
BrEAREEFELDRER - BEESZEMEER
EMEEARETEERR - FERIVEREER
BERREBINRNBEARTBEHE RBEK AT
BIERE MBRXRRBARBEREBEEZ DI
WEFRE - MFEAMBMRMT16KE  #E
2020F6 H30R ILFE DR BB EZ WD B E
FA#E & E /R E R 188%528,895,0007T + WE M EZ=
ABR

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of right-of-use assets in relation to film exhibition segment
included:

AITRAR B MR BB BB ERR ERHEMIZF 815 -

e Understanding the process of how management
performs impairment assessment of right-of-use
assets in relation to film exhibition segment;

e EMEBENMETAEBEETHRELSINEREEEN
BB

e Challenging the key assumptions used, including
specifically the cash flow projections and growth rates
based on our knowledge of the entertainment related
industry as well as historical performance of the film
exhibition segment;

e MEMEANEERRK  BRE(LAR)RBEARITHIRS
HATENABRRETRESEERBEMELNRS
METEARERE

e Assessing the discount rates used in the impairment
assessment model by benchmarking against
independent data;

o FEBEBEBIBENEBEMEEATBORERR

e Testing a selection of data inputs underpinning the
cash flow forecast against appropriate supporting
evidence, such as approved budgets, to assess the
accuracy and reliability of the data input; and

o WMEBEEMIFHRE MELEE BREIFBEESR
ERANFRTEHAZBIE - DEHEBABBOLERER
AT &

e Assessing the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management on the significant assumptions to
evaluate the extent of impact on the recoverable
amounts of the right-of-use assets in relation to film
exhibition segment.

e MEEEEMERABREROBRESN - UFHEE
BETZHMS B EABEEENTNEENZER
EE
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. WWe have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

HttE

BERRESAHEMBENAR - HtEHE
REAFRANEN  BETEEGRA MR
REAITOZEBEDRE

AITHGEEMBHRRNERYL NMREEBE
B RO RTHZEEMERBEREMER

HEEE A

RATTHESMBHMERNBFRME - A1TH
AEERMEEMER - EIBES  TEE
MBS REEMBBRRIATEEZE
B TEROBAFEERTTREUFEF
HEEARERRM - ERAITERITHIIE
MERTRASZEMBENFEERERR
i RTFBREZXEE - BEHE K17
W BAEAAT RS ©

EERERAEBRGEMBHER
ARENEE

BERRESARRBEE BSOS HEMEN
FREVEHREEN BB AR EER
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
VR GRS

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
VR GRS

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
conseguences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor's report is Lee Po Chi.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

25 September 2020

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

srefBm A RIS

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

2020 2019
20204 20194
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B &E BETT BT IT
Revenue g 5 465,534 668,130
Cost of sales SHERK KR (291,830) (405,843)
Gross profit ER 173,704 262,287
Other gains and losses Hi s R EE 7 (580) 21,055
Other income EmgA 7 42,348 11,347
Selling and distribution expenses FHE MEITRX (181,793) (207,271)
Administrative expenses TR (60,997) (67,316)
Net foreign exchange loss b X B85 58 (2,210) (226)
Impairment loss on property, plant ME  BENMEERD
and equipment VRN SR 14 (2,189) -
Impairment loss on interests in RE &N R ERAREEE
associates 18 - (16,317)
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEHIEEEEBENXETZ
under expected credit loss model B 5 WG IEREEE 23 (2,998) -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets {#B#E&ERBIEEIE 15 (28,895) -
Fair value change on contingent ERIARENATEESD
consideration payable 45(b) (6,161) (20,511)
Finance costs BLE B 8 (57,630) (11,630)
Share of results of associates JE(REEE RAIEE 18 (855) (1,484)
Share of results of a joint venture JEh—EEaEhEESA 19 (6) 97
Loss before tax BREBLATE B (128,262) (29,969)
Income tax credit (expense) Frig i e (F) 9 885 (5,719)
Loss for the year FAEE 10 (127,377) (35,688)
Other comprehensive (expense) FREMZ2E(FAX) KA
income for the year
Items that may be reclassified s e E R ERA
subsequently to profit or loss EHH
Reclassification adjustments upon FFABRz —HRBRRR
disposal of a subsidiary included in HEREHDIEFHEK
profit or loss - 165
Reclassification adjustments upon FFABGRz —HEBE QRN
disposal of an associate included in HEBRENDEARE
profit or loss (321) -
Share of exchange difference of a joint B{h—E&ZERKRE
venture arising on translating foreign NS EE £ RIIE 3 E5E
operation - (133)
Share of exchange difference of an B —EBE A s EARE
associate arising on translating INEREEMER =58
foreign operation - 305
Exchange difference arising on EINEIRE L IEH 5
translating foreign operation (1,144) 5,266
(1,465) 5,603
Total comprehensive expense for FRAZEBEXEEE
the year (128,842) (30,085)

EIRIRLEB R AT 2019/20 Fif
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
rEEmEHERERE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

2020 2019
20204 20194
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
B =E BT T ST IT
Loss for the year attributable to: THATEMFRER :
— Owners of the Company —ARRREAB A (126,598) (35,504)
- Non-controlling interests e 2 (779) (184)
(127,377) (35,688)
Total comprehensive expense for THAATEMFRZEBEX
the year attributable to: W
— Owners of the Company —ARRREB A (128,063) (29,901)
- Non-controlling interests — SRR = (779) (184)
(128,842) (30,085)
Loss per share BREE 13
Basic (HK cents) FEARCGEM) (4.88) (1.37)

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

sre IR

At 30 June 2020 7202046 H30H

2020 2019
20204 20194
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
B &E BET T ST IT
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB M RE 14 74,689 88,281
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 668,311 -
Goodwill [EES 16 448,173 411,876
Intangible assets EmIZEE 17 102,416 5,600
Interests in associates N AN s 18 - 8,418
Interest in a joint venture R—HEeETENER 19 163 169
Rental deposits HEZES 20 14,878 30,358
Deferred tax assets EEFIEE E 39 297 161
1,308,927 544,863
Current assets REBEE
Film and television rights B RERBINRE 21 = 4,787
Film and television series production in R{EREF KEHRE
progress 21 163,736 134,203
Inventories FE 22 1,249 6385
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H b Y FRIE 23 126,281 162,719
Contract assets HNEE 24 16,599 -
Rental deposits HeEHe 20 13,389 19,163
Tax recoverable AT EI R IR - 713
Financial assets at fair value through  ZAFEFTAERZ
profit or loss SREE 25 7,040 -
Restricted bank balances ZIRHIRITEE R 26 13,098 -
Pledged bank deposits EIEHIRITIFR 27 21,667 664
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS 28 112,263 122,035
475,322 444,969
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 M H MR FRIA 29 215,806 219,555
Contract liabilities awasE 30 60,695 46,562
Tax payable FERTREIE 5,713 5,685
Bank and other borrowings R1T M H MK 31 22,000 65,220
Loans from related companies kNI € 32 30,303 64,274
Amount due to FE — 2R AR R FIA
a controlling shareholder 33 27,500 -
Bonds payable FEfHE S 34 22,000 _
Amount due to a joint venture R —RMa et EE 35 385 385
Contingent consideration payable FERT SRR B 45(b) 145,262 139,235
Lease liabilities HEaRE 36 71,962 -
601,626 540,816
Net current liabilities REBEERE (126,304) (95,847)
Total assets less current liabilities #EERMRBEE 1,182,623 449,016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PBIR

At 30 June 2020 7202046 H30H

2020 2019
20204 20194
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T BEETIT
Non-current liabilities kRBAE
Deposits received Bz e 29 383 950
Bonds payable ERES 34 29,500 22,000
Bank and other borrowings IRIT R EMER 31 45,000 -
Loans from a related company —EEB AR ZER 32 89,721 161,695
Contingent consideration payable FE S AARA(E 45(b) 103,693 178,155
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 39 23,231 -
Lease liabilities HERE 36 685,490 -
977,018 362,800
Net assets BEEFE 205,605 86,216
Capital and reserves EARR#EE
Share capital A& A 37 6,489 6,489
Reserves EX= (44,373) 83,690
(Deficit in shareholder’s equity) EDEHEEAEN
equity attributable to owners of (BRERESEA)
the Company ER (37,884) 90,179
Perpetual bonds KEE 38 204,600 -
Non-controlling interests FIERRER 38,889 (3,963)
Total equity ESAEEE 205,605 86,216

The consolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 290 were HNE1IEFE290B 2B B MR D ER
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the NAIEEGN20209F9 A25 B #t/fF & 5 #E T

Company on 25 September 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: % UHATATRAEEE !
Zhang Liang, Johnson Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick
RE =EN
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF BF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AEEEBR

/\\/T\

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAREEAERE
Non-
Share Share Other  Exchange Accumulated Perpetual  controlling
capital premium reserve reserve losses Sub-total bonds interests Total
B B EE At ERRE By Nt XEE  FERER an
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AT RETT BETT RETT AETT RETT AETT RETT
(Note i) (Note i)
(B (Bizin)
At 1July 2018 1201857718 6,489 521,046 10 (3,607) (403,858) 120,080 - (3,779) 116,301
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (35,504) (35,504) - (184) (35,688)
Reclassification adjustments St ARz —EHBAT

upon disposal of a subsidiary  HEREHHERR

included in profit or loss - - - 165 - 165 - - 165
Share of exchange difference  [Eff—HALMEREE

of a joint venture arising on BNEBEANERZE

translating foreign operation - - - (133) - (133) - - (133)
Share of exchange difference  [Eff—REERARAE

of an associate arising on ANFBEENERES

translating foreign operation - - - 305 - 305 - - 305
Exchange difference arisingon N FEAEVERER

translating foreign operation - - - 5,266 - 5,266 = - 5,266
Total comprehensive income  FRZEMA(FR) 28

(expense] for the year - - - 5,603 (35,504) (29,901) - (184) (30,085)
At 30 June 2019 1201956 A30H 6,489 521,046 10 1,996 (439,362) 90,179 - (3,963) 86,216
Loss for the year FRER = - - - (126,598)  (126,598) = (779)  (127,377)
Reclassification adjustments ~ f ABHZ—HEEAFE

upon disposal of an associate £k EHHERFE

included in profit or loss (Hti18)

(note 18] = = - (321) = (321) = = (321)
Exchange difference arisingon  JE/NERAE 7EH 28

translating foreign operation - - = (1,144) = (1,144) = = (1,144)
Total comprehensive expense M2 EHZ2E

for the year - - - (1,465) (126,598) (128,063) - (779) (128,842)
Capital contribution from non- K&~ B2 AlFEiERkiE

controlling interest of a BHATE

subsidiary - - - - - - - 5,390 5,390
Acquisition of a subsidiary W -RRE AR ()

(note 41) - - - - - - - 34,278 34,278
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 42) HEHBAE(Fiz42) - - - - - - - 3,963 3,963
Issuance of perpetual capital  H—FIMBARRET

securities by a subsidiary KEBAER(ME38)

(note 38) - - - - - - 204,600 - 204,600
At 30 June 2020 7202046 A30A 6,489 521,046 10 531 (565,960) (37,884) 204,600 38,889 205,605

{
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARREDR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 &, Z20206 A30H It FE

Notes:

(i)

(i)

Other reserve represents the difference between the aggregate
nominal value of the respective share capital of the companies
now comprising the subsidiaries of the Company over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued pursuant to the group
reorganisation completed on 5 October 2012 (the “Reorganisation”)
to rationalise the structure of the Group in preparation for the listing of
the Company’s shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

On 29 June 2020, two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company
issued perpetual bonds (the “issuers”) amounted to RMB31,000,000
(equivalent to HK$34,100,000) and RMB155,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$170,500,000), respectively to Guangzhou Puji Real Estate Agency
Co. Limited, a related company in which Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson,
the Chairman and an executive director of the Company has controlling
interest, and the perpetual bonds are redeemable at the issuers’ option
on or after 28 June 2025. Interests are payable annually in arrears at a
fixed rate of 4.5% per annum, which may be deferred at the issuers’
discretion and in which event, the Company and the issuers will not
declare or pay any interests or redeem, reduce, cancel or buy back or
otherwise acquire any of the Company’s and/or the issuers’ securities

of lower or equal rank.

The Group is considered to have no contractual obligations to call its
principal or to pay any interests. The perpetual bonds do not meet the
definition for classification as financial liabilities. They are classified as
equity instruments and future interests are treated as distribution of
dividends.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20
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(i)

(ii)
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R 2020F6 A 298 + AKX A K /M M B
~AE([E17 A L) 9 Bl M Guangzhou Puji
Real Estate Agency Co. Limited( AR
RERRNTESRELERFERERS
B BAEE N A)) B 1T R A R 31,000,000
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CONSOL DATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
/\\/T\ fﬁiﬁ%%

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

2020 2019
20205 20194
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 3E BT T BT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KEES
Loss before tax K?TRHIJ &8 (128,262) (29,969)
Adjustments for: BT R IERFHE
Finance costs BhE P AN 57,630 11,630
Interest income FB YA 7 (551) (771)
Depreciation of property, plant and %% e NRETE
equipment 14 12,052 14,449
Depreciation of right-of -use assets FRAEEENE 109,495 -
Amortisation of intangible assets EmIEERH 4,389 -
Loss on disposal of property, plantand HEWE « BE&
equipment HiEEE 7 - 2
Loss (gain) on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBA 7)&5%@(4& ) 42 4,838 (21,057)
Gain on disposal of associates k= VNI 18 (4,258) -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets ﬁ)—ﬂ%é?ﬁ’]ﬂ@l@ﬂa 15 28,895 -
Impairment loss on property, plantand — #13% - FifE K& EH
equipment BUEEE 14 2,189 -
Impairment loss on trade receivables B 5 R ZIEH
U@{EJ@E?@ 2,998 -
Impairment loss on interests in REEE N B
associates BEEE 18 = 16,317
Impairment loss on film and television — ZAEHREL LREREIH
series production in progress B E R 21 - 4,412
Fair value change on contingent Fgﬁjﬂf‘fﬂ WA E
consideration payable k) 6,161 20,511
Share of results of associates E{EH? EUNCIES 18 855 1,484
Share of results of a joint venture A — F'EEJ/:\% XEE 19 6 (97)
Operating cash flows before movements &@8 & & #ERRLIRLRE
in working capital 96,437 16,911
(Increase) decrease in film and television T& & ERMRE R /EHR
rights and film and television series B RERE(1E0)H D
production in progress (29,767) 106,575
Decrease in investments in film/drama & B & B8 & ER >
production = 2,774
(Increase) decrease in inventories FEGEM R (564) 5
Decrease (increase) in trade and Z 5 N E A U EIE
other receivables H (12 50) 31,777 (94,867)
(Increase) decrease in rental deposits HERS L) R (49) 316
Decrease in amounts due from related  FEURERES A RIZRIE R
companies - 143
(Decrease) increase in trade and other B 5 & E b E{f 3078 &
payables and deposits received Bl O ) Z (10,400) 59,500
Increase in amounts due to related JE ST BB A B FRIBIE HN
companies = 30
Decrease in amount due to a joint B —HaEhERE
venture B - (7,911)
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities &4 BEEMCHL) 14,133 (132,328)
Increase in contract assets /E.\W’Uéféiﬂl] (16,750) -
Net cash generated from LEE(FTA) RS FE
(used in) operations 84,817 (48,852)
Income tax refund ERATSH 670 -
Income tax paid 2 PTEF (221) (103)
NET CASH FROM (USED) EEEBAE(RR)BEEE
IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES 85,266 (48,955)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Net cash outflow on acquisition of WERB AT ZR e R F%a
subsidiaries 41 (50,211) (149,922)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
niA\_iUME%%

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

2020 2019
20204 20194
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5E BT T BT
Repayment of contingent consideration £ E{T s AR (B
payable (64,047) -
Purchase of financial assets at fair value & AV EEABZEE
through profit or loss TREE (45,954) -
Purchase of property, plant and BEYE  BEMRE
equipment (11,608) (16,552)
Disposal of property, plant and HEME  WERRE
equipment 521 -
Placement of pledged bank deposits ERCOEBRTER (21,667) -
Placement of restricted bank balance BB HIHRITR R (13,098) -
Net cash inflow on disposal of HERBRE 2
subsidiaries HERAN S5 42 5,755 25,565
Net cash inflow on disposal of associates HERE A7) 2
REMNFEH 8,700 -
Dividend received from an associate B —EEE A RIRE 18 2,800 2,200
Interest received BF 2 7 551 771
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits TEHXE?EW@E??T??*A 664 10,000
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERDN T EFABRZ
assets at fair value through profit or TREEMERIE
loss 38,914 1,320
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RAZHATAREFE
ACTIVITIES (148,680) (126,618)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Loans from related companies Bt AR ZER 132,611 202,401
Proceeds from bank and other fEfT&ﬁ@fﬁ?ﬁFﬁgﬁi
borrowings 28,200 26,220
Proceeds from issuance of bonds BITEFERE 29,500 22,000
Advance from a controlling shareholder —&#% Hnﬂxiim 27,750 -
Capital contribution by non-controlling JEIER R T E
interests 5,390 -
Repayment of loans from related EEEB AR ZER
companies (25,530) (17,250)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEaE (63,407) -
Interest paid for lease liabilities HEABENENFIE (49,679) -
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EER1T R EMER (26,220) (12,866)
Interest paid AFLE (4,816) (1,913)
Repayment of a related company B8 — MR A R 5B - (1,000)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING BMELDAEREFHE
ACTIVITIES 53,799 217,592
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH B4 RBREZEBWORL)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R (9,615) 42,019
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FOReRAEEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 122,035 79,379
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE 4HME[E R Z g5/ 2
CHANGES (157) 637
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRAG KRG FEY -
AT END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED RIBITHEB LR S
BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 112,263 122,035
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B MR T

For the year ended 30 June 2020 &, Z20206 A30H It FE

1A.

1B.

GENERAL

Transmit Entertainment Limited (the “Company”) is a public
limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. The Company’s
registered office is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands
and its principal place of business is located at Flat B, 14/F,
Neich Tower, 128 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. Its
immediate and ultimate holding company is Nice Rich Group
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Island
(the “BVI"). Its ultimate controlling shareholder is Mr. Zhang
Liang, Johnson, who is also the Chairman and an executive
director of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 50.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at 30 June 2020, the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) had net current liabilities of HK$126,304,000
(2019: HK$95,847,000). The net current liabilities included
contract liabilities of HK$60,695,000 (2019: HK$46,562,000)
which will be recognised as revenue upon the delivery of the
film negatives and television (“TV") series program to the
customers and TV broadcast networks and shall not have
any cash outflow to the Group, bank and other borrowings of
HK$22,000,000 (2019: HK$65,220,000) which was repayable
within one year, bonds payable of HK$22,000,000 (2019: Nil)
which was repayable within one year with interest-bearing at
9%, loans from related companies of HK$30,303,000 (2019:
HK$64,274,000) which were unsecured, interest-bearing at
7% per annum and repayable within one year and an amount
due to a controlling shareholder of HK$27,500,000 (2019: Nil).

1A. — &

1B.

BEREGRAR([AAA])A—RHAR
FERSEMANINAREBRAR  H
BB AZFT £ 7T o AR AR M S
BEfZR Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands @ T E& ¥
R BB BT ELTITE1285FE R
E14EBE - EEERGRIERARR
Nice Rich Group Limited » A&—R %
BREAZHS((RBREZHS]) MKz
BARE » ERSERRRARELE -
BNMABRNABZEERPITES -

ARRIR—RAREZERAR  EMEA
BESESE 3 N RO

HEMBRRIDARRE 2R ZT
gEE(EEZ7 -

REMBBRR2MREE

R2020F6 A30H » &AA A K& EHK B
Z\\j(rZSEEIJ)%ﬁﬁUm@JE\{E/%Tﬁﬂj
7 126,304,000 7T (2019 F : B ¥
95,847,0007T) - B BEFEBIES
418 E/5%60,695,0007T (20194 : &
#46,562,00070) (KR EFIEME
FRER(ERDERXNFEFRER
EERREERA NS - RETERA
SEELAMBESRL) - RITREM
BB 122,000,0007T (20194 : B
65,220,000 (BN —FRNEE) - BN
& %8 #22,000,0007T (20194 : #)
(9% M X BEAN—FRNEE) - R
SRR NG TZi’?mﬁj,%Mao 303,000
JC(2019%F : B #64,274,0007T ) B &
A - Bzifruﬁ%ﬁél,,ﬁ—iv\j
BE MEN—BIZERBRERBEELE
27,500,0007T(20194F : #&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

1B. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are of the
opinion that, after taking into account, among other things,
the financial resources available to the Group including
the future cash flows to be generated from the film and
TV series production and distribution, new facility granted
by a related company of RMB45,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$49,500,000) and the unutilised banking facilities amounted
to RMB63,000,000 (equivalent to HK$69,300,000), the Group
will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations and commitments as and when they fall due within
the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group
on a going concern basis. Management is not aware of any
material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative

HKFRS 9 Compensation

Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
HKAS 19 Settlement

Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates and
HKAS 28 Joint Ventures

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2015 - 2017 Cycle

In addition, the Group has early applied Amendments to
HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions, which will be
mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on or
after 1 June 2020.

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

2.1 Impacts and changes in accounting policies

on application of HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases,

and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and not
apply this standard to contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has
not reassessed contracts which already existed prior to

the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1
July 2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in
accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in

assessing whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 July 2019. As at 1 July 2019, the Group
recognised lease liabilities and right-of-use assets at
amounts equal to the related lease liabilities adjusted
by any prepaid or accrued lease payments by applying
HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition. Any difference at the
date of initial application is recognised in the opening
accumulated losses and comparative information has not

been restated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERAHIIRKEIERB®

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BREEN( BB REE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued) Al 1) i)
New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are RAFEERS AR HET &
mandatorily effective for the current year LAGET B BB REXER @)
(Continued)
2.1 Impacts and changes in accounting policies 21 ERAEBMBREERSE
on application of HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) 16 HENTERSTH
REE @)
As a lessee (Continued) EBEMBA(E)
When applying the modified retrospective approach A B VE B E B B8 B TS 3R &5 XE A
under HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the F165RIA N 2 EAERT BB ER
following practical expedients to leases previously AEEREZHES BB R
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease- SRR EE ST EANE 7R Y
by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the respective MAKEHEENHE(KRENHEE
lease contracts: REE)VRAATAIITRERE A
i. relied on the assessment of whether leases i KEEAEBEFTERIFESIT
are onerous by applying HKAS 37 Provisions, SRAEE A BEREAE
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets as an ERHERTBRERELN
alternative of impairment review; EH L - (EARERHZ
BRAFE
i. elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and i. BETHREEHREXER
lease liabilities for leases with lease term ends HEf#EEH12{8 A R& SRR
within 12 months of the date of initial application; ERRAGTHAELEENTEEE
and &: R
ii. excluded initial direct costs from measuring the ii. REXERHB2FERE
right-of-use assets at the date of initial application. BEBMGYBEERRK -
When recognising the lease liabilities for leases RERMDEREEHECHE
previously classified as operating leases, the Group has REEAERN  AEBECRYF
applied incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group FERBRHEREEEETE 21
entities at the date of initial application. The weighted EERFE - FIEAZ MEFH
average incremental borrowing rate applied is 7%. BEERMERT% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

2.1 Impacts and changes in accounting policies
on application of HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

2.

ERAFHIIREEITETEBTBE
REEA([EEMBREE
Al 1) s

TR 7R 5 2 58 Bl A ORY HT T R
RIET BB B ®REZER @

21 ERABEMBHREELSE
16 HENTE RS

REB @)
As a lessee (Continued) EBEMBA(E)
At 1 July
2019
20194
7A1H
HK$'000
BT
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 30 201946 A30HFI#E 2
June 2019 e E AR 1,166,279
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental 28 R31% & (& A &R 1T
borrowing rates BRI ERE 815,472
Less: Recognition exemption — leases with lease & : iRz % — HE R
term ends within 12 months of the date of FEA B ERREET121E A A
initial application ERHOEE (863)
Lease liabilities relating to operating leases 7201 9¢7H 1HERER
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 as at 1 BA TSR & %5 165818 O MR
July 2019 KEHEFHNEERE 814,609
Analysed as DT B
— Current —nE 80,202
- Non-current — I & 734,407
814,609
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

2.1 Impacts and changes in accounting policies
on application of HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

ERAFHIIREEITETEBTBE
REEA([EEMBREE
Al 1) s

TR 7R 5 2 58 Bl A ORY HT T R
RIET BB B ®REZER @

21 ERABEMBHREELSE
16 HENTE RS

REB @)
As a lessee (Continued) EBEMBA(E)
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 July R2019F7 1R 2 AEEER
2019 comprises the following: HERFENATEAE
Right-of-use
assets
TREEE
HK$'000
BT
Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases R ERE B ISR E 4R
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 FI6RBECHERCENRE
MHENEREEE 814,609
Adjustment on rental deposits at 1 July 2019 M2019FE7 A1 BNHEERS
(note a) FEE(Fista) 21,303
Less: Accrued lease liabilities relating to rent-free & : 72019718 HA
period at 1 July 2019 (note b) R IEE B EST
HEBE(MED) (35,467)
800,445
By class: BRI
Cinema EA 797,907
Leased buildings BEHEEZETF 1,738
Equipment B 800
800,445
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

2.1 Impacts and changes in accounting policies
on application of HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Notes

a: Before the application of HKFRS 16, the Group
considered refundable rental deposits paid as rights
and obligations under leases to which HKAS 17
applied. Based on the definition of lease payments
under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments
relating to the right to use of the underlying assets
and were adjusted to reflect the discounting effect at
transition. Accordingly, HK$21,303,000 in aggregate
was adjusted to current and non-current refundable
rental deposits paid and right-of-use assets.

b: These relate to accrued lease liabilities for leases of
properties in which the lessors provided rent-free
period. The carrying amount of the lease incentive
liabilities as at 1 July 2019 was adjusted to right-of-use
assets at transition.

The transition to HKFRS 16 has no impact to the Group's
accumulated losses as at 1 July 2019.

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at 1 July 2019. Line items that were not affected

by the changes have not been included.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FEAHIRKEBITIEBBE
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HREEZEA([EBMBEHREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued) Al 1) (e
New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are PA 7N 5 58 ) A SRV #TET }52
mandatorily effective for the current year RAEFT BB EHRELER (@
(Continued)

2.1 Impacts and changes in accounting policies 21 ERAEBBREELNSE
on application of HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) 16 EENEERS TR
REB @)
As a lessee (Continued) TEREFMA (&)
The following adjustments were made to the amounts 201967 A1 BiR& BBk &
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial FHEZNESECERATAE -
position at 1 July 2019. Line items that were not affected ARXBEEETENBERETES
by the changes have not been included. R ©
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported HKFRS 16
at 30 June at 1 July
2019 Adjustments 2019
A20194F
7R1BR#E
FAIR2019F ERMBRE
6H30H 2% R 55165,
W AR E & AE  HEMNEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT BT
Non-current Assets ERBEE
Rental deposits HEZE 30,358 (15,720) 14,638
Right-of-use assets CREEE - 800,445 800,445
Current Asset REBEE
Rental deposits HEZe 19,163 (5,683) 13,580
Current Liabilities nBEE
Trade and other payables 2 5 R E A JE [ 50IR 219,555 (35,467) 184,088
Lease liabilities MERE - 80,202 80,202
Non-current Liability kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE - 734,407 734,407

Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating
activities under indirect method for the year ended 30
June 2020, movements in working capital have been
computed based on opening consolidated statement of
financial position as at 1 July 2019 as disclosed above.

The Group has early applied the amendment to HKFRS
16 in the current year. The application has no impact
to the opening accumulated losses at 1 July 2019.
The Group recognised changes in lease payments that
resulted from COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions of
HK$15,889,000 under other income in profit or loss for
the current year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

FER#HET REIETE B &
REEAN(EBYKREE
Al ) @)

E BB REMRHFET K
RIETE B BwEZEA

REE AW EIT R EAIA T EME R R
EREFR] RRIERT BB M Bl E 2R -

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
Amendments to
HKAS 1
Amendments to

Insurance Contracts’
Definition of a Business?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework®

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
and Non-current®

Definition of Material*

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment —
HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use®

Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
HKAS 37 Contract®

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to Annual Improvement to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2018-2020°

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

d Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
20283.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but
not yet effective (continued)

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRSs, will be effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2020.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 (the “New Framework”)
and the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRSs

The New Framework:
o reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

o introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights
and a new liability definition that is likely to be broader
than the definition it replaces, but does not change the
distinction between a liability and an equity instrument;

° discusses historical cost and current value measures,
and provides additional guidance on how to select a
measurement basis for a particular asset or liability;

° states that the primary measure of financial performance
is profit or loss, and that only in exceptional
circumstances other comprehensive income will be used
and only for income or expenses that arise from a change
in the current value of an asset or liability; and

° discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 (the “New Framework”)
and the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRSs (continued)

Consequential amendments have been made so that
references in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New
Framework, whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to the
previous versions of the framework. These amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020, with earlier application permitted. Other than specific
standards which still refer to the previous versions of the
framework, the Group will rely on the New Framework on its
effective date in determining the accounting policies especially
for transactions, events or conditions that are not otherwise
dealt with under the accounting standards.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a
Business

The amendments:

o add an optional concentration test that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The election
on whether to apply the optional concentration test is
available on transaction-by-transaction basis;

o clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set
of activities and assets must include, at a minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs;
and

o narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by
focusing on goods and services provided to customers
and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce
costs.

The Group will apply the amendments prospectively to all
business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the annual reporting period
beginning on or after 1 July 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

° specify that a liability should be classified as non-current
if an entity has the right, the classification should not be
affected by management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months;

o clarify that if the right is conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met
at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does
not test compliance until a later date; and

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the
transfer of the entity's own equity instruments, these
terms do not affect its classification as current or non-
current only if the entity recognises the option separately
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 30 June
2020, the application of the amendments will not result in
reclassification of the Group's liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations in
making materiality judgments. In particular, the amendments:

° include the concept of “obscuring” material information
in which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the
information;

° replace threshold for materiality influencing users from
“could influence” to “could reasonably be expected to
influence”; and

o include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too
broad when deciding what information to disclose in the
financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 July 2020. The application of the amendments is
not expected to have significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group but may affect the presentation
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & %202056 A30H |- F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 16 (since
1 July 2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16),
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n/\l:l E\ﬁ &%ngég

For the year ended 30 June 2020 &, Z2020F6 A30H It F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs).

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & %202056 A30H |- F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at
the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);
and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash- generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is
measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the
cash- generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 &, Z2020F6 A30H It F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments in associates and a joint
venture

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and a
joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint venture used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interest
in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments in associates and a joint
venture (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not
related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 &, Z2020F6 A30H It F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition:
measurement of progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’'s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS
16 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components. The Group also applies practical
expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease component
and any associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases (continued)

Definition of a lease (upon application of
HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in

note 2) (Continued)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases assets are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; and

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases (continued)

Definition of a lease (upon application of
HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in

note 2) (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market rental
rates are initially measured using the market rental rates as
at the commencement date. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and
are recognised as expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases (continued)

Definition of a lease (upon application of
HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in

note 2) (Continued)

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions

For rental concessions relating to lease contracts that occurred
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group
has elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether a COVID-19-Related Rent Concession for lease
contracts is a lease modification. The practical expedient only
applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 that meets all of the following conditions:

o the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

° any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

° there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the
same way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS
16 Leases if the changes were not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for
as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities are
adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which the event occurs.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 July 2019)

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 &, Z20206 A30H It FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.,e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme ("MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment

transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve). At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest based
on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 & %202056 A30H |- F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interest in a joint venture, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interest are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-
of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal
portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Film and television rights and film and
television series production in progress

Film and television rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any).
The Group amortises costs of film and television rights in the
same ratio that current period actual revenue (numerator)
bears to estimated total projected revenue (denominator). The
Group begins amortisation of the capitalised costs of film and
television rights when a film or television series is released and
it begins to recognise revenue from that film.

The Group reviews and revises estimates of total projected
revenue and total production costs of film and television
rights at the end of each reporting period. If estimates are
revised, the Group adjusts the amount of total projected
revenue (denominator) from the period when such changes
in estimates take place and re-calculated the ratio for
amortisation of film and television rights. The effect from
changes in estimates is recognised on a prospective basis.

Film and television series production in progress is stated at
cost less any provision for impairment losses. Cost includes
all costs associated with the production of films and television
series including remuneration for the film and television series
director, casts and production crew, costumes, insurance,
makeup and hairdressing as well as rental of camera and
lighting equipment. Film and television series production in
progress is transferred to film and television rights when the
film is released.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Joint arrangements

Joint operations

When a group entity undertakes film production activities
under joint venture arrangements (which do not involve the
establishment of a corporate entity) and shares the ownership
of the film rights upon completion of the production with other
ventures, such film rights are classified as joint operation.
The Group recognises its share of the joint operation and
its share of liabilities incurred jointly with other ventures in
the consolidated statement of financial position, classified
according to their nature.

The Group recognises the income derived from the joint
operation (in accordance with its revenue recognition policy set
out above), together with its share of any expenses incurred in
respect of its interest in the joint operation in its consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business

combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment on tangible, intangible assets
other than goodwill and right-of-use assets
(see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives and right-of-use assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet
available for use are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible assets
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In
addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication
exist, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash
generating units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment on tangible, intangible assets
other than goodwill and right-of-use assets
(see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above) (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20

3.

£RTHA

E-EEEERKATAESNGRIME]
WhRAEREREERERAE -
REE VEREEORISHAEE
ERRA LR - BREERARED
SRANSEPIEL REARNEEZ
ETHMEEERS -

TREENEBMABMGRAFER
B HELAEFENZEZRKFIA
(REBFBYBRESLERNE15REETS
AR Z K NT BRI - WREHE
TeREERTBMAR(RERESN
NHESIRR (B RBREARFESIRR])
ZEMEEXTRBEN EEREED
RGRARNBHERFMA SR EEK
TRAENAFE ARETHEEXS
BAEENRFEMNR(WER) - WEE
BEDARFEIIRZ SHEEXE R
BEEREAERXSAANERER

=7
o °©

ERNEER— B ESREELSR
BEMNEENARNERBEAD#F
BWARFEFHITTE - BERFERTY
RUTHERE EEREREENTHEA
B FHEE HRE (ER) Kb
FAARRBEEBRARIH(BEM A
WEBKERERNENME &AL
F - RGEAREAMEERITN) B
BREREFENNE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest

on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHERw@
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) @I A
Financial assets (Continued) SREE @)
Impairment of financial assets LEEEZ A

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit loss
("ECL") on financial assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables,
refundable rental deposits, restricted bank balances, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances) and contract assets. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12 months expected credit loss
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are
done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets without significant financing
component. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balances and/or collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

3.

BEAEHBE @

SRt T B

ERMEE @)
CHEEREE)

(i)

R RREEEN(E)

. EHEERERABEES
BENKETROEL 0175
AT B KT S 0
TR

s BERAREXENERNE
H@ERi

. EBHEBAEBEBEAA
ETROEEALE A
SR AR AN E I LT
FATFIR A -

Tam Lt B R B R0 - ANE
BRA BEA0NTEBREBI0
X AT ERUREERR
ERELEN BFEAKEEEE
BRI FMERERASER® o

AEEEREEHBRERRR
BEEBREZNAAZEEZK
Mo ARBEEBRTETARE
£ DRERZFERESEAN
B RIE B e 2 BRE IR 0 o

BRREEB R AR 2019/20 R

165



166

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR B R M R

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;

° Past-due status; and

° Nature, size and industry of debtors.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXREFEEXm

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
loans from related companies, amount due to a controlling
shareholder, bonds payable, amount due to a joint venture,
bank and other borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial liability at FVTPL

Financial liability is classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Directors are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Estimated impairment loss on film and
television series production in progress

Management of the Company (“Management”) regularly
reviews the recoverability of the Group’s film and television
series production in progress with reference to its intended
use and current market environment. Appropriate impairment
for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit
or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired.

In determining whether impairment on film and television
series production in progress is required, the Group takes into
consideration the distribution and license agreements entered
into by the Group and the current market environment to
project cash flows expected to be received through box office
receipts and distribution and licensing income. Impairment loss
is recognised in the period in which the recoverable amount
is less than the carrying amount. The carrying amounts of film
and television series production in progress as at 30 June 2020
are HK$163,736,000 (2019: HK$134,203,000). An impairment
loss of HK$4,412,000 (2020: nil) has been recognised in
respect of film and television series production in progress for
the year ended 30 June 2019. Details are set out in note 21.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 &, Z20206 A30H It FE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher
of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value
in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the revenue
growth rates, future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, or changes in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash flows,
a material impairment loss may arise. As at 30 June 2020,
the carrying amount of goodwill is HK$448,173,000 (2019:
HK$411,876,000). No impairment has been recognised on
goodwill for the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil). Details of
the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 16.

Estimation of useful lives and impairment of
property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives and
depreciation method in determining the related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment. This estimate
is based on the Management's experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions in the past. Management will accelerate the
depreciation charge where the economic useful lives are
shorter than previously estimated due to foreseeable removal
or closure of factories and office premises. Actual economic
useful lives may differ from estimated economic useful lives.

In addition, the Management assesses impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an item of property, plant and equipment may
not be recoverable. In determining whether impairment
on property, plant and equipment is required, the Group
determines the recoverable amount which is the higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. The
Management has made a number of key assumptions in
the value in use calculation. The key assumptions include
discount rate and the future expected cash flows based on
Management's view of future business prospects and past
performance of the Group. When the recoverable amounts
of property, plant and equipment differ from the original
estimates, impairment loss will be made and recognised
in the period in which such event takes place. The carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2020
is HK$74,689,000 (2019: HK$88,281,000). An impairment loss
of HK$2,189,000 (2019: Nil) has been recognised for the year
ended 30 June 2020. Details are set out in note 14.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets

Trade receivables and contract assets are assessed for ECL
individually or on a collective basis. The provision of ECL is
sensitive to changes in estimate. The information about the
ECL and the Group's trade receivables and contract assets are
disclosed in Note 45b. The carrying amount of trade receivable
as at 30 June 2020 is HK$78,970,000 (2019: HK$140,348,000),
net of an allowance for expected credit loss of HK$2,998,000
(2019: Nil) and the carrying amount of contract assets as at 30
June 2020 is HK$16,599,000 (2019: Nil). Details are set out in
notes 23 and 24.

Impairment assessment of intangible assets

Determining whether intangible assets, which represent the
six-year agency contract associated with an artiste as at 30
June 2020, are impaired require an estimation of the value
in use of calculation. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the cash flows projection expected to
arise from the relevant group entity and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. The estimation
of the budgeted sales and budgeted costs is based on past
performance of the relevant group entity and management'’s
expectations for the market development as well as the
existing performance contracts entered or to be entered
by the artiste. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, or changes in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 30 June 2020, the carrying
amount of intangible assets is HK$102,416,000 (2019: brand
of HK$5,600,000). No impairment has been recognised on
intangible assets for the year ended 30 June 2020. Details of
the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 17.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

5. REVENUE 5. WH
For the year ended 30 June 2020 B £2020F6A30H ILLFE
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with DPIRRBEF AN
customers
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Film and TV series production, distribution B &k BEEIEE - TR
and licensing income BITRFE AR AT A 307,144 415,156
Film exhibition income B PRI A 139,861 243,590
Pan entertainment income paEI PN 18,509 -
Others Hi 20 9,384
Total st 465,534 668,130
Timing of revenue recognition He R U 25 R
At a point in time o7 L B RS 26 415,417 643,272
Overtime T—ERERA 50,117 24,858
Total @t 465,534 668,130
The contracts for sales of goods and provision of services to AR HEERMIERRIEZED
external customers are short-term and the contract prices are TIEBEH AHBRNAREERERFE
fixed and agreed with the customers. W o
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ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

5. REVENUE (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020 (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

a. Film and TV series production, distribution and licensing

i Income from the distribution of own produced
films, variety shows and TV series program is
recognised when the production is completed, the
films, variety shows and TV series program have
been released and distributed to the cinema circuit
and TV broadcast networks and the amounts can
be measured reliably, which are generally when the
cinema circuit and TV broadcast networks confirms
to the Group its share of box office receipts and

profit entitlement.

ii. Income from the licensing of the distribution
rights over films and TV broadcast networks are
recognised when the Group's entitlement to such
payments has been established which, subject to
the terms of the relevant agreements, is usually
upon delivery of the film negatives, variety shows
and TV series program to the customers and TV

broadcast networks.

b. Film exhibition

i Income from box office takings for film exhibition is
recognised upon the sale of tickets and when the

film is released.

il Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when
the goods are delivered and titles have passed.

@ Pan entertainment

Income from pan entertainment services is recognised
when the services are delivered to the customers.
Revenue is recognised at a point of time when the

services are delivered.
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ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

5. REVENUE (Continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2020 (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

d. Others
i Revenue from the sale of post-production goods is
recognised when the goods are delivered and titles
have passed.

ii. Income from advertising service is recognised upon
the provision of the services. Service income is
recognised when services are provided.

iii. Income from the screen advertising is recognised
when relevant advertisements and programme
are exhibited pursuant to the terms of the relevant
agreements.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with

customers

All performance obligations for film and TV series production,
distribution and licensing, film exhibition and others are for
periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 & %202056 A30H |- F &

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker
("CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance is based on the following
four reportable and operating segments identified under
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments for the Group’s annual financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2020.

(i) Film and TV series production and distribution;
(i) Film exhibition;

(il)  Pan entertainment; and

(iv)  Others

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group commerced
the business in Pan entertainment through the Group’'s PRC
subsidiaries.

The accounting policies of the operating and reporting
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment profit (loss) represent the profit
earned or loss incurred by each segment without allocation of
certain other gains and losses, other income, certain selling
and distribution expenses, certain administrative expenses,
certain finance costs, fair value change on contingent
consideration payable, gain on disposal of associates, loss on
disposal of subsidiaries, share of results of a joint venture and
share of results of associates. This is the measure reported
to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. 7HER @

Segment revenue and results DENEE R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by operating and reportable segment. Bz REE DT

AT RREERA 2HmD HME D HARE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 B Z2020F6H30H L FE
Film and
TV series
production
and Film Pan
distribution exhibition entertainment Others Total
BER
ERBIRE
REfT E 2/ H IR Hitr @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BETT BT T BRI BT BT T
Segment revenue Rl
- External customers —HNERE 307,144 139,861 18,509 20 465,534
Segment profit (loss) 7 bl (R 61,149 (126,633) (23,082) (1,286) (89,852)
Unallocated head office and  KAEHAE K
corporate expenses PERAY (27,251)
Fair value change on BT AREm
contingent consideration NFEED
payable (6,161)
Finance costs BEMAK (3,557)
Gain on disposal of associates & & A\ Tl 4,258
Loss on disposal of HEMBAREE
subsidiaries (4,838)
Share of results of associates [E{L ¥ N FIEE (855)
Share of results of a joint EE—BeEhE
venture 3 (6)
Loss before tax BEAER (128,262)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER @)
Segment revenue and results (continued) 7D BB R N ZE 4B ()
For the year ended 30 June 2019 B ZE2019F6830HILEE
Film and
TV series
production
and Film
distribution exhibition Others Total
B
BEREIRME
31T ER50S Hh 5T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT T BETIT
Segment revenue A
- External customers —INEER 415,156 243,590 9,384 668,130
Segment profit (loss) 7 i F (&5 18 ) 50,686 (32,764) (7,939) 9,983
Unallocated head office and RO ACHI 4230 &
corporate expenses EFRL (22,686)
Fair value change on FESHARER
contingent consideration nEEE
payable (20,511)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - HE&
plant and equipment REEE (2)
Gain on disposal of HEHE QT
subsidiaries W zs 21,057
Finance costs A R A (1086)
Impairment loss on interests R A RIHEZEH
in associates REEE (16,317)
Share of results of associates JE{LEHA AT 24E (1,484)
Share of results of a joint FEL—REEaEhE
venture 3 97
Loss before tax MR Es 18 (29,969)

HRAREN D BEEMBBLIFE DR
RHTAKENTIZEERRE 85
E2IMEFENEROMN -

As the Group's segment assets and liabilities are not regularly
provided to the Group's CODM, the relevant analysis for both
years is not presented.
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ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information

6. DEER @)

Ht o #RE #

For the year ended 30 June 2020 B ZE2020F6830HILEE
Film and
TV series
production
and Film Pan
distribution exhibition entertainment Others  Unallocated Total
EYRERA
BERET EYRH A At KB @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T BT BET T BETT BETT
Amortisation of intangible assets &/ AR %4 = = (4,389) - - (4,389)
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE
assets (2,378) (106,725) (228) - - (109,331)
Depreciation of property, plant %1% - BERREFE
and equipment (283) (11,717) (39) (1) - (12,040)
Interest income B 197 287 67 - - 551
Finance costs = (4,130) (49,493) (450) = = (54,073)
Impairment loss of PREEEAEER
right-of-use assets - (28,895) - s - (28,895)
Impairment loss on property, 1% BER#&E
plant and equipment RESE - (2,189) = - - (2,189)
Impairment loss on trade ESRNZERERR
receivables (2,998) = - - - (2,998)
Amounts regularly provided to ~ FANEH T T ELE
the CODM but not included RRERTESH
in the measure of segment BRRUEAE
profit or loss: Mes:
Depreciation of right-of-use [FREEENE
assets - - - - (164) (164)
Depreciation of property, plant %1% - BERREFE
and equipment - - = = (12) (12)
Finance costs BERK = = - - (3,557) (3,557)
Share of results of associates ~ [EfEBLRFIEE = = - - (855) (855)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBATER = = - - (4,838) (4,838)
Share of results of a joint venture  [EfE—FIA D ELE - = = S (6) (6)
Gain on disposal of associates  (H EBE A FkE - = = = 4,258 4258

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER @
Other segment information (continued) Hih o 3BE LR @)
For the year ended 30 June 2019 BIE2019F6H30H LFE
Film and
TV series
production
and Film
distribution exhibition Others  Unallocated Total
RUERENT B2 Hith ROE Bar

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETIT AR AR ARTT AR

Amounts included in the HEHMEBRE
measure of segment FrafEmeiE

profit or loss:
Depreciation of property, L ER

plant and equipment RETE (384) (12,227) (1,826) - (14,437)
Interest income MEWA 364 405 2 - 771
Finance costs BEKAE (11,524) - - - (11,524)

Amounts regularly provided to FEIEM T E
the CODM but notincluded ~ &iEREEE
in the measure of segment st E D EIERE

profit or loss: TEDENSE
Depreciation of property, plant #1% - BE L HENE

and equipment - - - (12) (12)
Gain on disposal of HERB AR E

subsidiaries - - - 21,057 21,057
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BER

plant and equipments REEE - - - (2) (2)
Impairment loss on interests ~ FAEE 1 ElIEzS )

in associates REEE - - - (16,317) (16,317)
Finance costs BERAK - - - (106) (106)
Share of results of associates [E{L ¥4 1t R4 - - - (1,484) (1,484)
Share of results of joint [ElE—FaEtE

venture E$ - - - 97 97
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. 7HER@
Geographical information i & & K
An analysis of the Group's revenue from external customers AEERBINDE P RRIZINEER
by geographical market based on where the film and TV series NEEBIRE BT REDEITRER
production, distribution and licensing income, film exhibition SFATU A~ B AR N B At B M = T
and others is derived from are as below: GElDE AT -
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Hong Kong and Macau B8 KR & 152,836 271,051
The People’s Republic of China REARLMBE( AR
(the "PRC") 300,873 382,616
South East Asia Region EyEagp - 9,554
Others Hi 11,825 4,909
465,534 668,130
The Group’'s non-current assets (excluded goodwill, AREBREEMEMREIDHIEREE
intangible assets, rental deposits and deferred tax assets) by ETEERE BEEE HEKRS
geographical location of the assets are details below: RIEREFRBEE )T -
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$000 HK$'000
BT BT
The PRC s 6,583 550
Hong Kong EEE 736,580 96,318
743,163 96,868
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

‘e IR
For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

6.

2 &8 E #can)
FRAETEEFMNER

HEFER SRR A KB RHEREE

contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as BIO%WEFIT ¢
follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Customer A' EE -2 78,259
Customer B’ BB/ 85,724 73,560
Customer C' BEFER N/ATE s 70,913
Customer D' BwET N/ATE 3 70,378
Customer E! SNyl 129,351 -

i Revenue from film and TV series production and distribution.

2 No revenue is recognised in profit or loss for the corresponding
year.
g The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the

total revenue of the Group.

KEEZRERBEERETELN

ez -

BERBEFEE R R -

HEEEEAEERALBERRMER

10% °

BR

A

>

7] 2019/20 F R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES AND OTHER 7. HulsREEREMIA
INCOME
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
Other gains and losses Hihz= R EiE
Loss on disposal of property, LEVE  BER
plant and equipment REEE = (2)
(Loss) gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE M E A A
(note 42) (518 e (Mi5E42) (4,838) 21,057
Gain on disposal of associates (note 18) &KL QTS (H:E18) 4,258 -
(580) 21,055
Other income Hug A
Handling service income B3R AR A WA 1,936 4,231
Investment income from investments BEEY,/ BB BIER
in film/drama production ‘ERA = 600
Membership income g8IkA 864 1,169
Interest income FLEMA 551 771
Rent concessions He#eE 15,889 -
Government subsidy received 2B AT 1 B 3,556 -
Coupon sales income from film producer KBETFEUEANEE
HEKA 3,515 666
Cinema promotion income B HEERA 4,153 966
Commission income from REBABENERIA
artiste management 8,001 -
Others Hb 3,883 2,944
42,348 11,347
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. RIEA
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Interest expenses on: HUATHREBEZFERYE
Loans from related companies RERB AR ZER 3,379 10,601
Lease liabilities HEaE 49,679 -
Bank and other borrowings RIT R E MR 1,030 923
Bonds payable B EH 3,542 106
57,630 11,630
9. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 9. FiBBl(ER)MX
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Hong Kong Profits Tax BENEN
- current —BNH] = 19
— overprovision in prior years —BEFEBERE - (16)
- 3
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") R EMER ([ SEMER])
- current — BN Ef 349 5,605
— underprovision in prior years - BEFERETE - 127
349 5,732
349 5,735
Deferred tax (note 39) EAERIE (M13E39) (1,234) (16)
(885) 5,719
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 &, Z20206 A30H It FE

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (continued)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Cayman Islands, the
Company is not subject to any income tax in Cayman Islands
for both years. On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative
Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill
2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018
and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

As stipulated in Cai Shui [2011] No. 112, enterprises newly
established in Khorgas special economic areas during the
period from 2011 to 2020 could enjoy EIT exemption for five
years starting from its first profit-making year. The enterprises
engaged in the encouraged industries as defined under the (¥t
BRI R ELTEEREESEMSHEEE &) (Catalogue
of Key Encouraged Developing Industries for Enterprise
Income Tax Benefits in Difficult Areas of Xinjiang*). According
to (R EFT 1S M 18 F F B E & ) (Enterprise Income Tax
Benefits Record*), one of the Group's subsidiaries obtained
the approval from the PRC tax bureau on 23 June 2017 for
entitlement of EIT exemption from 1 January 2017 to 31
December 2020.

* For identification only
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9.

FEHGER)BEX @

BREFSEHSRAEER  AQRRM
FHBAMNTIAREHRSMER -
MR2018F3 A21H » BEAV AL RIB
C0M7FEB B (EET]) (BT GRHIER)
([FZEFR]) - BRI AR SRR -
ZEEMN2018F3 28R K EEX A
EE TR BEHEZFRTIE - BREF
BEHMAH - cEBEBEEREAR
2,000,000 7T % FI A9 Bl % £8.25% + 1M
3B 2 000,000 TR HE M AT R A
16.5% ° TEFAFEHMAHNERE
B2 SRR S 1216.5% 2 B — T R
UGS TE o

REPECEMSHA(TREREH
EDNREEMBSBEREMRGS - B
BRRNMFBARES25% °

i TR 2 BB TR AR AR
HO 2 B -

HIHL201111125% 8 %E » 20119 E2020
FHENERRMSEREERZ RO
MEEABEEEEERFNFERET
T FARERECEMSH - EF 0
HECEREGIERSE SR E
BREXECEMSHERES)MIER
RZE BT - REB(DEMBRESR
EEEHERER)  AEBEF—HHEBA
AI20174F6 A23 B ESH AT K Bt
0 B20179F181HE2020%12 A31
HIEHMZECEMSHARESR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9. FEHMAXm

The tax (credit) charge for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss

FABIE(ER) X BERA Bas MM
2 E Y a3 TR B BRI AT B 1R T S AR 10

and other comprehensive income as follows: T
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loss before tax MR TR E 18 (128,262) (29,969)

Tax credit at the domestic income
tax rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%)

AR PR S T 16.6%
AENRERS

(2019%F : 16.5%) (4,945)

Tax effect of income not taxable for BAZRHBRAN TG 2

tax purpose (3,084)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for A a] N5 X AR A o2&

tax purpose 3,080
Tax effect of fair value change on ERSRAREN AT EZEH

contingent consideration payable M E 3,384
Tax effect of deductible temporary AERO R E R EZRERN

differences not recognised HEre 999
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RN BB S 2 20,165
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses &) ST A R FER A R IE S 1B 1Y

previously not recognised Mg g (3,672)
Tax effect of share of results of associates JE{GHE: % N Bl 2EE M TS 2 245
Tax effect of share of results of a joint EE—EEE D EEEN

venture B a (16)
Effect of tax exemption granted to a BT BB AR 2B

PRC subsidiary BENTE (12,245)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R E fih BIARE & & & Kb /B

operating in other jurisdictions REIM TR ENZE 1,697
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETZ 111
Income tax (credit) expense for the year FRAER(EKR)HEX 5,719

For identification only

* o ERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 10. FREE
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
Loss for the year had been arrived FABBIEMGR T&E
at after charging: R 4,049 5,173
Directors’ emoluments (note 11) FEFNEEEI) 4,049 5,173
Other staff costs Hi 8 T 43,463 39,080
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, iE ki@ FlEH &2 -
excluding those of the Directors TEEEEHK 2,948 1,985
Total staff costs BT ABER 50,460 46,238
Auditors’ remuneration IZ SN & 2,600 1,850
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - WEMREITE
equipment 12,052 14,449
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAREEENE 109,495 -
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHE 4,389 -
Cost of film and television rights ERAMIWEL R
recognised as an expense BARMRAER A 161,024 269,714
Impairment loss on film and television BUER B RERE
series production in progress (included EONEREN -3
in cost of sales) (PIASHERA) = 4,412
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BEREERRESE
equipment 2,189 -
Minimum lease payments under THfEEAEB T
operating leases in respect of: HEBERK -
Premises LS = 3,527
Cinemas B - 122,073
Short-term leases rental expenses for YECHHEERSHY
premises 1,412 -
Contingent rents incurred for cinemas BEYEENIATEE 585 1,314
Cost of scriptwriters for film and B RERBIRIEREIKAR
TV series production 20,315 11,500
Cost of services provided for film B NERBIRE
and TV series production Frie 4t 9 AR 75 A AR 24,052 -
Cost of services provided B PTIR B AR A A AR
for film exhibition 46,944 88,067
Cost of artiste and internet celebrity A N BT A 40 E TR
agency business 33,483 14,056
Cost of inventories sold HEFERAR 2,574 5,058
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

EMPLOYEES’' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and the chief executive’s

emoluments

1. EF - THERZRKEESHNE

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year,

ESERITHABHNE

RBGE R LR A R RGP R

disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and CO, is as NESRTBEHENMESHT
follows:
Retirement
Salaries benefit
Directors’ and other scheme
fees allowances contributions Total
&R BIRER
EZhe Hf2gs sHEIHR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BETR BETR BETT BET T
For the year ended 30 June 2020 #,Z202056A30B8 L&
Executive Directors (note a) BTEZ (M)
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson RELE = = - -
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick FEREE = = = -
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (note c) Xt (FfaEe) - 3,564 53 3,617
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors (note b) (KtzEb)
Mr. Wang Bo FREE 144 = = 144
Mr. Xiang Feng Bl 144 - - 144
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson s fthE S 144 = = 144
432 3,564 53 4,049

BIRIREAR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 1. EZ - THEBREE#MS
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) (i)

EERTHATENE @

Directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

190

Retirement
Salaries benefit
Directors’ and other scheme
fees allowances  contributions Total
Hek RIKER
EFHe Hitzal REEE CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT
For the year ended 30 June 2019 £ Z2019%6830H LEE
Executive Directors (note a) YTEE(fHa)
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson RELE - - - -
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick FEREE - - - -
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (note c) Xt (Ffztce) - 2,236 35 2,271
Mr. Wong Pak Ming (“Mr. Wong") — ®iEEEE([EE4E])
(note d) (FizEd) - 2,470 - 2,470
Independent Non-executive BUEHTES
Directors (note b) (KizEDb)
Mr. Wang Bo TREE 144 - - 144
Mr. Xiang Feng &% E 144 - - 144
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson RUERE 144 - - 144
432 4,706 35 5173
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=]
#rah

PSRRI

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(d)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.

Ms. Zhao Wenzhu was appointed as executive director of the
Company on 26 November 2018.

Mr. Wong resigned as the chairman of the board of directors of
the Company on 13 December 2018 and resigned as executive
director of the Company on 1 April 2019.

No emoluments of chief executive disclosed as the Group has
no appointment of chief executive during the years ended 30
June 2020 and 2019.

1M.BEE  THEBREENS

(#8)

EERTHATENE @

BEE

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EXFATRMTEEMEEEREIN
WERRNR B RA LB ELEIRRT
AR -

EXFARBIFRTEEMREETEN
EXNREEERRBDESAREHED
BR#%

WXL T2 R2018511 A26 HEZR
TARARRITES -

EAREDR2018F12 813 BT AR
RIEESEHERE - WEK2019F4
B1BBEARBRITESR

AN AREEREE2020%F %201956 A
0B ILFESES(TITHRES, I E
WRITHAENOE -

EIRIREAF R A7) 2019/20 Ff
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Employees

Of the five highest paid individuals of the Group, the number of

(#8)

==

1M1.EE  THREBKEEMS

AEEREREHEALED  EFNE

Directors and employees was as follows: ERAEWNT :
2020 2019
20204 20194
Directors 2 1 2
Employees (== 4 3
5 5
The remuneration of the Directors is set out above. The EEMERN EXHT - BT ATHEE
emoluments of the remaining individuals were as follows: R
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEET T
Salaries and other allowances 4 R EH fhERL 7,854 6,636
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RAEFIET 2 60 54
7,914 6,690
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

11.

12.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

11.

EE  THHEIREEM=
(#8)

Employees (Continued) BE wm)
The emoluments were within the following band: BENME N FT5EE
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 7B#1,500,001 T2
75 #2,000,0007T 3 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 7B#2 500,001 7TE
7B%53,000,0007T 1 -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 513,000,001

75 #3,500,0007T

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any
of the Directors or the five highest paid individuals (including
Directors and employees) as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. No
Directors waived any emoluments for the years ended 30 June
2020 and 2019.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 30 June
2020, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2019: Nil).

12.

FR - AEBEBERTAESKAS
EeagAT(BREZERES) XN
©  EARSIEEMAREE LN MA
REB R ERSERBERMBE - BE
20204 201946 A30B ILFE - &
EMEmMERERE RS -

RE
RARREE2020%66 530H IEFEW
AR EEBRMNEMARE - BE®RE

IR LA SR 30 2R 32 38 IR ASHEART RS, (2019
FE)

EIRIREAF R A7) 2019/20 Ff
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. EREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to RABHEE ANEGFRENEIRTIIRE
owners of the Company is based on the following data: ATEUETE -
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Loss Eis
Loss for the year attributable to owners (T ESRERNEENAR QT
of the Company for the purpose of A AEEFAEIE
basic loss per share (126,598) (35,504)
2020 2019
20204 20194
Number of shares BROEE
Weighted average number of ordinary STESREREEN TR
shares for the purpose of basic loss hnaEF g R EL
per share 2,595,613,733 2,595,613,733
No diluted loss per share for both years were presented as the I 4 2 512020F & 201 9F M [l F [Z 1)
Company has no potential ordinary shares to be issued for both SREEEE - AR ARRTER

2020 and 2019.

MEFERTEEEBR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y% - BERRE

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor Computer
improvements equipment vehicles equipment Total
B %8
HE#E T RE ERRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BRI BT BRI
COST A
At 1 July 2018 12018574 1R 133,567 23,047 1,762 16,119 174,495
Exchange adjustments ERAZ - (1) - 2) (3)
Additions NE 3,990 250 495 359 5,094
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEH B AR - 20 - 53 73
Disposals HE - (2) - - (2)
Disposal of subsidiaries note 42)  HEFBAR (Fizh42) (633) (62) - 6,701) (7,396)
At 30 June 2019 7201956 A30R 136,924 23,252 2,257 9,828 172,261
Exchange adjustments SR - (1) (17) (4) (22)
Additions NE - 248 650 176 1,074
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—RH B R (HF41)

(note 41) - 125 - - 125
Disposals HE - - (1,761) (75) (1,836)
Disposal of subsidiaries note 42)  HEFBAR (FizH42) (626) (139) - (1,406) (2171)
At 30 June 2020 1202046 A30H 136,298 23,485 1,129 8,519 169,431
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Z:{FERRE

AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2018 1201857418 54,268 9,149 912 11,161 75,490
Exchange adjustments ERAZ - (1) - (1) 2)
Provided for the year EnkE 7,026 2,719 27 4,433 14,449
Eliminated on disposal of REENBARE S

subsidiaries (note 42) (PizE42) (103) (48) - (5,806) (5,957)
At 30 June 2019 72019564307 61,191 11,819 1,183 9,787 83,980
Exchange adjustments B 5 R - - (2) (1) (3)
Provided for the year EnkE 7,067 4,756 205 24 12,052
Eliminated on disposals it 6 = - (1,295) (20) (1,315)
Eliminated on disposal of P EME L AR

subsidiaries (note 42) (Pizr42) (626) (139) - (1,396) (2,161)
Impairment loss recognised FRRRNRERR

for the year 2,059 110 - 20 2,189
At 30 June 2020 14202046 A30H 69,691 16,546 91 8,414 94,742
CARRYING AMOUNTS RE®
At 30 June 2020 12020F6 4308 66,607 6,939 1,038 105 74,689
At 30 June 2019 20196 A30H 75,733 11,433 1,074 41 88,281

BIRIR

“BRAR

<
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per
annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the leases term

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Computer equipment 20%

Due to the unsatisfactory operating results of film exhibition
operations under COVID-19 outbreak period, as at 30 June
2020, for the purpose of impairment assessment, the
recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets was determined based on value in
use calculation of the film exhibition segment which was
performed by Management. The calculation uses cash flow
projections of the film exhibition segment based on financial
budgets approved by the Management covering a five to
twelve years period with an average revenue growth rate of
5% to 45% (2019: 5% to 40%) and a pre-tax discount rate of
13.00% (2019: 12.97%) per annum as at 30 June 2020. Cash
flows beyond the five to twelve years are extrapolated using
a steady expected inflation rate of 3% (2019: 3%) per annum.
Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation relate
to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows of film exhibition
segment which include budgeted sales and budgeted
costs. Such estimation is based on the film exhibition’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the market
development. The Directors believe that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount of the film exhibition segment to exceed
its recoverable amount.

The difference of recoverable amount, which was determined
based on the value in use calculation, to carrying amount of
the film exhibition segment was recognised as impairment
losses which were allocated to property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets and charged to profit or loss in the
current year. During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group
recognised impairment losses of HK$2,189,000 (2019: Nil) and
HK$28,895,000 (2019: Nil) of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets in relation to film exhibition segment,
respectively, due to unsatisfactory operating results of film
exhibition operations under COVID-19 outbreak period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n/\l:l E\ﬁ &%M#E_\JI_

For the year ended 30 June 2020 &, Z20206 A30H It FE

14. W¥ - RERRE @

btz - BERRERB IAERE
BATERITE -

MERE HEHN
Rk~ HERE 20%
RE 20%
BRI 20%

A COVID-19 48 2 HAfH & &7 pU R 3 75
E’J%«%%Fﬂiﬁuﬁ*ﬁ  R20204E6 B30
CBREFENE  WE - BERR
%L‘A&@Em%éﬁ’ﬂuﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. EHEEE
Leased
Cinema buildings Others Total
B EHEEF Hith st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETIT EBTT B%TRT BRI

cosT A
At 1 July 2019 201957 A1H 797,907 1,738 800 800,445
Additions NE - 5,199 - 5,199
Acquisition of a subsidiary WHE—EWE A

(note 41) (MizE41) - 1,059 - 1,059
Exchange adjustments b H B - (1 (1) (2)
At 30 June 2020 R2020F6 A30H 797,907 7,995 799 806,701
ACCUMULATED Rt

DEPRECIATION
At 1 July 2019 201957 H1H - - - -
Provided for the year FREE 106,725 2,266 504 109,495
Impairment loss recognised 71828 FR MERR B E &S

in profit or loss 1B 28,895 - - 28,895
At 30 June 2020 7202096 A30H 135,620 2,266 504 138,390
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 30 June 2020 7202096 A30H 662,287 5,729 295 668,311
At 1 July 2019 7201947418 797,907 1,738 800 800,445
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 &, Z20206 A30H It FE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019, the Group leases
cinema, leased buildings and equipment for its operations.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed terms of two to
fifteen years, but may have extension options as described
below. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period of which the contract is
enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for certain
of its office premises in the PRC. As at 30 June 2020, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term leases rental
expense disclosed in note 10.

The Group has extension options in a number of leases for
cinema. These are used to maximize operational flexibility in
terms of managing the assets used in the Group’s operations.
The majority of extension options held are exercisable only by
the Group and not by the respective lessors.

The Group assessed at lease commencement date/date of
initial application whether it is reasonably certain to exercise
the extension options. There are no extension options which
the Group is not reasonably certain to exercise. As at 30 June
2020, lease liabilities with the exercise of extension options of
HK$393,546,000 are recognised.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise an extension option upon the occurrence
of either a significant event or a significant change in
circumstances that is within the control of the lessee. During
the year ended 30 June 2020, there is no such triggering
event.

An impairment loss of HK$28,895,000 (2019: Nil) has been
recognised on right-of-use assets during the year ended 30
June 2020. Details of impairment assessment are set out in
note 14.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 15. EAREEw)

Variable lease payments

Leases of cinema are either with only fixed lease payments
or contain variable lease payment that are based on 12% to
38% of certain revenue in cinema and minimum annual lease
payment that are fixed over the lease term. The payment
terms are common in Hong Kong where the cinema operates.
The amounts of fixed and variable lease payments paid/payable
to relevant lessor for the year ended 30 June 2020 are as
follows.

FEIHE AR

B EEERERENKKBEZ
FBHRENR MENEREXRE T
@m12%E38%MTE * MEEFEMRE
MNRAPEHBPET - ZEBERRER
BEMWEEASREE - BiE2020%6
A30RILEE - B FE THEEEAE
ARMETE MZSHEENRESTBOT -

Number of Fixed Variable Total
cinema payments payments payments
B RHEAE & E 5K FER 76
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BT T BT
Cinema with variable lease K& FEHEN KL
payments A 1 61,935 585 62,520

The overall financial effect of using variable payment terms is
that higher rental costs are incurred by the cinema with higher
sales. Variable rent expenses are expected to continue to
represent a similar proportion of cinema sales in future years.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$757,452,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of HK$668,311,000 as at 30
June 2020. The lease agreements may not be used as security
for borrowing purposes.

Details of lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out
in note 36.

ERFBNRERNBECVBZER -
BEXHERASHEHENARR KK
2F BHFHHSHAEER REE
B LBl E R L E -

FHEPRHI=k 2%

AN - 3202096 A30H - HEAGES
#5757,452,000 C B AR A (5 R IE & E 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

16. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT 16. BI& KRB ETfh
ASSESSMENT
Goodwill
GEES
HK$'000
BT T
COST Jo#N
At 1 July 2018 R2018F781H 181,084
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 41) W BB 8 2~ A B EE A (B RE41) 411,876
At 30 June 2019 201956 H30H 592,960
Exchange adjustments PE 54, 382 (17,887)
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (note 41) W ks — R B A B E A (M 3E41) 54,184
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 42) HEMB AR (MiF42) (181,084)
At 30 June 2020 7202066 H30H 448,173
IMPAIRMENT RE
At 1 July 2018 and 30 June 2019 7201857 H1H&2019F6 A30H 181,084
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 42) HEME AR (MiE42) (181,084)
At 30 June 2020 7202056 A30H =
CARRYING AMOUNTS BREE
At 30 June 2020 7202046 H30H 448,173
At 30 June 2019 201956 H30H 411,876
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been ARENSEmMS  BECESEZ@EER
allocated to individual subsidiaries, each of which constitutes WE AR MBARSZSEBK —ERE
a cash generating unit (“CGU"). The carrying amounts of EXBAN([REeEAEN]) - ZZ1Re
goodwill allocated to these CGUs are as follows: EXEVESR AEREBENT -
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Khorgas Houhai Culture Media Company ZERRHEE(LEEBRA
Limited (note a) al(Mf3ta) 393,989 411,876
B (L8 X tEEBRAA BB (L8) )Xt EEBRAR]
(“Wenlan”) (note b) (B (H5Eb) 54,184 -
Chili Advertising & Promotions Limited Chili Advertising & Promotions
(“Chili”) (note c) Limited([ Chili]) (Fiz¥c) = -
448,173 411,876
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR B R M R

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

16. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
ASSESSMENT (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group had acquired the
entire equity interest in ERRHE S XLEEHFR A (Khorgas
Houhai Culture Media Company Limited) and its subsidiary, it
REE L EE AR AT (Beijing Juhai Culture Media Company
Limited) (collectively known as the “Khorgas Group”) and
goodwill of HK$411,876,000 was resulted from the acquisition
of subsidiaries.

The recoverable amount of Khorgas Group has been determined
based on a value in use calculation.

The calculation of the recoverable amount of Khorgas Group
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a 5-year period with an average annual
revenue growth rate of 3% to 38% (2019: 2% to 40%) and pre-
tax discount rate of 20% (2019: 20%) per annum as at 30 June
2020. Cash flows beyond the 5-year ended are extrapolated
using a steady expected inflation rate of 3% (2019: 3%) per
annum. Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation
relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include
budgeted sales and budgeted costs. Such estimation is based
on Khorgas Group's past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development. The Directors believe
that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of CGU’s to exceed its
recoverable amount.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the management
determined that there is no impairment on the CGU of Khorgas
Group containing goodwill (2019: Nil)

16. A& KB E G @

Wi

EHZE2019F6A30R LFE - AEH
ERBEARMEELERERA
ARENB AR RBEE X LEES
BRAR(ABAERARNEEDNE
AR - MBI BARELE ZHE
A 7E%411,876,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR B R M R

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

16. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
ASSESSMENT (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(c)

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group has acquired
60% of equity interestin BB ( E8) X{ELEHEHXEER QA
("Wenlan") and goodwill of HK$54,184,000 was resulted from
the acquisition. Details are set out in note 41.

The recoverable amount of Wenlan has been determined based
on a value in use calculation.

The calculation of the recoverable amount of Wenlan uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a b-year period with an average annual
revenue growth rate of 3% to 62% and pre-tax discount rate
of 27.6% per annum as at 30 June 2020. Cash flows beyond
the 5-year ended are extrapolated using a steady expected
inflation rate of 3% per annum. Other key assumptions for the
value in use calculation relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted sales and budgeted costs.
Such estimation is based on Wenlan's past performance and
management's expectations for the market development. The
directors believe that any reasonably possible change in any
of these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of
CGU's to exceed its recoverable amount.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the management
determined that there is no impairment on the CGU of Wenlan
containing goodwill.

On 30 November 2019, the Group entered into an agreement
to dispose of the entire equity interest in Chili Advertising and
Promotions Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as “Chili Group”), indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company, to an independent third party of the Group, at
a cash consideration of HK$7,000,000. Chili Group engaged
in advertising and marketing business. The disposal was
completed on 10 December 2019, on which date when the
control of Chili Group passed to the acquirer. Details are set out
in note 42.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20

16. A& KB E G @

BieE - ()

(b)

HZE2020F6A30HILFE A% H
WHERBE(LEE) XEEEBER AR
(TEB1)60% /AR - MUkEEIRE
4B 554,184,0007C © FEIBE N
MizE41 o

EORr R e E e BRIz E B EEFTE
SEEEE ©

20206 A30H @ ERMAT Y E S
BT EE A EREEER TR
ERFHETFHEBFREERENT
3% £ 62% 2 B 5 TE E W £ A B Al
B EME276%HEMNR SR
Al - BAAFHNRESRE N ERE
TEHRHBEFRFANEIRHSE - Hity
FREEFENEIERLEAERE
HERBERAZRESRA L MH
STAER o B REBEEENBAER
BEEBEHMBSHE ZEHEDL -
EEEGE HEBRZZEMNAERA 4
BB IreEBHcELENEARE
B E AR ESEE

BE202056 H30R L5 E  BEE
Y BRAEMNERCRSELE
R0 & IR ME o

72019411 A30R8 » NEERT L
FNAR—BAREEBIE=FH
ERA QA REZEWE 2 FChil
Advertising and Promotions Limited
REMBAR([SEAIChilikE ])H
2 ERHE - e REARE7,000,000
7L o Chili S B e B R & IHETS -
L& EIHM2019612 A10H (BIChIli
SEZESREEERETNBEE) T
B o FEIREUNBIFE42 ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. B EE

Publishing
Agency cooperation
contract Brand agreement Total
REEH BE HREEHR Bzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
COST B
At 1 July 2018 and 30 June 2019 720187 A1 K&
20196 A30H - 5,600 31,900 37,500
Acquisition of a subsidiary W —RH B AR (HiFFa1)

(note 41) 106,805 - - 106,805
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 42)  {HEMBAF (FifiF42) - (5,600) (31,900) (37,500)
At 30 June 2020 2020F6 A30H 106,805 - - 106,805
ACCUMULATED ZBERHE

AMORTISATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2018 and 30 June 2019 72018F7A1H I

201946 A30H - - 31,900 31,900
Provided for the year FREE 4,389 - - 4,389
Eliminated on disposal of P ENT B L Al s

subsidiaries (note 42) (PzE42) - - (31,900) (31,900)
At 30 June 2020 #2020%F6 A30H 4,389 - - 4,389
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 30 June 2020 7#2020F6 A30H 102,416 - - 102,416
At 30 June 2019 #2019F6 A30H - 5,600 - 5,600
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Agency contract

The agency contract is a six-year agency contract associated
with Ms. Yang Chaoyue (“Ms. Yang”) who is a famous artiste
in the PRC which is held by Wenlan, an non-wholly owned
subsidiary acquired by the Group on 12 March 2020. It is
identified as an intangible asset to the Group at the date of
acquisition of Wenlan and it is amortised over 6 years.

As at 30 June 2020, the recoverable amount of Wenlan has
been determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by Management covering a six-year period
and a pre-tax discount rate of 27.6%. The estimation of the
budgeted sales and gross margin is based on past performance
of Wenlan and Management's expectations for the market
development as well as the existing performance contracts
entered or to be entered by Ms. Yang.

Brand

The brand name is associated to the advertising and promotion
services operated by Chili and it is treated as having indefinite
useful life because it is expected to contribute to net cash
inflows to the Group indefinitely. Therefore, it is not amortised
until its useful life is determined to be finite.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n/\lzl/ﬁ\ﬁ

R PHT E

For the year ended 30 June 2020 &, Z2020F6 A30H It F/E

17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Brand (Continued)

As at 30 June 2019, the recoverable amount of Chili had
been determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by Management covering a five-year period
and a pre-tax discount rate of 11.95%. Cash flows beyond
the five-year period were extrapolated using a steady 2%
expected inflation rate. The estimation of the budgeted sales
and gross margins was based on past performance of Chili and
Management's expectations for the market development. As
at 30 June 2019, no impairment loss was recognised on the
brand as the recoverable amount was higher than its carrying
amount. During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group
disposed of its equity interests in Chili Group and accordingly,
the brand was disposed of during the year ended 30 June
2020.

Publishing cooperation agreement

The Group had ceased publication of the magazine operated by
Chili Group in August 2016 due to its unsatisfactory operating
results. For the year ended 30 June 2016, Management had
taken the termination of the publishing cooperation agreement
into consideration for the purpose of impairment assessment
of Chili Platinum. The recoverable amount of Chili Platinum
had been determined based on fair value less costs of disposal
calculations. Accordingly, the balance had been fully impaired
in 2016.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group disposed of
its entire equity interests in Chili Group to an independent third
party, details are set out in note 42. Accordingly, the publishing
cooperation agreement was disposed of during the year ended
30 June 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

18.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

18. REEE N TINRER

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Cost of unlisted investments in associates  FEE& A RIEY R IR E AR = 74,000
Impairment loss recognised BRI EE 18 - (58,963)
- 15,037

Share of post-acquisition losses and FEAG UL BB 1 5 18 &

other comprehensive expenses, EmemAx

net of dividend received MERE R B - (6,619)
- 8,418

Interest in Jade Dynasty Holdings Limited
(IIJDHII)

JDH is an investment holding company incorporated in the BVI
with limited liability and its subsidiaries (collectively known
as “JDH Group”) are principally engaged in comic publication
and own the intellectual property rights of a database of comic
stories and comic heroes. Management anticipates that the
Group would make use of the intellectual property rights of
the associate (including but not limited to the comic stories
and comic characters) that the Group considers these are
suitable for reproduction as films. The Group is able to exercise
significant influence over JDH because it has power to appoint
2 out of 5 directors of JDH under its Articles of Association.
Therefore, JDH is accounted for as an associate of the Group.

The recoverable amount of the CGU arising from JDH Group
was determined based on value in use calculations which
was performed by Roma Group Limited, an independent
qualified professional valuer not connected with the Group,
as at 30 June 2019. For impairment assessment purpose, the
calculation uses cash flow projections of the associate based
on the financial budgets attributable to the equity interest
of the Group approved by Management covering five-year
period and a pre-tax discount rate of 21.55%. Cash flows
beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a steady 2%
expected inflation rate for the CGU. The key assumption is
budgeted revenue determined based on the associate’s past
performance and the Management's view of future business
prospects.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

18.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Interest in Jade Dynasty Holdings Limited
(”JDH") (Continued)

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group recognised
an impairment loss of HK$6,317,000 of JDH Group due to the
intense competition in the market of comic publication and
licencing the copyrights of comic which resulted in a decrease
in expected future cashflows accordingly. As a result, the
difference of recoverable amount, which was the value in use,
and the carrying amount (containing goodwill) was recognised
as an impairment loss and charged to profit or loss in that year.

On 30 November 2019, the Group disposed of its equity
interest in JDH to an independent third party for a cash
consideration of HK$200,000. Before the disposal, the Group
owned 40% interest in JDH and the investment was previously
accounted for as an investment in an associate using the
equity method of accounting. This transaction has resulted
in the Group recognising a gain of disposal of HK$521,000 in
profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2020.

18. REEE N T RER @)
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Gain recognised in profit or loss RiBa R A W 521

A7) 2019/20 R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Interest in Supreme Art Entertainment
Limited (“Supreme Art”)

Supreme Art is a private entity incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability which is engaged in provision of artiste
management and agency services. Management anticipates
that the artiste of Supreme Art can participate in the film
production of the Group. The Group is able to exercise
significant influence over Supreme Art because it has power to
appoint 1 out of 3 directors of Surpreme Art under its Articles
of Association. Therefore, Supreme Art is accounted for as an
associate of the Group.

The carrying amount of the Group's interest in Supreme
Art is also tested for impairment by comparing with the
respective recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of
the Group's investment in Supreme Art has been determined
based on value in use calculation which was performed by
Roma Group Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group, as at 30 June 2019.
For impairment assessment purpose, the calculation uses
cash flow projections of the associate based on the financial
budgets attributable to the equity interest of the Group
approved by Management covering five-year period and a
pre-tax discount rate of 18.43%. Cash flows beyond the
5-year period are extrapolated using a steady 2.5% expected
inflation rate for the CGU. Other key assumptions for the value
in use calculation relate to the cash flow projections which
include the artiste management fee received, the estimation of
which is based on the Management's view of future business
prospects.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group recognised
an impairment loss of HK$10,000,000 of Supreme Art due
to expiration of certain artiste management agreements for
artiste performance in the PRC which resulted in a decrease
in expected future cashflows accordingly. As a result, the
difference of recoverable amount, which was the value in use
and the carrying amount (containing goodwill) was recognised
as an impairment loss and charged to profit or loss in that year.
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NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fe= A

.

R A PSRRI A

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

18.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Interest in Supreme Art Entertainment
Limited (“Supreme Art”) (Continued)

On 30 November 2019, the Group disposed of its equity
interest in Supreme Art to an independent third party for a
cash consideration of HK$8,500,000. Before the disposal, the
Group owned 40% interest in Supreme Art and the investment
was previously accounted for as an investment in an associate
using the equity method of accounting. This transaction
has resulted in the Group recognising a gain of disposal of
HK$3,737,000 in profit or loss for the year ended 30 June
2020.

18. REEE N T RER @)

RE| 2R %EER ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ
(TEl2 ) 2R o

R2019%11 A30H » ZEB R — % B
VEZHEEERYENRE  Re
R 1B A7 %8,600,0007T ° RHEEE
A - NEBHA Y EA0% RS © MHIX
BRI ARSI EARAR —
ENRIMEE - BLE2020F6A308 1E
FE  ZRHPEPBAEEN BT ER
HE EE RSB 3,737,0007T °

HK$'000

BT T

Cash consideration REaNE 8,500
Less: carrying amount of the 40% investment W A0%IRER L EEEAEN

on the date of disposal REE (4,763)

Gain recognised in profit or loss P18 2 R AR A U 3,737

EIRIREAF R A7) 2019/20 Ff
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The details of the Group's associates at 30 June 2020 and

18. REEE N T RER @)

B BN BB S N A 20204 122019

2019 are as follows: FO6H0RMFIEMT ¢
Place of Principal Proportion of Proportion of
Name of incorporation/  place of ownership interest voting rights
associate registration business held by the Group held by the Group Principal activities
EMAL/ I rREFEAE REBRE
BENRER BIuE BEWE EERMLA REENLA TEEH
2020 2019 2020 2019
2020% 20195 20206 2019%

JDH BVI Hong Kong - 40% - 40%  Comic publication and owns the
intellectual property rights of a
data base of comic stories and
comic heroes

128 EERHE G BERT UARREHNER
BEREANSBENNHER

Supreme Art  Hong Kong Hong Kong - 40% - 33.33%  Artiste management and agency
services

gk i i BEEERRERE

These associates are accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's

associates is set out below and was prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. mﬁﬁ%%ll\\ﬁl H@Eé(?fi)
JDH Group FEWHEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
Non-current assets EREBEE = 69,865
Current assets REEE = 15,067
Current liabilities mEatE - (13,307)
Net assets BEFE - 71,625
From
1 July 2019 to
30 November Year ended
2019 30 June 2019
20194
7R1B & HZE2019%F
20194 6 H30H
118308 #if IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEF T BT T
Revenue Wz 6,811 14,350
Loss for the year attributable to owners  Bt& AT E AEEFEEE
of the associate (1,864) (5,970)

Group's share of loss (note) IR E B AL 51 (B EE) - (2,388)
Other comprehensive income for the year R EM 2 EITA - 762
Group's share of other comprehensive REEEGEMDMZEEA
income - 305
Note: As the Group has been fully impaired its interest in JDH as at Mzt : ARAEEER2019F6 A30H 5t

30 June 2019, there was no share of loss of JDH by the Group
from 1 July 2019 to the date of disposal of JDH in November
2019.

HRNESYMESETERRRE -
Eit - B2019F7 A1 RZE20195F 11
AHEFEEHE M A&EYL
BEOHE2YEE -

EIRIRLEB R A R) 2019/20 F 3k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. m%%ﬂﬁlm%ﬁ(ﬁ)
JDH Group (Continued) EFEFHEEH @
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information |l B 7S B R B AR A B TS R R T
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate RERE S AR REER R
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Net assets of JDH Group FEHREENEEFE - 71,625
Non-controlling interests of JDH Group T EAEEMIEERERE - (95)
- 71,530
Proportion of the Group's ownership REEREE2HEE
interest in JDH Group FiT A fRE i 2 B0 L 151 - 40%
The Group's share of net assets of AEFRELTIEFHEERN
JDH Group BEFE - 28,612
Goodwill SRS - 20,351
Impairment loss recognised ERRRESE(BENE)
(including goodwill) - (48,963)

Carrying amount of the Group's
interest in JDH Group

FREE

AEEREEREEEaH

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REEE N T RER @)
Supreme Art gl
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
Non-current assets EREBEE = 10,735
Current assets MENVEE = 16,540
Current liabilities mEatE - (6,230)
Net assets BEFE - 21,045
From
1 July 2019
to
30 November Year ended
2019 30 June 2019
2019%7H1H8
£20195 HZ=20194F
118308 6H30BLEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Revenue Wz 12,447 15,038
(Loss) profit for the period attributable to 4 A FHEHB A
owners of the associate FEAEERA (B8 ia F (2,138) 2,260
Group's share of (loss) profit AREFEEN(EE)GEH (855) 904
Dividend received from the associate FREEEARRWEZ
during the year % B 2,800 2,200

ERIRLZEG R A F) 2019/20 F3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. EQH%'%@EE@%E(%E)
Supreme Art (Continued) g2 m)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LLﬁﬂ%é{Hﬁ% BN S B TS R B
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate RER I E A R REEN SR

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Net assets of Supreme Art BN EEFE - 21,045

Proportion of the Group’s ownership KEBRNEFTERE

interest in Supreme Art R H - 40%

- 8,418

Goodwill S - 10,000
Impairment loss recognised ERAREBE(EERE)

(including goodwill) - (10,000)
Carrying amount of the Group's interest ~ ANEB R YL EESORE(E

in Supreme Art - 8,418
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 19. R—EEELENER
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cost of unlisted investment R—EEEEN
in a joint venture R ETREKA 52,079 52,079
Share of post-acquisition losses and FEIRURER1& B8 &
other comprehensive expense HEih2mMAX (51,916) (51,910)
163 169

Bounty Productions Limited (“BPL"), a limited company
incorporated in Hong Kong, has been set up solely for the
film production of “Bounty Hunters”. The Group, Harmonious
Entertainment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (“HES") and Bounty
Yoohanhwesa (“BY") held 40.00%, 25.51% and 34.49%
equity interest in BPL, respectively. The board of directors of
BPL, the governing body which directs the relevant activities
that significantly affects the returns of BPL, consists of three
directors of which the Group, HES and BY can appoint one
director each to the board of directors of BPL. The relevant
activities required to be approved unanimously by all these
three directors. Therefore, BPL is jointly controlled by the
Group, HES and BY. As the joint arrangement does not result
in either parties having rights to assets and obligations to
liabilities of BPL, it is accounted for as a joint venture of the
Group.

The details of the Group's joint venture at 30 June 2020 and
2019 are as follows:

HEeRIEARAR([ER]) BREH
AR AERAR BB RE
BB [EB Al - A&E -
Harmonious Entertainment (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd([HES ]) ®2Bounty Yoohanhwesa
(IBY1) 2 RI#A E£40.00% * 25.51%
K34.49% 5K - EREFE(FERAIEXR
AL PHNEREENRE RS
=RERMEK - AR AEE - HESKBY
AEEZA—RESEMAESESE -
AR ELZE—REST —SUE -
Hit - ESHANEE - HESKBYH[FAZE
Hll o ARG ELH T SBEER—H S
HeWEEENRBERE  HESAR
AREENGEDRE -

AEB/AE L DER2020%F %2019%F6
HA30E MBI :

Principal Proportion of Proportion of
Name of Place of place of ownership interest voting rights
joint venture incorporation business held by the Group held by the Group Principal activities
E FREREAE rREfE
RELEER  HEMELLY BEY REERMLH REENLA TEER
2020 2019 2020 2019
2020% 20198 2020% 2019%
BPL Hong Kong PRC 40% 40% 33.33% 33.33%  Production and distribution of
the film
e Bl M EYEERE TR

BIRIREBR AR 2019/20 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (cContinued) 19. R—EEELENER @)
The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in ZEGAVIEHRRAGECETERRE
these consolidated financial statements. FENER o
The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's TXEHINAEBEECERET NS
joint venture is set out below and was prepared in accordance WMEEANRBENTHBERBEE o
with HKFRSs.

BPL E®
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Current assets mENVEEE 450 452
Current liabilities mEaE (42) (30)
Net assets BEFE 408 422
The above amounts of assets T EESBBERE
include the following: IATR&IE
Cash and cash equivalents HeReEEY 7 7
Year ended Year ended
30 June 2020 30 June 2019
HZE20204 HZE2019%F
6H30H 6H30H
IEEE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEETIT
Revenue g - -
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to AEDERBA
owners of the joint venture FE(RFE (F1E) =7 (14) 243
Group's share of (loss) profit REE G (FEE)EF (6) 97
Other comprehensive expense FAREMEERX
for the year - (333)
Group's share of other comprehensive REERE(EEAM
expense 2HEMAX = (133)
Dividend received from BPL FREE WIS

during the year
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued)

BPL (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in a joint venture

19.

R—E

Etwm

BB AR E

B

SRV A

EELENER @

R R Bk
RN —HAELEEENREENS

recognised in the consolidated financial statements: iR -
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEETIT
Net assets of BPL EeEEFAE 408 422
Proportion of the Group's ownership REEBRECFTAR
interest in BPL ez bl 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group's AEERESETZ
interest in BPL BREE 163 169

BR

a

12019/20 &4k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

20. RENTAL DEPOSITS

20. HE®ZRE

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BEET T

Current assets (note 1) mENVE E (MIEE1) 13,389 19,163
Non-current assets (note 2) IERBEE(HFE2) 14,878 30,358
28,267 49,521

Notes:

(1)

Cinema City (Langham Place) Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, had entered into a lease
agreement on 27 December 2013 to rent a cinema situated
in Langham Place (“the Lease Premises”), a prime location
in Hong Kong, and to take the cinema operation for a term of
ten years commencing on 23 July 2014 and expiring on 22
July 2024 (the “Lease”). Based on the terms of the Lease, the
Company is obliged to pay a deposit in a sum equivalent to the
aggregate of three months’ base rent for the tenth year, three
months’ management charges for the first year, three months’
promotional levy for the first year and one quarter's government
rates in respect of the Lease Premises. The operation of cinema
and related operations in the cinema could provide a platform for
the development of the film distribution business of the Group.
As the deposits are refundable with one month notice period,
the amounts were classified as current assets as at 30 June
2020 and 2019.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company have entered into several lease
agreements to rent the cinema premises situated in Chai Wan,
Causeway Bay and Tsuen Wan for terms ranging from five to
fifteen years. As the deposits are refundable at the expiry of the
leases, the amounts were classified as non-current assets as at
30 June 2020 and 2019.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

21. FILM AND TELEVISION RIGHTS AND FILM 21. EXRERAREUARBES

AND TELEVISION SERIES PRODUCTION IN

EXRERE

PROGRESS
Film and
television
Film and series
television production
rights in progress
Bk HEPEER
B AE BRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
COST or#:N
At 1 July 2018 R2018F7H1H 641,201 175,521
Additions NE - 163,139
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 41) W B Bt B8~ J) (BT 54 1) - 109,095
Transfer B 272,729 (272,729)
Exchange adjustments PE 3 - (948)
At 30 June 2019 M20199F6 A30H 913,930 174,078
Additions NE - 190,791
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR (8,142) -
Transfer P 156,237 (156,237)
Exchange adjustments P& R - (5,021)
At 30 June 2020 7202046 A30H 1,062,025 203,611
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND ZE&t#sKiRE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2018 7R2018F7A1H 639,429 35,463
Charged for the year FRZH 269,714 -
Impairment loss recognised for the year S RERHREEIE
(note) (PR3E) - 4,412
At 30 June 2019 7201956 A30H 909,143 39,875
Charged for the year FRLHE 161,024 -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR (8,142) -
At 30 June 2020 202046 A30H 1,062,025 39,875
CARRYING AMOUNTS AR E
At 30 June 2020 202096 A30H - 163,736
At 30 June 2019 M2019F6 A30H 4,787 134,203

{BIRIRLEH IR A 7] 2019/20 F R
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Note:

During the year ended 30 June 2020, no impairment loss Mt :

(2019: HK$4,412,000) was recognised on the production
costs for film and TV production in progress. In prior year,

management was in a view that the production plan for the

films and television production in progress was postponed and

considered that the amount may not be fully recovered as at 30

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

21. FILM AND TELEVISION RIGHTS AND FILM 21. EFRERMEUREES
AND TELEVISION SERIES PRODUCTION IN
PROGRESS (Continued)

EXRERE @)

HZE202066 A30BILFE @ #E
RBEEPETRERENRIEER
TR MR EE B (20194 « B
4,412,0007T) - BEEBEFRAE -
MN2019F6 A30R @ HIEFREF K
EENRETEIE Y RAER

June 2019. IR g2 g E -
22. INVENTORIES 22. &

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEET T
Raw materials and consumables R4 KL H FE G 850 288
Finished goods B2UAY 399 397
Total BET 1,249 685
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23.

The aged analysis of the Group's trade receivables, net of
allowance for credit losses, based on the invoice date which
approximates the respective revenue recognition dates, at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

B2 REAEWRIE

RBEMKR - AEEE 5 EUGR (K
MR EEBRBB) RERAH (KBS
Bz W R A MRESITAT

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Trade receivables B 5 fE W 5RIA 81,968 140,348
Less: Allowance for expected B THEME BB
credit losses (2,998) -
78,970 140,348
Other receivables, deposits and HmEWsIE - ek
prepayments TR RIE 10,038 5,986
Prepayment of interest to bondholders FERHESFE AR S (MEE34)
(note 34) 1,128 884
Prepayment for artiste management HBAETEERL MRE®
agency and scriptwriters TETFRIE 4,160 12,920
Prepayments to suppliers TR~ L FE S RRIE 16,629 -
Other deposits and prepayments for EEREBHEMEZE R
cinema operation SENEE 2,213 2,581
Other receivable TV series producers ERBIRE AR E b E U FRTE 8,637 -
Other tax recoverable HAth A Y [B1 7418 4,506 -
126,281 162,719

EIRIREAF R A7) 2019/20 Ff
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The aged analysis of the Group's trade receivables, net of
allowance for credit losses, based on the invoice date which
approximates the respective revenue recognition dates, at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

23. EZ R EHMERIIE@

RBEMKR - AEEE 5 EUGR (K
MR EEBRBB) RERAH (KBS
Bz W R A MRESITAT

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Trade receivables: B 5 EWGRIA -
0 - 30 days 0£&30H 6,121 18,426
31 - 60 days 31260H 5,218 133
61 - 90 days 61290H 70 11,888
91 - 180 days 912180H 1,093 9,691
181 - 365 days 1812365 H 66,468 97,341
Over one year B —F - 2,869
78,970 140,348

Generally, with the exception of PRC TV series production
customers and post-production customers, who are generally
granted credit period ranging from 30 to 90 days, no credit
period is granted to the Group’s customers. Distribution and
licensing fee from distributors in Hong Kong, the PRC and
overseas countries are normally settled upon delivery of
film negatives to them. On a case-by-case basis, one to two
months of credit period may be granted to its customers with
good repayment history.

As at 1 July 2018, trade receivables arising from contract with
customers amounted to HK$2,875,000.

As at 30 June 2020, included in the Group's trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$15,173,000 (2019: HK$110,094,000) which are past
due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$14,080,000 (2019: HK$109,779,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default by considering
the background of the trade receivables and historical payment
arrangement of these trade receivables. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of expected credit losses assessment of trade and
other receivables are set out in note 45(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS

25.

24. SHEE

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BEET T

TV series production BRI RUE 16,599 -

As at 1 July 2018, the Group has no contract assets.

The contract assets relate to the Group's right to consideration
for TV series production in progress being completed and
not billed because the rights are conditioned on the Group's
future performance. The contract assets are transferred to
trade receivables when the rights become unconditional, i.e.
when the distributor of TV production signed the receipt of
TV program and launched the TV program on its broadcasting
platform.

The amounts are classified as current assets as they are
expected to transfer to trade receivables within twelve months

after the reporting date.

Details of impairment are set out in note 45(b).

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

25.

R2018F7H1H  AEBUTELEHNE
Eo

BHEEEAKBUEBEIHRE M =R
Wk e SUER BR B R ERENBRE -
AR SN TIBURR A & B H R KB
4 o M SN EFEF (ANERR
FRTARKRERS R RRNEERFE
HHERBER)  GHNEENEBER
P EMRIA -

BHZSLERNEREAPRI12EAR
BREEHRUWFR  BRELEIE
BB BB E4L(D) °

BAVEHGFABRSZERERE

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFHEFABREZEREE
— wealth management products - EEEER 7,040 -
Wealth management products are purchased from a bank M—ERTEEVEEERER  HEHD

with expected rate of return ranging from 2.9% to 3.4% per
annum and had maturity date within one year and classified as
financial assets measured at FVTPL. The principal and returns
of these wealth management products are not guaranteed.

WEFEAE29%E3.4% » FIHB A—
FR - UHEARAFESABEZS
BEE ZEVEEEEMNASKE
RALFEIRFE -

EIRIREAF R A7) 2019/20 Ff
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

26.

27.

RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

As at 30 June 2020, the Group has bank balances of
HK$13,098,000 (2019: Nil) placed to banks which are
restricted in usage for a TV production in progress and artistes
management projects in the PRC. The amounts will be
released upon the completion of the TV production and artiste
management projects.

Details of impairment are set out in note 45(b).

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

At 30 June 2020, an amount of HK$667,000 (2019:
HK$664,000) has been pledged to a bank to secure the 4Dx's
equipment rental fees payable to a supplier of 4Dx equipment
for the Group’s operation in the Lease Premises in accordance
with the 4Dx equipment rental agreement dated 20 August
2015. The pledged bank deposits carry interests at a fixed rate
of 0.2% (2019: 0.45%) per annum and it will be mature on 20
August 2020 (2019: 20 August 2019), respectively.

In addition, at 30 June 2020, the Group has new pledged bank
deposit of HK$21,000,000 (2019: Nil) which is carries at fixed
interest rate of 0.3% per annum (2019: Nil) and is pledged to a
bank to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group. The
pledged bank deposits will be released upon the repayment of
the relevant borrowings.

The Group's pledged bank deposits that are not denominated
in the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are as
follows:

26.

27.

SR FIRIT 4R

R2020F6 A30H @ AEERIRTTE R
75 #13,098,0007C (20194 : ) 71K
RERTT - HERERETFHNEZE LT
HEAERIEE - BHSHEENREFR
EREAEBEIREE THKE © A ARER »

R RSB M 45 (b) -
S & HRITIFK

7202096 A30H - # ¥ 667,000 7T
(20194 : #¥664,0007T) 2 K TR
TUAERIBIE B8 A2015%8 A20H K
ADxERBEHEHERASENAEY X
L IE T FE S F ADX R 15 £ FE 7 AU 4Dx %
HHES - BRFRITERIZEEFEF
R0.2%(20194F : 0.45% )5t 8 @ W15
720208 520H (20194 : 201948
H20R)EIH -

AN - 720206 300 - AEER
3B IR IR 1777 308 # 21,000,000 7T
(20194 : £B)ZEEFFE03%EE
(20194 : &) » BB FIRITUER
RYALENBITER - BEFRITE
B PME B BRI R TRER o

REBAEBESBEERIGEEEUINE
EEHENDBRRTERAT :

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BET T BEET T

UsD E7T 667 664

Details of impairment are set out in note 45(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 28. SRITHBRREE
Bank balances and cash of the Group carry interest at market RNEERITEBRIRES THIRA TS F)
rates which are as follows: RKEB
2020 2019
2020 2019%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BETT
Interest rate per annum F R = 0.01% t0 0.29% 0.01% to 0.25%

0.01%%0.29% 0.01%%0.25%

The Group's bank balances and cash that are not denominated NEBEMEEETRI)EEE NG
in the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are as M EMRITESRRSMT
follows:
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Australian Dollar (“AUD") BT (MRT]) 11 207
RMB AR 3,773 29,525
usb = 793 2,509
Euro (“EUR") BT ([BoTl) = 1
HKS B 1,329 1,330
Singaporean Dollar (“SGD") s (M hnsg o ) = 24

EIRIRLEB R A R) 2019/20 F 3k 225
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29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

29. EZ R EHAEN IR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T ST T

Trade payables B ST 5RIA 29,846 48,995
Payables in respect of acquisition of BEEBEYME BEMEKRED

property, plant and equipment FERTFRIB = 10,534
Other payables and accruals HMENFIERERER 40,008 69,391
Investment funds from investors (note i) REREEHIREES (Fi3F) 22,481 51,015
Advances from former shareholder of R B U BE BB A B AT R AY

subsidiaries acquired (note iii) 2SR (BT 35,068 36,343
Consideration payable in respect of BN —HEK B A M ER

acquisition of a subsidiary RAB (541 Kiv)

(notes 41 and iv) 52,800 -
Deposits received (note ii) Bz (M ki) 929 1,116
Payable to film producers (note v) FERERZRIEAFTIB(MFEY) 22,729 3,111
Accrued services fee for artiste EHEEEE LEREIRIER

management and TV series production FEET RIS B A (B aEvi)

(note vi) 12,328 -

216,189 220,505
Less: amount shown under non-current 3 : JERBEBEE 2522

liabilities (note ii) #a (P &Eii) (383) (950)

Amount shown under current liabilities MBBEBTEY2¢58 215,806 219,555

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
I\/\:l /\ﬁﬂ-’ﬁ $&%§M¢E\£

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

29. EZREMENE

RIE ()

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 60 to 90 REEMMFEEEEHAG0E0H -
days. The aging analysis of trade payables presented is based MEHK - B HEMNTENERER SN
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. The E%EA?"%‘—?EHH%W 7N &2 B 7 R 25 B
following is analysis of the Group's trade payables at the end of RKOE ZENAZFESTOT :
the reporting period:
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T ST T
Within 60 days 60H A 13,353 32,607
Within 61 to 90 days 61£290H = 1
Within 91 to 365 days 91&365H 16,493 16,387
29,846 48,995
Notes: B3 -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The investment funds from investors represent the share of
return on investment to other investors of TV series produced by
the Group.

Deposits received represent deposits received from a cinema
circuit operator in Hong Kong for a film to be theatrical release
in Hong Kong and licensing deposits received from the licensee
which are refundable at the expiry of the licenses. As at 30 June
2020, an amount of deposits received of HK$546,000 (2019:
HK$166,000) will expire in November 2020 (2019: November
2019) and therefore the amount was classified as current
liabilities. The amount of HK$383,000 (2019: HK$950,000), was
to be expired in February 2022, and therefore was classified as
non-current liabilities.

The advances from former shareholder of subsidiaries acquired
are non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

The consideration payable in respect of acquisition of a
subsidiary represented the acquisition of of 60% equity interest
in Wenlan in March 2020. Details are set out in Note 41. As the
amount will be settled within one year at the end of reporting
period, therefore, it is classified as current liabilities.

The amounts represented the payable due to the film producers
who placed their films to be released in the Group's film
exhibition and the films had been completed its theatrical
release during the year ended 30 June 2020.

The amounts represented the accrued services fee payable to
the artiste management agency, film director and scriptwriters
of TV series production.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

KEREENREESEAEE PR
ENERBINEMIRE R ZRE DR
fn%8

EH&&%M@*%E%% > e AR Aok ) —

HEFOWETBEYRREBELELS
&QZ%%m&*/\uﬁzﬂxm%%%ﬂ%)@i%
R ARIB M FT R ABBIZES - 12020
F6H30H - B UEE 546,000
(20194 : ##166,0007T) IR & &
7202011 A (20194 : 20194 11
BRI AkzeEmsBanga
& o X4 EEH1383,0007T (20194 :
7 #950,0007T ) 72202242 A B8 -
At AERBEE -

RE IR EEHT B A R BT AR R A BB
FESMHE EER  RERARE
KIEE -

BRNE—HERBRATNRENRERS
720204 3 A Y iE B R 960 % AR & -
FISE N T4 - BN BEBEREBR

BEMR—FANEE - HOERRY
afE-
BRFEERNERZEEANA

%?éf’ﬁ/\fﬂ’ﬁ-&%ﬂﬁ%ﬂi%l%%ﬁ&ﬂ%
L MAEBMEXENEE202056

AB0H IEFE e E bR o
ERZRERNAREREEEL

EXEHRERBBERE MRS R
BER -

BIRIRLEB R AT 2019/20 FEif
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30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
-

ANy = /ﬁﬁ%ﬁ&%l}ﬁ%f

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

30. BB E

30 June 1 July

2020 2019

20204 20194

6H30H 7H1H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Advances from customers BERPER 60,695 46,562

As at 1 July 2018, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$154,663,000.

The amount of HK$46,562,000 as at 1 July 2019 had been
recognised as the Group's revenue during the year ended 30
June 2020. The Directors considered that the entire amount
of contract liabilities as at 30 June 2020 will be recognised as
revenue within twelve months subsequent to 30 June 2020.

Deposits are received by the Group as the instalments of
contribution from the PRC co-producers for film and TV series
production in progress and advances of distribution and
licensing income received from distributors prior to release
and delivery of film negatives and TV series program. Payment
terms are negotiated in contract by contract basis. When the
Group receives certain percentage of deposits as an advance
payment upon signing the contract, this will give rise to
contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue
is recognised upon the relevant performance obligation is
fulfilled.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20

MR2018F7HA1H »r A BEBEABK
154,663,0007T °

R2019F 7 A1 BHHN & BEA B
46,562,000 7T 2 7 8 2= 20204 6 A 30
HIEFEBRRATEEMNKE - EFR
B R2020F6 A30BMENEALNERE
S HAER2020F6 A30H EZ+ — @ A
WIER A -

AEEESZSETERA R B
EREZ RERBIELOH D HHE MR
FRBREXNEZ RERBIFHER
Al BT ETT RBITRERTA
WAFERFIR - (FRBBRBESORE
HWNEER - EAKERFRR A AL
ETEDLHNASIERFAKRIER - &
RENHARBELEANRE  EERH
BARTTERRERRERLE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 31. BRITREMER
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
Secured bank borrowings: BB ITER
Variable-rate bank borrowing (note 1) FENFIRIBITIER(FIFED) - 22,800
Fixed-rate bank borrowings (note 1) EEMRITRER (M) 22,000 3,420
22,000 26,220
Unsecured other borrowing (note 2) REFEMER(HEE2) 45,000 39,000
67,000 65,220
The Group's bank and other borrowings are repayable as AEERITREMBERFR AT EAME
follows: &g
Carrying amount repayable (based on scheduled repayment EEEERmME(ERETERE) :
terms):
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST IT
Within one year or on demand —FRNBIRENRIEE 22,000 65,220
More than one year, —FLAEMFELAA
but not exceeding two years 45,000 -
67,000 65,220
Less: Amounts due shown under B RREBEE T YIREE
current liabilities: RHOR
On demand or due within one year HRE SRkl —F N F R (3,300) (65,220)
Due within one year and contain a —FAIHE AR ERKE
repayment on demand clause BRI (18,700) -
Amounts due after one year —F g B HIR 5108 45,000 -

BIRIRLEB R AT 2019/20 FEif 229
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(1) During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group obtained new
bank borrowings amounting to approximately HK$22,000,000
(2019: HK$26,220,000) and repaid bank borrowings of
HK$26,220,000 (2019: HK$12,866,000). The Group’'s bank
borrowings are repayable within one year and denominated in
RMB.

(2)  The other borrowing is due to Pure Project Limited in which Mr.
Wong has controlling interests during the years ended 30 June
2020 and 2019. Mr. Wong resigned as the executive director
of the Company on 1 April 2019 and therefore, the advance
was classified as other borrowing since 1 April 2019. The other
borrowing of HK$39,000,000 as at 30 June 2019 was unsecured
interest-free and repayable on demand. During the year ended
30 June 2020, the Group borrowed an additional advance of
HK$6,000,000 from Mr. Wong. As at 30 June 2020, the Group
obtained an extension of maturity date of the other borrowing
from Pure Project Limited for more than one year and therefore,
the other borrowing is unsecured, interest-free and classified as
non-current liabilities.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal
to contracted interest rates) per annum on the Group’s bank
borrowings are analysed as follows:

31. RITREMER @

GEX

(1)

(2)

HZE2020F6 A30R LLFE - A%H
V1S 3R 1T 16 5K 40748 % 22,000,0007T
(20194F : 26,220,0007T) @ WIEER
1718 78 % 26,220,000 7T (2019 4F -
75 #12,866,0007T ) ° ANEEEAIRTT
BRAR—FRER - WIRAREET
& o

HibfER B EMELENEE20206F
%2019 6 A30R I FEHEH R #E
EMEBARRARZRE - HEEER
2019F 4R ABIEARRBIAITES -
WX E2019F4 A1 B A AEME
K o R201946 A30H K E A fE 505
#39,000,000C AEER - £ ERE
RER(EE - HE2020F6 7308 1
FE - NEBRESTEENEINSETK
75 6,000,000 7T ° 72202046 A 30
A AEEHERBRAAREGEAM
ERRB—FRERAR - HEAE
REEER - £ERSEEREDEE -

AEBRTER ZBRFHNEEE (TR
HERDATOME) DT

2020 2019

20204 20194

Fixed-rate bank borrowings RMB EBRITERARKE 4.5% and 4.8% 7.2%
denominated borrowings sHEEXR 4.5%%4.8% 7.2%
Variable-rate bank borrowings RMB FERRITERARE N/A Benchmark
denominated borrowings sHEEX TEA Borrowing Rate

of the People’s
Bank of China
+0.91%
FEAR
$RITEE R
+0.91%

The bank borrowings are secured by bank deposits
of HK$21,000,000 and guaranteed by an insurance
company in the PRC (2019: secured by trade receivables
of RMB32,627,000 (equivalent to HK$37,195,000) and
guaranteed by an insurance company in the PRC).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

32. LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES

32. REBABATNER

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEETIT

Loans from related companies BB AR ER
— Loan 1 (note i) - B (KD - 36,473
— Loan 2 (note ii) - B2 (Ht5Fii) - 161,695
- Loan 3 (note iii) - B3 (F i) 25,303 27,801
— Loan 4 (note iv) - B4 (FIzEIv) 89,721 -
— Loan 5 (note v) - B (FIsEy) 5,000 -
120,024 225,969

Analysed as: Paxilv =2

— Current liabilities —-REaE 30,303 64,274
- Non-current liabilities —FREBEE 89,721 161,695
120,024 225,969

Notes:

(i)

On 11 January 2019, Guangzhou Daide Management
Consultancy Company Limited (“Guangzhou Daide”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, borrowed an aggregate loan
advances of RMB31,000,000 (equivalent to HK$34,100,000)
from Guangzhou Seedland Real Estate Development Limited
(“Guangzhou Seedland”), a company in which Mr. Zhang,
the controlling shareholder and the executive director of the
Company, has controlling interests. The loan advances are
unsecured, interest-bearing at 7% per annum and repayable in
January 2021. On 1 July 2019, Guangzhou Daide and Guangzhou
Seedland signed a supplemental loan agreement to change the
interest rate from 7% per annum to zero with all other terms
remain constant.

On 25 June 2020, Guangzhou Daide and Guangzhou Seedland
entered in a loan assignment agreement with Guangzhou
Puji Real Estate Agency Co. Limited (“Guangzhou Puji"), a
related company in which Mr. Zhang has controlling interests,
that Guangzhou Seedland agreed to assign the outstanding
loan principal payable of RMB31,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$34,100,000) by Guangzhou Daide to Guangzhou Puji.

Wi

(i)

R2019F1A11H » EMNAEEERE
HARAR(EMNEE](ADE—
MEEWBAR))RAEMNEHEH
ERZEGRAR([EMEM ] (AQ
AMIZERBERERERATESTREER
ZARBEAEIERERS)EBEAAKER
A R #31,000,0007T (HEE KRB
#34,100,0007T) - EXB R A EIEK
B REMET% B RER2021
F1ABE - N2019F7A18 » BN
BEAEEMNEEBHTER R E
A FERRT%EE B0% - FTEHM
1EFRUEIE T o

202066 258 - EMEEREIM
H i B2 Guangzhou Puji Real Estate
Agency Co. Limited ( [ Guangzhou
Puiil ) (—HSREEEBIEREZRD
BEt AR L~ ERERERE
Bt - BNEMREEREMNEEN
REEEREKE AR31,000,000
7t (#8 & R 75 ¥ 34,100,000 T ) F
Guangzhou Puji ©

BRREEB R AR 2019/20 R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n/\lzl/ﬁ\ﬁ

R PHT E

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

32. LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(Continued)

On 29 June 2020, the shareholders of Guangzhou
Daide approved to issue a perpetual bond amounted to
RMB31,000,000 (equivalent to HK$34,100,000) to Guangzhou
Puji for the outstanding loan balance owed to Guangzhou Puji,
in which the perpetual bond is unsecured, interest-bearing
at 4.5% per annum and Guangzhou Daide has the right to
defer its repayment of interests payable to Guangzhou Puiji.
Therefore, the perpetual bond issued by Guangzhou Daide is
classified as an equity instrument issued by the Group.

Guangzhou Huohua Investment Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Huohua"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, borrowed loan advances of RMB135,000,000
(equivalent to HK$148,500,000) and RMB20,000,000
(equivalent to HK$22,000,000), in January 2019 and
September 2019 respectively, from Guangzhou Seedland.
The loan advances are unsecured, interest-bearing at 7%
per annum and the loans amount with interests accrued are
repayable in 3 years after the loan’s drawdown date. On 1 July
2019, Guangzhou Huohua and Guangzhou Seedland signed a
supplemental loan agreement to change the interest rate from
7% per annum to zero with all other terms remain constant.

On 25 June 2020, Guangzhou Huohua and Guangzhou
Seedland entered in a loan assignment agreement with
Guangzhou Puji that Guangzhou Seedland agreed to assign the
outstanding loan principal by Guangzhou Huohua to Guangzhou
Puji.

On 29 June 2020, the shareholders of Guangzhou
Houhua approved to issue a perpetual bond amounted
to RMB155,000,000 (equivalent to HK$170,500,000) to
Guangzhou Puji for the outstanding loan balance owed to
Guangzhou Puji, in which the perpetual bond is unsecured,
interest-bearing at 4.5% per annum and Guangzhou Huohua
has the right to defer its repayment of interests payable to
Guangzhou Puji. Therefore, the perpetual bond issued by
Guangzhou Houhua is classified as an equity instrument issued
by the Group.
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32. REBEBEATNER @)

it

(i)

(ii)

(8)

(%)

202056 4298 - EMEERE
[ & ¥ & f Guangzhou Puji B &
18 32 B 34 88 7 Guangzhou Puji#
75K 48 18 A K 31,000,000 7T ( 48
& 778 34,100,000 ) + B K
BEAERT  RFFNEI5%E
S MEMBEERETEEREEN
Guangzhou PujifIF| B - At - &
MEEHTHKBEBEEIBEALSE
EETHERTIA -

201941 A K%2019F9 8 + BN A
TEREBRAR(TEMAIED) (AR
Al—HEE2EMBRAR)NEMNEHD
RlfE AERE A KK 135,000,000
7L (48 & 7 7 %5 148,500,000 7T ) &
AR #20,000,000 7T (FHE R B
22 000,0007T ) ° B R E R A K

&Eﬂ@%ﬂé?ﬁ%%ﬁ%%ﬁ&

.ﬁﬂ BAREZIRR B HEIER
1aaa EA2019¢7H1E| EMNAE

HEN R BB R ERGE A
B EFIRT%BE RO% + FiE
BRERTE -

202064250 - BMAIERE
N & B2 Guangzhou Pujiz] 3 — 5
ERERHE Bt BNEMR
EEEENIENREZENRAS
F Guangzhou Puji °

202056 4298 + B AIERE
B & 5t & it Guangzhou PujiRy & &
BB LM Guangzhou PujiZfT
oK 48 f& A R ¥ 155,000,0000 7T ( 48
E RS #170,500,0007T) @ &K
BEAERM  RFFNEI5%ET
g MEMAEERETEEREEN
Guangzhou Pujifg %Il 8. o E ikt - BEM
ANEBITHRXBERE I EARAEH
BITHRR A -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR B R M R

For the year ended 30 June 2020 &, Z2020F6 A30H It F/E

32. LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

During the year ended 30 June 2019, Khorgas Houhai Culture
Media Company Limited (“Khorgas Houhai"), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, borrowed an aggregate loan
advances of RMB38,000,000 (equivalent to HK$43,700,000)
from Guangzhou Seedland. The loan advances are unsecured,
interest-bearing at 7% per annum and repayable on 31
December 2019. The Group made a partial repayment of
RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to HK$17,250,000) with interest
payable to Guangzhou Seedland during the year ended 30
June 2019. Remaining principal amount of RMB23,000,000
(equivalent to HK$25,300,000) with interest payable was
settled in the current year.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, Khorgas Houhai,
borrowed a new loan advance of RMB23,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$25,303,000) from Guangzhou Puji. The loan advance is
unsecured, interest-bearing at 7% per annum and repayable
within one year. Therefore the loan is classified as current
liabilities as at 30 June 2020.

The balance represents a loan advance of RMB43,520,000
(equivalent to HK$47,872,000) and a loan advance of
RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to HK$38,500,000) plus accrued
interests of RMB3,044,000 (equivalent to HK$3,349,000) as at
30 June 2020 from Guangzhou Black Hole Investment Limited
(“Black Hole"), a company in which Mr. Zhang has controlling
interests. The loan advance is unsecured, interest bearing at
7% per annum and repayable in July 2021 and August 2021,
respectively. Therefore, the amount is classified as non-current
liabilities at 30 June 2020.

During the year 30 June 2020, the Group borrowed a loan
advance of HK$5,000,000 from Skynova International Limited,
a company in which Mr. Zhang has controlling interests. The
loan advance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 31
December 2020. Therefore, the amount is classified as current
liabilities at 30 June 2020.

33. AMOUNT DUE TO A CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

The amount is due to Mr. Zhang, the controlling shareholder of
the Company, in which the amount is unsecured, interest-free
and has no fixed repayment terms.

32. REBEBEATNER @)

BsE - ()

(iii)

(iv)

HE201966A30BILEE  EB
REESXLBEEERAR(IE
BREHEES)(ARA—ME2ENH
BRra) mEMNEREAAEER
3 A K ¥ 38,000,000 7T (B &
B 143,700,000 ) © B R B
RAEEIE  REMET%T BB
AR 20194F12 A31 BEE - X
EEDNEZE2019946 A30H Ib
FEMEMNBREMNIE S ERA
R % 15,000,000 7t ( 18 & R /8 &
17,250,0007T) :ERIEMNFIE - 8
N& AR #23,000,0007 (H0E A
#25,300,0007T ) & [F FE 1S FI 2 B R
REZ LA -

EHZE202066A30BHILFE  ER®
R H7/E 8 A Guangzhou Pujifé A ¥
BER#a i AR 23,000,0007t (HHE
R #25,303,0007T) - BRI A
AR - 127 % F AR B RAR—
FANER - At - ®¥2020F6 830
B BRXESEAREDARE -

# %% 3§ Guangzhou Black Hole
Investment Limited ([ Black Hole])
(—MRELEBEBEREZNQ
7)) 720206 A30 B E R K
A R # 43,520,000 7T (18 % R #
¥ 47,872,000C ) R E R B R A
R ® 35,000,000 7t ( 18 & % 7B &
38,500,0007T) S INFERT B A R #
3,044,0007T (#H & 1 7%B 13,349,000
JL) o BRBR BB - BFHER
7% B AR D BIZER2021F7A &
20218 AfEIE - At - 202046
A308 FRASBE S EAEERS
BfE-

HE2020F6 A30HIEFE + K&
[ [ASkynova International Limited
(—HREEHBIERERNAF)
BEABRBZKES,000,0005T « B
FBRAEER - £ 85 REMR2020
F12A31BEE - Bt - R20206F
6H30R  FHSEE S BRRDA

&

33. B —RERKRRFNE

FEA AN X PR AR R OR 58 A RO SRR B 4
B 2R REBETEERS -
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34. BONDS PAYABLE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR B R M R

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

34. ERESF

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEETIT

Bonds payable FERHES
Bond 1 BE&1 33,500 22,000
Bond 2 E52 14,500 -
Bond 3 E%3 3,500 -
51,500 22,000

Analysed as: DA
Current mE 22,000 -
Non-current FEMED 29,500 22,000
51,500 22,000

Bond 1 B 1

On 16 May 2019, the Company has entered into the placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the
placing agent conditionally agreed to procure, on a best effort
basis, and the placees who are independent third parties to
the Group to subscribe in cash for the bonds (“Bond 1”) in an
aggregate amount of up to HK$150,000,000 with a maturity
date of one year from the issue date.

Bond 1 will be issued in tranches and Bond 1 are unsecured,
unsubordinated and carried at fixed coupon rate of 9% per
annum which are payable semi-annually in advance from the
date of issue of Bond 1. During the year ended 30 June 2020,
the Company issued in aggregate amount of HK$33,500,000
(2019: HK$22,000,000) to the places of Bond 1 and a
prepayment of bond interests payable in advance amounted to
HK$1,039,000 (2019: HK$884,000) which is included in trade
and other receivables (note 23).

Based on the terms of the placing agreement, the Company
has the unconditional right to extend the maturity date of Bond
1 for another one year from the initial maturity date. Therefore,
Bond 1 of HK$11,500,000 is classified as non-current liabilities
(2019: HK$22,000,000) while the remaining HK$22,000,000
(2019: Nil) is due on May 2021 and therefore classified as
current liabilities as at 30 June 2020.
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M2019F5816H » XA R 2 EBEEER
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HEEF—F o

EHF1EHILEETT - MESF1AERE -
FEELIREFI%EFTEEFF R
B WARESH %77 BRI
FEdft e REE202066 A30H IH4
[E - RAAIEITHEEEE33,5600,0007T
(20194 : ##22,000,0007T) FEH1
EBA - TR ESFFERNTEMNKIEE
#1,039,0007T (20194 : ##884,000
T RTAE 5 R EA U E (H15E23) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & %202056 A30H |- F &

34. BONDS PAYABLE (Continued)

Bond 2

On 16 September 2019, the Company has entered into new
placing agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which
the placing agent conditionally agreed to procure, on a best
effort basis, and the placees who are independent third parties
to the Group to subscribe in cash for the bonds (“Bond 2”) in
an aggregate amount of up to HK$150,000,000 with a maturity
date of three years from the issue date. Based on the terms
of the placing agreement, Bond 2 are matured on the third
anniversary of the date of the issue of Bond 2 or any such other
dates as mutually agreed in writing and shortened or extended
by the Company and the placing agent.

Bond 2 will be issued in tranches and Bond 2 are unsecured,
unsubordinated and carried at fixed coupon rate of 6.5% per
annum which are payable semi-annually in arrears from the
date of issue of Bond 2. During the year ended 30 June 2020,
the Company issued an aggregate amount of HK$14,500,000
(2019: Nil) to the placees of Bond 2 and an accrual of bond
interests payable in arrears amounted to HK$233,000 (2019:
Nil) which is included in trade and other payables (note 29).

Bond 3

On 24 February 2020, the Company has entered into a new
placing agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which
the placing agent conditionally agreed to procure, on a best
effort basis, and the placees who are independent third parties
to the Group to subscribe in cash for the bonds (“Bond 3") in
an aggregate amount of up to HK$150,000,000 with a maturity
date of three years from the issue date. Based on the terms
of the placing agreement, Bond 3 are matured on the third
anniversary of the date of the issue of Bond 3 or any such other
dates as mutually agreed in writing and shortened or extended
by the Company and the placing agent.

Bond 3 will be issued in tranches and Bond 3 are unsecured,
unsubordinated and carried at fixed coupon rate of 6.5% per
annum which are payable semi-annually in advance from the
date of issue of Bond 3. During the year ended 30 June 2020,
the Company issued an aggregate amount of HK$3,500,000
(2019: Nil) to the placees of Bond 3 and a prepayment of bond
interests payable in advance amounted to HK$89,000 (2019:
Nil) which is included in trade and other receivables (note 23).

34. EEFwm

B2

R2019F9H16H » ARRIEEREER
B FESHE - Bt - BERES
16 A b [R] 2 420 8 28 T R L 2 (R 3 3 BT A
(BFEHVAAREERNBYE=7)URE
REBEH([EFH2])  BeBHEaE5
#150,000,0007T * ZIHAR &2 B #77H
HRst =% - REBEREHE 2GR - &
FOREBEITEF2BHR ZBAFE Bl
RAREREEEE S UEERERE
R ERME(TA R EM B ERRIH] o

BEH2E D HLEETT - MiEH2AEER -
IR EIIRTFE.5%E T2 mEF =R
TR BEF2BETHEBEEFY
—k « REE2020F6 B308 L4
[ @ AR R)EE1TEFEE 14,500,000
JL(20194F : &) TEH2EBA - ME
e E 5 A B & #233,0007T (2019
FE)FAES REMER AT
29) o

53

2020928248 ARAIEEEENR
BiIUHREHE Bt BERES
161 1 [R) 25 42 98 38 T RE ZL (R 3 7 B A
(REHEAEENBIE=)URE
REBEF(EHI)) BeBERAE
#150,000,0007T © EIHiH A B %77 H
HIRRAT=F - REEEHRZIER &
FINBITEAIBHR=AFEE B H
AAREREREE HUEMHTE RE
RRERMNEMABEMB AR E -

BEHIBG D ILEIT - MIEHFIAEEA -
FBRELIRTF6.5%ETFRMmFF =R
FFB - BE#H3%1TH BB IRATF
FE o REE202066 A30H 14
& ARQFEEITHEEE A 3,500,0007T
(2019F : ) FEHIEEA » MIE
& % F) B /) T8 1 5/ I8 % 889,000 7T
(2019%F : #)FT AE S R E A EUKK
H(FFEE23) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

35. AMOUNT DUE TO A JOINT VENTURE

The amount is trade-related, unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

36. LEASE LIABILITIES

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is

35. Bt —E&EEERE

ZHETEHNE « WER - R ERE
BB -

36. fHEEE

BRAARSBERAHEANEEENZS

presented below. R e
30 June
2020
20204
6H30H
HK$'000
BT T
Lease liabilities payable: JERHERE
Within one year —F R 71,962
Within a period of more than one year but —%4 LA M4 AR
not exceeding two years 99,935
Within a period of more than two years but MELAE TEUR
not exceeding five years 353,191
Within a period of more than five years HELAE 232,364
757,452
Less: Amount due for settlement within 55 : BB EE FN25]2
12 months shown under current R+ _{EANEER
liabilities KB (71,962)
Amount due for settlement after ERBEFEETNZYZ
12 months shown under non-current R+ REEER
liabilities H) SR IE 685,490

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied is
7% per annum. All lease obligations are denominated in the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR B R M R

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

37. SHARE CAPITAL 37. B
Number of Share
shares capital
[0k 4= [N
HK$'000
AT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each: SREEHB0.00265 LA E @A :
Authorised: EE
At 1 July 2018, 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2020 201878 1H ~ 201946 A30H
20206 H430H 32,000,000,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRAR
At 1 July 2018, 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2020 7201878 1H ~ 20196 A30H
202096 H30H 2,595,613,733 6,489

38. PERPETUAL BONDS

On 29 June 2020, two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company issued perpetual bonds (the “issuers”) amounted
to RMB31,000,000 (equivalent to HK$34,100,000) and
RMB155,000,000 (equivalent to HK$170,500,000),
respectively to Guangzhou Puji, a related company in which
Mr. Zhang, the controlling shareholder and the executive
director of the Company has controlling interest, and the
perpetual bonds are redeemable at the issuers’ option on or
after 28 June 2025. Interests are payable annually in arrears at
a fixed rate of 4.5% per annum, which may be deferred at the
issuers’ discretion and in which event, the Company and the
issuers will not declare or pay any interests or redeem, reduce,
cancel or buy back or otherwise acquire any of the Company’s
and/or the issuer’s securities of lower or equal rank.

The Group is considered to have no contractual obligations to
call its principal or to pay any interests. The perpetual bonds do
not meet the definition for classification as a financial liabilities.
They are classified as equity instruments and future interests
are treated as dividends distribution.

38. KEE

R2020F6 8298 * ARAMMMEZE
EKtE AR (317 A1) mWGuangzhou
PUil( R EIERBERAITE BRI
SHERTERESNBEB AR BTA
A R #31,000,0007T (& R E &
34,100,0007T ) & A R # 155,000,000
JT(HHE R &8 170,500,0007T ) Hy k&
& - MEITAREZENR2025F6 H28H
BN IRERKERE - FlBIZETEF
FIEA5% A - MET AR BB TR
BHEFE - REBRT - AR KRBT
AT & T IRSGK HERF S ER - A
B RS EE O S A E b N UREE A
A& RETT ANBE S RS4RI E
%’ °

AEERASEANREEEEAEH
SAHEEFIE - KBELTHFAaSHE
BENENER - AR BEREa T
AR S EBBEDIK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

39. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 39. EXEHRIREE(BE)
The followings are the deferred tax assets (liabilities) REBRKNFERBAEFERERIEL
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the MEEE(RAGR)REZFHWT :

current and prior years:

Intangible
Accelerated assets
tax arising on
Tax losses depreciation acquisition Total
WiE=EE
EEWN
BAEE MEBERE BREE met

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BETT BT BT

At 1 July 2018 2018F7A1H 1,457 (278) - 1,179
(Charge) credit to profit or loss (3 8%)5t A5 (FH:T9)

(note 9) (211) 227 - 16
Disposal of subsidiaries HERB QA (HFE42)

(note 42) (1,111) 77 - (1,034)
At 30 June 2019 720196 4308 135 26 - 161
Credit to profit or loss (note 9) & Az (FiiEE9) 69 67 1,098 1,234
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEHT B A B (FFE41)

(note 41) 2,414 - (26,701) (24,287)
Exchange adjustments [ 3 R - - (42) (42)
At 30 June 2020 120206 A30H 2,618 93 (25,645) (22,934)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement IR APMIERMERNEIME © BETG
of financial position, and the following is the analysis of the MERMIREFRIBESHODITET

deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BEET T

Deferred tax assets EILFRIBE B 297 161
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIEE F (23,231) -
(22,934) 161
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & %202056 A30H |- F &

39. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)

(Continued)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary differences attributable to undistributed earnings
of the Group's PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$402,563,000 (2019: HK$235,070,000) available
for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of HK$9,544,000 (2019: HK$821,000)
of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining tax loss of HK$393,019,000 (2019:
HK$234,249,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
HK$5,235,000, HK$47,688,000 and HK$52,667,000 (2019:
HK$927,000, HK$5,235,000 and HK$47,688,000 will expire in
2020, 2021 and 2022, respectively) that will expire in 2021,
2022 and 2023, respectively. Other losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

39. EEBEEE (BE) @

BECEMERE  PRAWNBAR®A
200841 A1 H AR BELA) i@ F FT E IR AY
IR BABMTEIRT - AEBWAEE
RAEEF R E QR RS IREF A
R =R ARE IS RRTIREERE -
JR R R 7N 52 [ A 128 ) BT B 2= KA [0 B A B
fE A R sZ BT S = A A 1) 78 R AR R /] BE
SO o

RIBEHR AEBERGAHRIEE
1878 %402,663,0007T (20194F : B ¥
235,070,000 7T ) A VE 4K 8 K 5% Al ©
7N & B 2 5t FE B8 B 18 75 1 9,544,000
7L (20194 : A #821,0007T ) R IE
ERBEE - AR ARIEFR 2T
FERMYE  REBWAKG THIEESIRE
75 393,019,000 7T (2019 F : B #&
234,249,000 T ) RELEFHIEEE
AERMIEBEEEK D B K 2021
. 20224 K 2023 E fE i 2 G 1B B
# 5,235,000 7T - & ¥ 47,688,000 JT
X 7 # 52,667,000 7T (20194 : B #
927,000 T * /& ¥ 5,235,000 7T & 78
47,688,0007T 7 Al #§ 722020 + 2021
FR2022F Eim) o EMEE s ER
HA%heE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 &, Z20206 A30H It FE

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Share option scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
approved and adopted by the sole shareholder on 5 October
2012 for the primary purpose to grant options to eligible
persons as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
Group.

Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the Company
may, at its discretion, grant options pursuant to the Scheme
to the Directors (including executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors),
employees, advisors and consultants of the Company and
its subsidiaries who the board of directors of the Company
considers, in its absolute discretion, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group (the “Participants”).

The total numbers of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company's shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing on 5 October 2012. Options granted
during the life of the Scheme shall continue to be exercisable
in accordance with their terms of grant. The exercise price
is determined by the Directors and will not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’'s shares. Upon acceptance of the
option, the Participants shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by
way of consideration for the grant. The option will be offered
for acceptance for a period of 28 days from the date of grant.

As at 30 June 2020 and 2019, there were no share options
granted under the Scheme by the Company.
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REARNBRREBLAAE - RER—F
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BEET BT2RRAUTZENRS
F:ORBEHAPREARSH)BR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n/\l:l E\ﬁ &%ngég

For the year ended 30 June 2020 &, Z2020F6 A30H It F/E

41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 41. WEEKIE A Al

On 10 September 2019, Guangzhou Daide entered into an
equity transfer agreement with a group of third party sellers
(the “Sellers”) and Wenlan. Under the agreement, Guangzhou
Daide conditionally agreed to acquire, and Chen Jie (the
“Seller One”) and £ /& X # X {1t {5 B R 2 7] (Shanghai
Aibo Culture Communication Co., Ltd.*) (the " Seller Three”)
conditionally agreed to sell, the equity interest collectively
hold by Seller One and Seller Three, representing 60%
equity interest in Wenlan, at an aggregate consideration
of RMB96,000,000 (equivalent to HK$105,600,000) and
= I 4 (the "Seller Two")and /B € H 2 & 1B
(BBRA&%) (Shanghai Huizhe Enterprise Management Center
Co., Ltd.*) (the "Seller Four”) agreed to grant the call option
to Guangzhou Daide for purchasing the remaining 40% equity
interest in Wenlan (the “Acquisition”).

On the same day, Guangzhou Daide, the Sellers and Wenlan
also entered into a profit guarantee agreement, pursuant to
which and subject to the completion of the acquisition, the
Seller Two and the Seller Four undertake to Guangzhou Daide
that the aggregated profit for the profit guarantee period from
1 September 2019 to 31 December 2022 shall be not less than
RMB70,000,000. If the profit guarantee is met, Guangzhou
Daide can exercise its sole and discretionary right for the call
option to acquire the 40% equity interest in Wenlan at the
consideration set out in the equity transfer agreement. The
Acquisition was completed on 12 March 2020. The Acquisition
had been accounted for using the acquisition method.
Wenlan was principally engaged in the planning of culture and
entertainment and the performance agent and the training for
music bands businesses.

MR201949 8108 @ EMAEEE—4
EF=REAER]) REBET A E
EEE o BERE  BNEBEEER
HRZKEmMEE(ES —])ELE
YEXEERER2RTEFA=Z]E
BKHEREHEREF —ABEAZHEF
A RRAE (B BERE60%ARHRE)
#RE A ARE96,000,0007T (FHER
75 #105,600,0007T) ' MEERE([E
Ao DBEESEFCEERPL(AR
AE)VEFN)RAERBERRGT
40% IR ER EMNBE R L REHE
([UeBE=mE]) -

BA - BNEE  BHRERINE L8
FIREBEWE - B R F uﬁz%%IEnﬁ)z
% BHZRE YR EMNE SR
AR FEHAIR (20199 A1 H £2022
F12A31B)NE & FRER TER
AR#70,000,0007T © fislim F (R 5 =
B - BINEEr] SR ERITE 2R
1B - AR R s T R BB
A0 % I HE o WiEETEMN2020E3 512
B - WIESEEHAREEAL -
EREENERE U RIRETEB) R
A A0 A A R85 5| i A SR 2 7 -

30 June
2020
20204
6H30H
HK$'000
BT T

Consideration transferred HENRE
Cash Be 52,800
Consideration payable (note 29) FERRAE (MI5E29) 52,800
Total ya=t 105,600
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 41. WEEFHB A )

The fair values of net identifiable assets of Wenlan at the date
of acquisition (determined on a provisional basis) were as
follows:

RUEE R - BRSO R B EEFER
FEREEELEEE)NT :

At the date of

acquisition

RS B

HK$'000

ST T

Plant and equipment (note 14) B M 58 s (P2 14) 125
Right-of-use assets (note 15) FRAEEE(ME15) 1,059
Intangible assets (note 17) mEEE(ME17) 106,805
Deferred tax assets (note 39) EERIIR & EE (K5E39) 2,414
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk HAbFEW IR 1,287
Tax recoverable AR EIF IR 54
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KBS 2,589
Other payables H At A FRIE (887)
Lease liabilities HEaE (1,051)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 39) EEFIR B A (MIFE39) (26,701)
Net assets acquired Fri g & = 5E 85,694

Non-controlling interests IR ER

The non-controlling interest in Wenlan at the acquisition date
was measured by reference to the proportionate share of
recognised amounts of net assets of Wenlan and amounted to
HK$34,278,000.

PRULEE B BR7E B R A JE S AR A 2 o iR kL
B EERERREEFESETE
BEE®34,278,0007T °

Goodwill arising on acquisition (determined on

WREEELENHE(REER

a provisional basis) EEE)
At the date of
acquisition
RUkEs B
HK$'000
ST IT
Consideration transferred HENMRE 105,600
Plus: non-controlling interests pAIRE ) v e 34,278
Less: net assets acquired W PTBEEE EFE (85,694)
Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 16) Wi EEEENEE(HE16) 54,184
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 41. WEEFHB A )

Non-controlling interests (continued) FEEE IR FE R (a)
Goodwill arising on acquisition (determined on WEEEELANEEB(REIEE
a provisional basis) (Continued) EETE) @)

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Wenlan because the cost
of the combination included a control premium. In addition,
the consideration paid for the combination effectively
included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and
the assembled workforce of Wenlan. These benefits are not
recognised separately from goodwill because they do not
meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.
Besides, the fair value of the call option is not significant and
included in goodwill arising an acquisition.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was expected
to be deductible for tax purpose.

WiEEMAELENEE DR KA
BEEGEGEE - I ENEHR
EER - BRERBinRME - Wit
£ ARMGEHRERALERZAE58
NWEBNEER - ZFREWER[ESD
FAFERR - J?IXEE‘ET?"/\—IE&%JERQ
EZHERZE - I RBEHENR

BYREX - jI#)\HﬁZE%%LEFEE’JFﬁ
g o

WEEHELANBERRITSRARIEAM
AN o

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WBEE 2RSSR RE :
HK$'000
P I
Cash consideration RERE (52,800)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FrERe KR EED 2,589
(50,211)

The fair value of trade and other receivables amounted to
HK$1,287,000, representing gross contractual amounts at the
date of acquisition and contractual cash flows are expected to
be fully collected.

The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill
have been determined on a provisional basis, awaiting the
completion of the identification of separate intangible assets
and valuation of the identifiable assets and liabilities.

The acquiree contributed revenue of HK$1,088,000 and profit
of HK$96,000 to the Group for the period between the date of
acquisition and 30 June 2020.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 July 2019, total group
revenue for the year would have been HK$487,025,000, and
loss for the year would have been HK$125,646,000. The pro
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 July 2019, nor is it intended to
be a projection of future results.

In determining the “pro-forma” revenue and profit of the
Group had Wenlan been acquired at the beginning of the
current year, the Directors have determined borrowing costs
based on the funding levels, credit ratings and debt/equity
position of the Group after the business combination.

B REMEWRZFBZ ATFELEBE
1,287,000t * IERWE R Z 5404
SHELTEHBERERENE QIR SR

=
E°

FrEEERBBEURHENATED
&EHHHTE/EFZIE ! ﬁ‘ﬁi?ﬁﬁ/ﬁéu‘&ﬁ‘]
AR FIB R & E R B EMETKR T A
EE -

AU EE B B 202096 B30 B HARS -
KRBT AAEEEHR KA B
1,088,0007T K4 7|7 # 96,0007 °

MU BE R 2019F7 A1 H MK » BIER
SEB W A B A487,025,0007T
e A E 18 8 & 78 5 125,646,000 7T °
HEERERTH  T—TEALAEEE
BREERZ W R EEEE (MK
R2019F7A1BEK)WEEZE - 1 E
TEVEBARIRELENTEN -

REEAEEZ [HE W Ko (fiH
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁéﬁiff‘aﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬂ%)ﬁﬁ - i
%E*E?FL’Y%IE"%%AG#&ZE%*
T EEARRES,RERR - EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 41. WEEFHB A )

For the year ended 30 June 2019

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group had acquired
the entire equity interest in EBRETEF LEEGRE A
Al (Khorgas Houhai Culture Media Company Limited) and
its subsidiary, It REFXLEEBR A (Beijing Juhai
Culture Media Company Limited) (collectively known as the
“Khorgas Group"”) at a consideration of RMB450,000,000
(equivalent to HK$517,500,000) minus the receivable of
RMB20,456,000 (equivalent to HK$23,525,000) taken by the
former shareholders of Khorgas Group, which is payable in 3
instalments from 2018, 2019 and 2020, subject to the profit
guarantee as stated in the sale and purchase agreement
(the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition was completed on 28
August 2018 and details are set out in the circular issued by
the Company dated 26 July 2018. The acquisition had been
accounted for using the acquisition method. These subsidiaries
were principally engaged in variety shows and TV program
production and operation.

The fair value of net identifiable assets of Khorgas Group at the
date of acquisition were as follows:

B E2019F6H30H LLFE

HZE201966A30H LFE - AEEK
BEBRRITESULEHEERAR RE
HMEBARIEREE X LEEHEERAR
(LR ERRNEE N2 EAE -
K18 A AR % 450,000,000 7T (18 & R
751 517,600,00070 ) BEAER R &
ERIRREERERAEKRKBARE
20,456,0007T (1 1A% # 23,525,000
JT) 0 HEZAR20184 « 20194 [ 2020
FH=—BE - HEERBEERHZE (K
BEE]FMEMNGEFRE - WEEE
BR2018F8A28HEAK + MaFBEH M
AR T A A201857 A26 HHR
oo WIEETEE A RBAEALR - 25
MEAREENEHLRERERMNE RIE
NEiE o

BRI BN BB THAAE
FEAFEMT :

At the date of

acquisition

N gEA=E

HK$'000

BT

Plant and equipment BE 73
Television series production in progress SUHERERE 109,095
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H A FEWRIR 47,144
Bank balances and cash RITEH KB ® 3,978
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMENFIE (19,329)
Contract liabilities AHEE (24,903)
Advances from shareholders KB RR R AR (36,343)
Loan from a related company Bl NG = (32,200)
Other loans HEmER (4,658)
Net assets acquired Fris g & E A 42,857
Cash consideration RERE 153,900
Fair value of contingent consideration payable  JEffSAREI A FE 300,833
Less: net assets acquired B TBEEEFE (42,857)
Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 16) WS EREER B (MiFE16) 411,876
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

41. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 (continued)

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Khorgas Group because
the cost of the combination included a control premium. In
addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively
included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and
the assembled workforce of Khorgas Group. These benefits
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they
do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible
assets.

41. WEME 2 T @)

HZE2019F6H830H LLFE @)

WEERRTSEMELNEENES
Pr2 AR BIRIEHIRER(E - o) - BT
AHAREBER L BEEAMGRRE -
Wasig & - RERMSERAREBARY
SEZHEASHNABNTHE - ZFW
BRI B B E 2 ERIRE -

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WA IR A R
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration IWEKRE 153,900
Cash and cash equivalents acquired TR ¢ RIS EEY (3,978)
149,922

The fair value of trade and other receivables amounted to
HK$47,144,000, representing gross contractual amounts at the
date of acquisition and contractual cash flows are expected to
be fully collected.

The acquiree contributed revenue of HK$190,670,000 and
profit of HK$46,067,000 to the Group for the period between
the date of acquisition and 30 June 2019.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 July 2018, total group
revenue for the year would have been HK$668,130,000, and
loss for the year would have been HK$37,408,000. The pro
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 July 2018, nor is it intended to
be a projection of future results.

In determining the “pro-forma” revenue and profit of the
Group had Khorgas Group been acquired at the beginning of
the current year, the Directors have determined borrowing
costs based on the funding levels, credit ratings and debt/
equity position of the Group after the business combination.

BERHEMEWRIBBZ A TFELEBE
47,144,000 * ERWEBRBHZE4
PR R TBEEREWE N A HIRE R

=
E°

AU R % 201946 A30F #AR -
WWE T AAEE BB RS BB
190,670,000 7T 3% FI|7 # 46,067,000
7T|: o

i B 2018F7A1HTEMK * BIFER
£ E WS A B 668,130,0007T
MmERNEER AB137,408,0007T &
EEREHEE T —EALAEEER
REEB W K& BB (MIKER
2018781 BEK)WIEE - I TEE
TERRIREERTER -

REEAEEZ [HE M Ko (fiH
ERRNTEENANFERIGKHDEK
B EECREAKEREBEH
B2 EERKTY  EEARRER AE
AR - BEEERA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 30 June 2020

(a)

(b)

Disposal of Chili Group

On 30 November 2019, the Group entered into an
agreement to dispose of the entire equity interest
in Chili Group, indirect subsidiaries of the Company,
to an independent third party of the Group, at a cash
consideration of HK$7,000,000. Chili Group is engaged
in advertising and marketing business. The disposal was
completed on 10 December 2019, on which date when
the control of Chili Group was passed to the acquirer.

Disposal of Star Pictures Entertainment

(Hong Kong) Limited (”Star Pictures”)

On 30 November 2019, the Group entered into an
agreement to dispose the entire equity interest of Star
Pictures, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, to an independent third party of the Group,
at a cash consideration of HK$100,000. Star Pictures is
engaged in film production and distribution business. The
disposal was completed on 4 December 2019, on which
date when the control of Star Pictures was passed to the
acquirer.

42. HEHE A T

B E2020F6A30B LFE

(a)

(b)

HEChIlIEE

2019411 A30H » N&EBET
St ANA—ZAEEBILE
ZHEERARRFEENERQ A
ChiisE M2 E BERE
/78 #7,000,0007T ° Chilis=sE 1
EHEREHER - HEFER
2019412 A 108 (BEIChili&£ E ~
THlEER TR B ER) T
ﬁJZ o

HEEMRE(FRB)BRA
([ 2BRRLE )
72019411 8308 © KEEFTL
Wk NA—BAEBEBLE=
FHERAAREEEZEHEA
AEMIRENZIRE  ReR
{EAE%100,000T ° EMIRLEHN
BY R ERRBETERL - BE
EIEN2019F12 A4 H (BNE MR
SoEHEER T EWRE S H
HA) 5ERK o

Consideration received: 2R E :
Chili Group  Star Pictures Total
ChiliEE =4y Y] st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BET T
Cash received BUIR & 7,000 100 7,100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 42. HEKB A8 @)
For the year ended 30 June 2020 (continued) B E2020%F6H30H ILFE @)
(b) Disposal of Star Pictures Entertainment (b) HEEMRLE (FB)ERA
(Hong Kong) Limited (”Star Pictures”) ([ 2R%RE ) @)
(Continued)
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control KERFEZEEREBD
was lost:
Chili Group Star Pictures Total
Chilis® EMRgt e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BET T BET T BT T
Plant and equipment R & s (P sE14)

(note 14) 10 - 10
Intangible assets (note 17) \EREE(MizE17) 5,600 = 5,600
Trade and other receivables & 5 & E i e k18 486 2,039 2,525
Tax recoverable CIEEE 3 97 - 97
Bank balances and cash RITEH LIRS 1,295 50 1,345
Trade and other payables B o5 REMENIE (659) (943) (1,602)
Net assets disposed of EHEZEEFE 6,829 1,146 7,975

Loss on disposal: HEZER :
Chili Group Star Pictures Total
Chili&=® E iR g st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BET T BET T BT T
Cash received BUIRE& 7,000 100 7,100
Non-controlling interests JEITRRE RS (3,963) - (3,963)
Net assets disposed of BHECEEFE (6,829) (1,146) (7,975)
Loss on disposal HEZEE (3,792) (1,046) (4,838)
Net cash inflow on disposal: HEZBEESRAFE
Chili Group Star Pictures Total
Chilis® EMRRg st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BET T BETT BT T
Cash consideration received = WIRE&RE 7,000 100 7,100
Cash and cash equivalents HERE K
disposed of B2%EY (1,295) (50) (1,345)
5,705 50 5,755
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR B R M R

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

(@ On8May2018, EEHM EEFHRERBR A 7
(Shanghai Xinma Cinema Development Company

Limited) ("Shanghai Xinma"),

an indirect wholly-

owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an
equity transfer agreement (the "Equity Transfer
Agreement”) with two independent third parties of the
Group (the "Purchasers”), pursuant to which Shanghai
Xinma agreed to sell and the Purchasers agreed to

42, HEMEB AT @)

BE2019F6H30HLFE

(a)

MR2018F5H8H » LBHHFER
BRERAR AR EEHE] -
AARMEEEEWNBAR)ER
EEAMEBLIE=F(TERF])
7T 37 A e B g 17 i ([ AW 95 5
FD Bl EENERELE
MEFREKREES LEER
BARI([BEEXIL]  EBFE
MEEZENBRAR  RPBEK

acquire 100% equity interest of 5 & X/ E&E( L&)
BFRA7] (Shengma Cultural Communication (Shanghai)
Company Limited) ("Shengma Cultural”), a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of Shanghai Xinma which was engaged
in cinema operations and management in the PRC, at a
consideration of RMB40,700,000 plus the cash at bank
of Shengma Cultural at the completion date and minus (i)
the total amount of liabilities of Shengma Cultural at the
completion date and (ii) the contingent liabilities. Details
of the disposal are set out in the circular issued by the

EYREENERER)NE I
- KRB A AR 40,700,000 7T
e S ER ek BHERIT
HEIFMIRS BT - BR A0 B
EV{tREX BN AaGEEEN
(N RBE - HESHFBHR
NAFET)E BB A2018F5H9H

ZIELK ©

Company dated 9 May 2018.

On 31 July 2018, the disposal of Shengma Cultural
was completed at an adjusted consideration of
RMB23,495,000 (equivalent to HK$26,784,000), after
deducting the total amount of liabilities and agreed
contingent liabilities, of Shengma Cultural at the
Completion date and the control of Shengma Cultural has
been passed to the Purchasers. Upon completion of the
disposal, Shengma Cultural ceased to be a subsidiary of

the Company.

MR2018F7A318 @ BEX{z
HESHEETK @ HEBRBESX
LT BB EERERD
THAAERER  FAEKRKEAA
R # 23,495,000 7T ( 18 & M 7B ¥
26,784,0007T) K 5 5 30t 2 12 5l
BEEEBETES REEFER
K% BEXIETRBAEARRZ
BB AT e

Consideration received: BURRE :
HK$'000
BETT
Cash received 2 U iE 4 26,784
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 42, HEMEB AT @)
For the year ended 30 June 2019 (continued) BHZE2019F6H30H ILFE @)
(a) (Continued) (a) (%)
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control KERFECZEEREBI
was lost:
Total
st
HK$'000
BT
Property, plant and equipment L E Y 18,947
Inventories & 55
Trade and other receivables H 5 R H At e Y IR 3,790
Rental deposits HEEZS 1,230
Bank balances and cash RITEHEBREIRE 565
Trade and other payables B 5 R HEAFERFIR (19,126)
Contract liabilities AHAaE (346)
Tax payable FETHEIE (159)
Net assets disposed of BEHECEEFE 4,956
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—RNRBARZIE !
HK$'000
BT T
Cash received BB & 26,784
Reclassification of cumulative exchange  RHEEBEFHBEEAENFEHEEER
reserve upon disposal to profit or loss (165)
Less: net assets disposed of W BHECEEFE (4,956)
Gain on disposal HEZWE 21,663

BIRREEB R A R] 2019/20 F3; 249



250

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 (continued)

42, HEMEB AT @)

B Z2019F6 H30H LLFE @)

(a)  (Continued) (a) (&)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEZHRESRATHE

HK$'000
BT T
Cash received 2R S 26,784

Deposit received included in trade and SFAB S REMEMREN S WIS
other payables (2,400)
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERGRBESEED (565)
23,819

(b)  On 1 April 2019, the Group has disposed of the entire
equity interest in PMPIL, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, to an independent third
party at a cash consideration of HK$1,000,000. PMPIL is
engaged in film investment. The disposal was completed
on 1 April 2019, on which date when the control of
PMPIL was passed to the acquirer.

(c)  On 28 May 2019, the Group has disposed of the entire
equity interest in Skywork Media Limited (”Skywork"),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
to an independent third party at a cash consideration
of HK$1,400,000. Skywork is engaged in digital media
post-production. The disposal was completed on 28 May
2019, on which date when the control of Skywork was
passed to the acquirer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 42, HEMEB AT @)
For the year ended 30 June 2019 (Continued) HZE2019%F6H30H I FE @)
The net assets of PMPIL and Skywork at the date of disposal AEEFRERRBEENHERHN
were as follows: BEFERT :
Consideration received: BUWRIE :
PMPIL Skywork Total
AEEFERE PN 3L @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT IT BT T
Cash received B IR 4 1,000 1,400 2,400
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was KEEHEZEEREEIWN :
lost:
PMPIL Skywork Total
AEEFERE RIRI A @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT
Property, plant and equipment #1% - E M & E - 1,439 1,439
Deferred tax asset REFIBEE - 1,034 1,034
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E A EMGRIA - 775 775
Bank balances and cash WITEB IS - 654 654
Trade and other payables Z 5 R E A RN FIE (3) (352) (355)
Contract liabilities AHAEE - (459) (459)
Amount due to a director B —RESHIE - (82) (82)
Net (liabilities) assets ERE(BEEEFE
disposed of (3) 3,009 3,006
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 (continued)

42, HEMEB AT @)

B Z2019F6 H30H LLFE @)

Gain (loss) on disposal of subsidiaries: HEHBE QT2 W= (EiE) ¢
PMPIL Skywork Total
KEEFERE RIRE R a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
Cash received BUIR S 1,000 1,400 2,400
Less: net liabilities (assets) B EHEaE(EE)
disposed of FE 3 (3,009) (3,006)
Gain (loss) on disposal HE 2 e (BR) 1,003 (1,609) (606)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEXZHERATEEE
PMPIL Skywork Total
KEEFHRE RIREEE a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
Cash received BUWIR & 1,000 1,400 2,400
Less: bank balances B B EIRITHER
disposed of - (654) (654)
1,000 746 1,746
43. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 43. KEHEAE
The Group as lessee REBEEREBEA

As at 30 June 2019, the Group leased certain of its office
premises and cinemas under operating lease arrangements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

43.

44.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
At the end of 30 June 2019, the Group had committed for

future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

43.

REHERE @
REBIEARBA @

R2019F6 A30H & RE: + REBNKT
AR S THEARE THERRER
ENFHEBBEROT

2019

20194
HK$'000
BEETIT

Within one year 1F R
In the second to fifth year inclusive
Over five years

SE

F2FEFESF(BREEEMSF)

131,235
473,695
561,349

1,166,279

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable for the
Group's office premises and cinemas. Leases are negotiated
for terms ranging from one to fifteen years.

Certain non-cancellable operating leases included in the above
are subject to contingent rent payments, which are charged
at progressive rates from 12% to 38% of the excess of the
annual gross box-office takings of the related cinema premises
over certain level of box-office income as determined in the
respective lease agreements.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents, bank and other borrowings, loans from related
companies, amount due to a controlling shareholder, amount
due to a joint venture, bonds payable and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising share capital and
reserves.

Management reviews the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, Management considers the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of Management, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt
or the redemption of existing debt.

44.

EERENRIERARENDTNER
BYREMHES - AEEREASN
FE+HE

EXFT A TR REEEREAY
NaRie AR NERSHERZ
ETNHEBEEZREMBFRAZEREKRA
BETEERAKENBEDBSH12%
Z38% Y 23 L RILER ©

EARE e EE

AEEEREAFARRASEEER
FELE  TEBEREHERENR
EFamARRERZALEE - AEH
MIERE AR B FFRARLL R TR -

AEENENGBERRS MRS EE
Y RITREMBR  BBARER
N —REBRARRAE - BN —HEE
XA - BHEFRARRER AR
HE RS (BRERRAREHRE) o

BEETE MR ENER - (FRRTH
—®Wo - BEEEEREANKANEE
BERBEREENER - RIFEEEMNZ
& AREREENRE - BITHK
ARBITHEHRBEOREEEFEE
EREANERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 45 €@MI A
45a. Categories of financial instruments 45a. R T EMNESE
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost HHENAY| RN RVEE 269,455 267,394
Financial assets mandatorily measured R&3Z A FEFF ABRET=
at FVTPL HoREE 7,040 -
Financial liabilities cEREE
Amortised cost BESH AR 457,084 473,024
Contingent consideration payable AR (E 248,955 317,390
45b. Financial risk management objectives 45b. TEIE PR EIE B ERBUR

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, refundable rental deposits,
financial assets at FVTPL, restricted bank balances,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade
and other payables, loans from related companies,
amount due to a controlling shareholder, amount due to
a joint venture, bank and other borrowings, contingent
consideration payable, bonds payable and deposits
received. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with the Group’s financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of
changes in foreign exchange rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

The functional currency of all group companies is HK$
except for those subsidiaries operates in the PRC of
which their functional currency is RMB. At the end
of each reporting period, the carrying amount of the
monetary assets of the group companies (excluding

45. €@ T B u@m)

45b. TRUEREE B ERBR

(#&)

15 &b ()

MR (1)
EEMMAEKE AR EEKY
BAEE  EZERPREENN
BARIKIN  BENREEE S A
R - REREHKR  EEKE
NEIINE S ENEBEERE

intra-group balances), which are denominated in foreign BE(EBALHRBRINDT
currencies, are as follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194
Assets Assets
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
AUD BRIT 11 207
RMB AR 3,773 29,525
usD E 1,460 3,173
EUR (H - 1
HK$ B 1,329 1,330
SGD N3 T - 24

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currency
risk of RMB and USD against HK$. Since HK$ is
pegged to USD, the Group does not expect any
significant movement in USD/HK$ exchange rate and
this is excluded from the sensitivity analysis below. No
sensitivity analysis for HK$, AUD, EUR and SGD are
presented as Management considered the exposure is
insignificant. Management will monitor foreign exchange

exposure to mitigate the foreign currency risk.

At the end of each reporting period, certain group
companies, of which their functional currency is HKS,
had amounts due from the PRC subsidiaries which are
denominated in RMB. These intra-group balances are
HK$11,000 (2019: HK$37,718,000) as at 30 June 2020.

AEBTEAIARENETL
B IMNEERR o BREREX
TTES  AEBEHET B
BEXTGHBRKNENE - UK
MATXHREREDIT - BRERE
ERBABRR - A28
® ORIT - BT R NI T RO 81
RE DT o BB EEIME R,
S LARES SN LB o

RERERR - W BB ABK
METEBERKE R RR B E
B ARIZKEAARESE - B
20206 A30R - ZEEBAEL
ERAABE11,0007T (20194 ¢
751£37,718,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in HK$ against RMB. 5% is the
sensitivity rate used which represents Management's
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items including the above intra- group balances and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A
positive number below indicates a decrease in post-
tax loss where HK$ weaken 5% against RMB. For a 5%
strengthening of HK$ against RMB, there would be an

equal and opposite impact on the loss.

45. €@ T B u@m)

45b. T FLE R EE B B RBUER

(#&)

15 &b ()

B R ()
TRFANANEBEHBE L ARE
HENEENHNHKE - BEE
HUAINEE RSB REE B HE 1T
AR RANSRELL R AE5% -
HMEREDMESFEAIINESTERN
MAZNHEBIEE (B L%
B N Ef s 88 ) M 3R B R DA SN E
[ERL%MEEETIRERE - T
XA RIESBIRREE L ARE
EL%RREBEER D - 2708
MEIARBHESY Y EEE
ERERARFE -

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT

Loss for the year (note) FREE (M) 158 2,807

Note: This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on
bank balances and intra-group balances at the end of the

respective reporting period.

Management considered the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the exposure at the end of each reporting period does not

reflect the exposure during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate

because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed rate restricted bank balances, pledged
bank deposits, bank and other borrowings, loans
from related companies amount due to controlling
shareholder, bonds payable and lease liabilities (see
notes 26, 27, 31, 32, 33, 34 and 36 for details of these

balances, respectively).

In addition, the Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable- rate bank balances

and bank and other borrowings.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis
points) higher/lower for variable-rate bank balances and
bank and other borrowings, and all other variables were
held constant, the impact to the Group's loss for the year

would be decrease/increase is as follows:

45. €@ T B u@m)

45b. TRUEREE B ERBR

(#&)

15 &b ()

FI = 7 ez
MNERS AL TENAFEL
ARBEEREBEMIZF EEDH)
ifn B3R F BRI RS ©

& B ¥ A B E E FI R X BR
RITHEH  EHEERITER - R
TREMER - REBH DTN
B BN —RBERARERE -
ERNEFREEGENAFETR
K@ (REHEBRNFBED RIZ2H
BfsF26 ~ 27 ~ 31 323334
36) °

BEAN - NEE R E A BT B A
IRTTREERIA MR T R Eo A A8 5K
MRSRA R -

HF B RIBITHE A NRIT R
HMEROFEREH TR0
fEZ 26 (20194 : GOMEEZ) -
YEAAHMESRETE A
HAEBEAFEBENTEER
LN

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Loss for the year FREE 467 412

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during

the year.

EEERR  BREST TR
REBMEER  ARFREAER
ERRREAER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

At 30 June 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets under ECL model. Information about the
Group's credit risk management, maximum credit risk
exposures and the related impairment assessment, if

applicable, are summarised as below:

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has a credit
control policy in place under which credit evaluations
of customers are performed on all customers requiring
credit. Other monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application of
HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually or based on
provision matrix. In this regard, the Directors consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group measures the loss allowance on trade
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to

lifetime ECL.

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade balances individually. Impairment of
HK$2,998,000 (2019: Nil) is recognised during the year.
Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below

in this note.
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45b. TRUEREE B ERBR

(#&)

EER R RBEF G
MR2020F6 A30H @ ¥ F 5k
BEETET  ASEEUYBE
B AEERRKEBRERE
BARRKRAINSHEHEEREHE
EMREE -

AEBEREBEBABEEHEEAR
TREEETRERG - BEAX
SEEERRER ReEER
AR R A BRER G (ER)
B E R a0 T :

EFBHMELZ B S EWHR
REARREEERR  AKH
HEEEZEFEE  AEESE
HEEREEECTFPENTSR
FREEMG AEREETHME
BRF - ARARRRERETSHR
Bl HEIR ° W - AKRERE
REBY GRS ERFIRRIR
BEREEERRAENEES
BRI B BB R EETRER
fEeRitms  EERA/AEE
ZIEERBARERD

AEBRBER2HEREES
BeBtEEZRUAEBERED
BEZEREE -

AEBRERBEEBBERX
BESeHEBETRETE -
F N HE BB E E %5 2,998,000 7T
(2019% : &) - BILBBEHER
KT XAHIEE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)
Other receivables and rental deposits

The credit quality of other receivables has been assessed
with reference to historical information about the
financial position of the counterparties. The Directors
closely monitor the credit quality of other receivables and
consider those amounts, which are neither past due nor
impaired, are of a good credit quality in view of the good
historical repayment record of such parties. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model under HKFRS 9 on these balances individually.

For the purpose of impairment assessment of other
receivables and refundable rental deposits, the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equals to 12m
ECL. In determining the expected credit losses for
these assets, the Directors have taken into account the
financial position of the counterparties, the industries
they operate, as well as their latest available operating
results, in estimating the probability of default of each of
these financial assets occurring within their respective
loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon

default in each case.

Restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits and

bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits, restricted bank
balances and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies in

the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group assessed 12m ECL for pledged bank deposits,
restricted bank balances and bank balances by reference
to information relating to probability of default and loss
given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies. Based
on the average loss rates, the ECL on pledged bank
deposits, restricted bank balances and bank balances is

considered to be insignificant.

45. €T H @)

45b. TRUEREE B ERBR

()
=B R & RENE @

H 1t EW AR REE RS
HEYHRENEEERII2E
BERAEFHHBARRNBEEM
fEHEHE - EFEYEREME
WRENEELEER  BERAH
RN H B ERTERR Y - B
XY EB RSB ENZFK
EWEEERRY - I AK
BREE B MG HREERFIHRIZ
EREEBRRARZSTERE
BHEITRER S

shE A EUCGRIA R AR BT E iR
THOREFEM S - BEBRER
BER1I2EAEREEEENS
B8 - NEERZFEENTEY
EEEERN  EFCAREFH
BRI - HEFELERITENA
RESFRMMGHLEERSE - N
fl &t 1% % A0 BE /&5 18 7Y 14 B [ 26 [
N ZEFTHEESTEOEEIA
EREBERENEHER -

RIRFRITHERS  EEARITF
KR IRTTAEER
EHEFRITER - XRGBIBVITHE
HRRRTESNEERREBR -
RERFOTRESTEREE
BERERAFARER TRERN
R BEERIFHRT

AEBRE2EIBERTREE
BHMEREETREREBEY
HEREAOBBRNERFEDIE
BIRITIER - IRBIBITHER R
RITHBNI2EAERREES
B RIEFHEBEREX  SEMER
Tl - XRBIRITHERRIRTT
EEI12E ATRBEEBEER
RTEK -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

45. €@ T B u@m)

45b. T FLE R EE B B RBUER

(#&)

=& B ba KO E G ()

AEENARSEERRFRERE

comprises the following categories: AT A
Internal Trade receivables/ Other
credit rating  Description contract assets financial assets
ABMEETR  HHA EZRWRE ANEE HtbemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
not credit-impaired
EVEN HFFELNRREE THIREMEEREE - 12AEEEE
WAREEEERE &8
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources
2+ RIBABERSINIER - EERREY 2HEHCEEEE- 2HEHEEBE-
IR B R AR K B 3 AN WAREEEERE WAREEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
&8 FRBRREELBREERE >HEHEEERE- 2HREMEEEE-
EEAEFEERE BEREEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
gz EEBRREBGALRERMBRE - BN MWEHE W sH A

XA 4 B R A] BE LR [ IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 45. €F T H @)
45b. Financial risk management objectives 45b. TRUEMEEEER R
and policies (Continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment ZE & &R E s cm)
(Continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TREVAEESHEERIETE
the Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL HEEERTENEERMRESE
assessment:
External Internal 12m or
credit credit lifetime Gross
rating rating ECL carrying amount
12885
4 i 2HES
H-BE EEFR FEER BREE
2020 2019
20205 20194
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bk BETT  E¥T
Financial assets at amortised cost
EBERATENSREE
Trade receivables 23 N/A  Low risk (note a) Lifetime ECL 81,968 140,348
B S EME TER  BER(MEH) 2HESBEEESR
Other receivables 23 N/A Low risk (note b) 12m ECL 15,190 4,347
Hi I8 ~ER ERR(MHD) 1218 A TEH
FEER
Rental deposits 20 N/A  Low risk (note b) 12m ECL 28,267 -
HERSE TER ERR (M) 128 A B
EEER
Restricted bank balances 26 AA N/A (note ¢) 12m ECL 13,098 -
SRBIBRITES AN REA (M) 1218 A &5
FEBR
Pledged bank deposits 27 AA N/A (note c) 12m ECL 21,667 664
BEERRITEH A TR (Ee) 12[8 A5
EEBR
Bank balances 28 AA+ N/A (note ¢) 12m ECL 112,263 122,035
RITEH AN+ TEB (M) 1218 A &5
FEBR
Other items
HitgR
Contract assets 24 N/A Low risk (note a) Lifetime ECL 16,599 -
BHEE Tap REE(MEa) 2HBHE
BB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=]
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PSRRI

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)
Notes:

rating.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group

applies internal credit rating for its customers.

As at 30 June 2020, allowance for expected credit loss of
HK$2,998,000 (2019: Nil) was made on not credit-impaired

debtors.

b. For the purposes of the internal credit risk management,
the Group uses past due information to assess whether
credit risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition.

As at 30 June 2020, the balances of other receivables and
rental deposits are not past due and the internal credit

rating is considered as low risk.

ch The Group did not provide any 12m ECL on restricted bank
balances, pledged bank deposits and bank balances as the

amount is insignificant.
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For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances in which ECL is assessed
individually, the Group determines the ECL on these items
by using a provision matrix, grouped by internal credit

45. €@ T B u@m)

45b. T RIEREE B ERBEK

(&)

B & ke MO E S )

fi g -

RESRBRERENEEM
EARBERBEEMBR
SHEABISRNEET A ER
HIRMEEEENERRE -
GBRRERAEEEREBNGENE
R BB ARy A RIR S
REBERBRERMECGZARE
EEo ) EEZEHANE
HiEEEE -

ERAKENEERAREREN
—®o  AKREHEEZFPKRA
NEMEERTAR -

M2020%F6 A30H @ BHIEE
B3 18 2 & & 75 ¥ 2,998,000 7T
(2019%F : )RV EBEHREE
BB R FEUEIEED -

RABERARERAE - A
S5 0 3 7 1 0 B A4 £
SRR BT TR (4 K OB
290 -

720206 A30H - EAb g
RENESRLREERSYER
B mABEEFRBERAE
[2\Bzz o
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

45. €@ T B u@m)

45b. TRUEREE B ERBR

()
=B R & RENE @

TRETREBLCOTARESE
WRERRNEHBEREEEBRE

simplified approach.

BB -

Lifetime ECL

(not credit-impaired)

> HTEEE HE 18

(W HIREERE)

HK$'000

ST T

At 1 July 2018 and 30 June 2019 20187 A1H K2019%F6 A30H -
New financial assets originated FILRENSMEE

— impairment losses recognised — BRERIREEIE 2,998

At 30 June 2020 720206 830H 2,998

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by Management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and other sources of
funding and considers the risk is minimal.

The following tables provide details of the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment
terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest dates on which the Group can be required
to pay. Specifically, bank borrowing with a repayment
on demand clause is included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the bank choosing to
exercise their rights. The tables include both interest and
principal cash flows.

REE TR
REBRBDECEMRE - KEE
ERRRHEEERREHNA
ERBREEEBWKYE UBEAK
BAELRHESURMERS R
ERPNTE - BEEEERRTT
fERHY 8 AR & B & 6 H 2R
R R SERSN -

TRFANAEETESRAE
B EEERRNKT A LB
B - ZERBREARE K
ERINERBENRFARE
BORMBRACRERE - LH
2 MR R RE R SRR RTT
ERFARERHEERA - M R
RITEBITEEBEMMAIREES
B ZERBHANEREER

Nog=—1
%/}Ibi °©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 45 €@ T A
45b. Financial risk management objectives 45b. TRIEPEEE B ERBUER
and policies (continued) (%)
Liquidity risk (Continued) FEE SRS @)
Weighted  On demand Total
average  orlessthan 3 months to Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months Tyear  1-2years  2-5years Syears  cash flows amount
#EY FERRE

MEFHRE  OMER  EATE  1ERE OFESE EESE REME L]
% HKSOD  HKSOD  HKSODO  HKSOO  HKSOOD  HKSO0D  HKSO00

BT BT T #%Tm BT BT BT

At 30 June 2020 72020568308
Trade and other payables BAREMENTE - 174,181 16,494 - - - 190,675 190,675
Amount due toa controlling B —ZRREEE

sharholder - 27,500 - - - - 27,500 27,500
Amount due toajoint venture BN -THAELEHE - 385 - = - = 385 385
Bankand other borowings  HTRERED 468 18,700 4,25 45,000 - - 67,95 67,000
Loans from related companies ~ EEAT &% 700 30,833 - 9,538 - - 1213M 120,024
Bonds payable ERER 9.00 - 23,865 3410 - - 57,275 51,500
Contingent consideration ENIARE

payable 700 147,668 - 112,860 - - 260,528 248,955
Subtota it 399,267 44514 287,808 - - 731,689 706,039
Lease lisbltes HEEE 700 38317 121,033 185,693 40449 U308 1098525 757,452

437,584 165,647 473,501 410,449 343,033 1,830,214 1,463,491

At 30 June 2019 2019565308
Trade and other payables BAREMENTE - 158,334 - - - - 158,334 158,334
Amount due toa joint venture B —A AL ERE - 385 - - - - 385 385
Bank and other borowings ~ $TREMED 540 39,000 27188 - - - 66,198 66,220
Loans from related companies ~ EEAT 2 &% 7.00 - 79,692 177128 - - 256,934 225,969
Bonds payatle Efif5 900 - - 2,710 - - 2710 22000
Contingent consideration ERMKE
payable 700 144371 - 191750 - - 336,121 317,390
Deposits received Bliize - - 166 90 - - 1116 1116
W 0 30 - S B TN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

45b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank borrowing with a repayment on demand clause
is included in the “on demand or less than 3 months”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 30 June
2020, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts
of the bank borrowing with a repayment on demand
clause amounted to HK$18,924,000 (2019: Nil). Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the Directors
do not believe that it is probable that the bank will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The Directors believe that such bank
borrowing will be repaid within 1 year after the end of
the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreement, details of

which are set out in the table below:

45. TR T B @)

45b. T FLE R EE B B RBUER

(#&)

BN E & ke om)

B f5 iR B EE IR IRITER
sFA LB B S iTE (R Bk
PR=ZEA IEREERA - 12020
F6HA30H @ BIBZREREEK
R BITIERAARBIR A & 58
5 118,924,000 7T (2019 4
) o MEEBEREERN AR -
BEERABRTHETEENBEZE
KB ERMATAEIER K - EF
RE - ZFRITERBEREER
HRAMENETERBAPERES
HRE—FNEE  E@EFEHR
RTE:

On demand Total
or0-90 91 - 365 Over  undiscounted Carrying
days days 1 year cash flows amount
REX AERRE
0Z90A 912365R —Fok il £:4:] REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BRI BT BRI
At 30 June 2020 1202056308 - 18,924 - 18,924 18,700

EIRIREAF R A7) 2019/20 Ff
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 45. TR T B @)
45b. Financial risk management objectives 45b. £ EhE R IR B AE R BER

and policies (continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured at

fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

The following table gives information about how the
fair values of these financial assets are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used) as
well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the
fair value measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3)
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.

(#&)

MR EEE AP EE
MAEBESREERSME

BN A FE@
TRELERETZETSREE
RHEZTE(LEEMBZAE
BT R ABIR) 2 ERHARR A
FEFERABBZABREEER
Fr&ln 2 R ERFIKF(E—=
=RIZER -

Significant Relationship of

Financial assets/ Fair value  Valuation techniques and unobservable unobservable

financial liabilities Fair values at hierarchy  key inputs inputs inputs to fair value

IEFTER RATERTBE
CRHEE/SRER RTSIBBHATE ATEER REXRRIZEAZE BAEE BABENER
2020 2019
2020F 20195
HK$'000  HK$'000
BEIn  AETR
Financial assets at FVTPL 7,040 - Level2 Discounted cash flow method was used Nil The higher the
(2019: nil (note 25)) and future cash flows are estimated estimated discount
hased on the contractual terms of rate, the lower the
wealth management products and fair value.
discounted at a rate that reflects the
credit risk of the counterparties.

BATEHARRZ F_8 BEHEEREQNSNETRRRET & REMRERR -
SREE(20195 FREERBRNTIE RRERRERE DT{ERE -
&(M3t25)) ERES AR ERE «

Contingent consideration 248,955 317,390 Level3 Discounted cash flow method was used Discount rate of ~ The higher the

payable to capture the present value of the 7% per annum estimated discount
expected cash outflows arising from rate, the lower the
the contingent consideration, hased fair value.
on an appropriate discount rate.
ERFEAKE E=R BEFOMBE  RRERREREER HRENETY  BEENRZDS
T EAARBFEENERR2ITT RT{ERE -

KRR

Note: A slight increase in the discount rate used in isolation
would result in a slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the contingent consideration
payable, and vice versa. A 5% increase/decrease in
the discount rate holding all other variables constant
would decrease/increase the carrying amount of the
contingent consideration payable by HK$538,000 (2019:
HK$921,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 45. €F T H @)
45b. Financial risk management objectives 45b. T RAEMEE B ERHK @

and policies (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets UREMEERNTEE
and financial liabilities that are measured at NAEBEEHEERESRE
fair value on a recurring basis BN AFE
The following table represents the reconciliation of level TRIRAFEFEE=RNE
3 fair value measurements: fR
Contingent
consideration
payable
ENARARE
HK$'000
BT T
At 1 July 2018 MR2018%F7A1H -
Acquisition of subsidiaries BB A E) 454,733
Fair value change in the profit or loss RiBaH YA FEEH) 20,511
Settlements Bt (153,900)
Exchange adjustments b (3,954)
At 30 June 2019 7)2019%6 H30H 317,390
Fair value change in the profit or loss RiBzHHAFLEEEH) 6,161
Settlements =N (64,047)
Exchange adjustments bE 3 FE B (10,549)
At 30 June 2020 7202056 A30H 248,955
Analysis as: DA
Current liabilities mHAaR 145,262
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 103,693
248,955
The financial liability subsequently measured at fair value BEE=ZGAFAEFEERIER
on Level 3 fair value measurement represents contingent FEFENcREERENEER
consideration payable relating to the acquisition RTEEBANENIANRE -
of Khorgas Group. Fair value losses on contingent ERNSARENAFEBENRE
consideration payable is charged to profit or loss. =P ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR B R M R

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

46. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

(i)

(if)

Plans for Hong Kong employees

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all its qualifying
employees in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of trustees. Under the rule of the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at rates
specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group
with respect of MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions under the MPF Scheme. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years.

The contribution to the MPF Scheme is calculated based
on the rules set out in the MPF Ordinance which is 5%
on the basic salary of the relevant employee subject to a
specific ceiling of HK$1,500.

Plans for PRC employees

The employees employed in the PRC are members of
the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated
by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiary is required
to contribute a certain percentage of its payroll to
the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

The total cost of HK$3,001,000 (2019: HK$2,020,000) charged
to profit or loss represents contributions paid or payable to the
above schemes by the Group for the year ended 30 June 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

47. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 47. MEFESIENEEZHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TEHIRMETHELNARERES
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- B BREASKIFRSEE - MELH
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are EXNBEERAKERERERE
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, FEENBARAEDRCAENRS
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows REXMDERBEEBDRERENAK
as cash flows from financing activities. RIRESTME ©
Prepayment
of bond
interest
included Amount Amount
in trade Loans from duetoa duetoa Bank
and other Bonds related related  controlling and other Lease
receivables payable  companies company  shareholder  borrowings liabilities Total
HTAESR
Bl
SENES Ve Ef-8 ffi-%
HER 1 BB ERER #R
Bft5E A5 EE bV bt Eftfes HEER 3t
HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HK§ 000 HKS'000
S BT S LS T S LS LS
(Note 23) Note 34) (Note 32) Note 33) (Note 31) Note 36)
(F23) (Fza4) (a32) (H&33) (1) (Fzt36)
A1 July 2018 M018E7A1R - - - 40,000 - 8208 - 48208
Financing cash flows HERLRE - 22,000 185,151 (1,000] - 13,364 - 219,50
Acaquisition of subsidiaries HEHELT - - 32,20 - - 4,658 - 36,858
Reclassflcation X - - - 139,000 - 39,000 - -
Interests accrued EirilE 106 - 10,601 - - K] - 11,630
Interests paid BAHE (990] - - - - (923) - (1913
Exchange adjustments EiE - - (1,983) - - - - (1,983)
At 30 June 2019 01967308 (684 22,000 225,969 - - 66,220 - 312,305
Adjustment upon EEBRAGRLE
apulicationof HKFRS 16 hote 2]~ 165 2 5% (120) - . - - - - 814,609 814,609
At T July 2019 M019E7R18 (884) 22,000 225,969 - - 65,220 814,609 1,126,914
Financing cash flows BERSNE (3,786) 29,500 107,081 - 21,750 90 (113,086) 48,409
Interests accrued Eiilg 3,542 - 3319 - - 1,030 49,6719 57,630
Exchange adjustments B % - - (11,805 - (250) (200) - (12,255)
Acquisiton of a subsidiary i - - - - - - 1,051 1,051
New leases entered RHREEH - - - - - - 5,199 5,199
Settlerents by issue of BREOEREE
nerpetual bonds - - (204,600 - - - - (204,600
At 30 June 2020 12005 6430A (1,128) 51,500 120,024 - 21,500 67,000 757,452 1,022,348
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

48. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 48. BB F I E
(I) Transactions n x5
During the year, the Group entered into the following ERN o NEBEBE HEISAT
significant transactions with related parties: BARS :
Name of related party Nature of transaction 2020 2019
BELER XEME 20205 2019%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
izt BETT BETT
P M Motion Pictures Limited (a) Service income - 288
AEEFERERAA FRE A
Pure Project Limited (b)  Rental expense = 708
ERARAT BeMx
Mandarin Motion Pictures Production (c) Production, film distribution - 2,963
Limited ("Mandarin Motion") service and film processing

service income
BhEBEERLFAIRR]) SERBEZETREAR
EF MR ERBBEA

Sales of motor vehicle 466 -
HERE
Guangzhou Seedland (d)  Interest expenses - 10,601
BMEH MERZ
Black Hole (d)  Interest expenses 3,379 -
Black Hole FIEFY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
#rah

PSRRI

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

48. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(1)

Transactions (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The service income was received from PM Motion
Pictures Limited for the Group’'s provision of film
distribution services. Mr. Wong (who resigned as
executive director of the Company on 1 April 2019) has
controlling interests in this company.

The rental expense was paid to Pure Project Limited for
the office premise leased by the Group. Mr. Wong (who
resigned as executive director of the Company on 1 April
2019) has controlling interests in Pure Project Limited.

The production, film distribution service and film
processing service income were received from Mandarin
Motion in which Ms. Wong Kit Fong, the sister of
Mr. Wong (who resigned as executive director of the
Company on 1 April 2019), has controlling interests.

The interest expenses were paid to Guangzhou Seedland
and Black Hole for the loan advances made to the
Group in which Guangzhou Seedland and Black Hole
are beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang, the controlling
shareholder and the executive director of the Company.

48. B H I E @)

(1)

X5 (@)
HisE -
(8 ZREWATHAEEIZMHE

(c)

FRTIRG M AXS B LR
BRARUE - FhAE(ER
201954 A1 BB AR R RIBIT
ER)RNZARIEEERER -

ZHeHZ IRAEREREED
WMAEMEMZNATFERER
NAE] o EmEE(KR201964 A
1RBERARRITES)RE
AR A REE TR ER -

ZEERBEETRBUARE
SIEMRED BRI A Th R
IER - E A (R 2019F4 A
1EBREAABRITES) MK
KERS LT HMAEZRRNE

ZHEBHAZ IR AEE G EM
E iy N Black HoleER1S E R EA K
mRE A - BINEH & Black
Hole Fa A2 A) 12 IR A% 3R 2 #1177
EEREEESHE ©

BRREEB R AR 2019/20 R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

48. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 48. B H K E @)

(11) Balances (1) #5&R

Details of the loans from related companies, amount due
to a controlling shareholder and amount due to a joint
venture are set out in the consolidated statement of
financial position and in notes 32, 33 and 35, respectively.

(I11) Non-cash transaction

During the year ended 30 June 2020, two wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company issued perpetual bonds
amounted to an aggregate amount of RMB186,000,000
(equivalent to HK$204,600,000) to Guangzhou Puji, a
related company in which Mr. Zhang, the controlling
shareholder of the Company has beneficial interests
in which the perpetual bonds are redeemable at the
issuers’ option on or after 28 June 2025 and the interests
are payable annually in arrears at a fixed rate of 4.5%
per annum, which may be deferred at the issuers’
discretion. The issue of perpetual bonds are solely for the
settlement of the outstanding loans from Guangzhou Puiji
and therefore it is considered as an non-cash transaction
for the year ended 30 June 2020.

(IV) Compensation of key management

personnel

The remuneration of Directors and other key
management personnel of the Group during the year was
as follows:

REBBHARNER  BN—%
AR R R IE RN — A &
E¥RENFBEIRERGEETH
AR R AP EE32 ~ 33%35 °

() FRERH

B E2020F6 A30R FFE -
ARAFTHMREEEWBE QA M
Guangzhou Puji( B AN B AR
RRAEHEEDRDMBEEB A
7)) 1T AE AR 186,000,000
7T (18 & 1 75 # 204,600,000 7T )
BKERE  ERBETANEER
2025% 6 A28H ok 2% % KB O
KERE - A BIRE T FF X
45%% - mEIT AT BISEE
BB - BITKEBEERAEN
Guangzhou Pujik BB E -
HEBRE E2020F6 A30H 1
FEHEEL—EIERERS -

(IV) TE2EEANE

FA EFERAKEHGBERE
BABRFMEIIOT -

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BEETIT

Salaries and other allowances e R EMERL 12,190 12,974
Retirement benefit scheme RIRBFET B R

contributions 369 315

12,559 13,289

The remuneration of Directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee of the
Company having regard to the performance of individuals
and market trends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=202046 A30H [FFE

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 49. 2 8 B kR &
THE COMPANY

2020 2019
20205 20194
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
L= BT T BETFIT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZRE 66,113 97,197
Plant and equipment i Bs B 5% 40 53
Right-of-use assets EREEE 818 -
66,971 97,250
Current assets REEE
Other receivables and prepayments  E th i I 5018 R T8~ 5718 2,597 1,181
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE YR BT BB N R FR 0B 24,416 100,885
Amount due from a related company Uz — 5 Ba 8% A 51 30E = 1
Bank balances IRTTH R 7,315 17,278
34,328 119,345
Current liabilities RBEE
Accruals et E R 3,875 3,568
Amounts due to subsidiaries TERBR B AR ZIA 65,669 150,502
Loan from a related party —EAB AR ZER 5,000 -
Bonds payable EHES 22,000 -
Lease liability HEAE 474 _
97,018 154,070
Net current liabilities REBEEFEE (62,690) (34,725)
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bonds payable ERHES 29,500 22,000
Lease liability HEAE 335 -
29,835 22,000
Net (liabilities) assets (BB)EEFE (25,554) 40,525
Capital and reserves BEXR#E
Share capital AR 37 6,489 6,489
Reserves (Note) () (32,043) 34,036
(Deficit in shareholders’ equity) (BREREREA)
Total equity fERBE (25,554) 40,525

BIRREEB R A R] 2019/20 F3; 273



274

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

The amount(s) due from (to) subsidiaries and a related
company are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

49. 7R 7] B AR R &R ()

U (B AR K —

e B gk
THEEA - 28 RIZERER

NEIFRIA

demand.
Note: B sE -
Share Special Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R EE 55 E ZitE#R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
(Note)
(BF3E)
At 1 July 2018 #2018%F7H1H 521,046 47,196 (478,963) 89,279
Loss and total comprehensive SR EE K&
expense for the year 2HEMZ B - - (55,243) (55,243)
At 30 June 2019 7201996 A30H 521,046 47,196 (534,206) 34,036
Loss and total comprehensive & XEE &
expense for the year 2R &% - - (66,079) (66,079)
At 30 June 2020 720206 A30H 521,046 47,196 (600,285) (32,043)

Note: Special reserve represented the capital contribution from
Honour Grace Limited which is based on the total equity of
Green Riches Holdings Limited ("Green Riches”) at the date of
Reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. 22 A B D T 5 S
COMPANY

a. The Company had the following a. M2020F K 2019F 6 A
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020 and 30H ' XABREE T
2019: MiEB AT :

Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary Attributable Proportion of
incorporation/  share capital/ equity interest voting power
establishment/ registered held by held by
Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company the Company Principal activities
BRTRAR
HMERL,/ LERBRAE/ FARREN NG
HEAREHR RY/BEHE EfEx FEfE IR e REEHLLA TEER

2020 2019 2020 2019
2020 2019 2020  2019F

Green Riches (Note i) BVI US$1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding

ZH (M) EERNES (B3 REBK

Pegasus Motion Pictures  Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Film production
Production Limited

AEEFRIEBRAA) B BT EAE

Pegasus Motion Pictures  Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Film distribution
{Hong Kong) Limited

AEEFHm(EE) i BEIT BYENT
BRAT

Pegasus Motion Pictures ~ BVI US$1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Film distribution and
Distribution Limited production

AEEFRTBRARA KBRTESE (ES BEYRTREE

JEREE (Note i) PRC HK$1,500,000  100%  100% 100%  100%  Service provider of the

Group for facilitating

the establishment and

expansion of the Group's

business in the PRC
ERARE () i 71,500,007 FERLRERASE

RAEEBNAEE

RS HtER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

a. The Company had the following
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020 and
2019: (Continued)

Issued and fully

50. XA FME A AFE @

a. H2020F K 20196 B
30H X BEETY
MIEAT @)

Place of paid ordinary Attributable Proportion of
incorporation/  share capital/ equity interest voting power
establishment/ registered held by held by
Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company the Company Principal activities
BRTRAR
HMERL,/ LERBRE/ FAEREN NG
MEAREHE RY/BEHE TRER FEfE IR e REEMLA TEER
2020 2019 2020 2019
20205 2019 20206 2019%

Star Pictures (Note iv) Hong Kong HK$10,000 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Representing the Group
in entering into actors’
and production crew's
contracts and film
distribution

EMIRE (Mztiv) &k A0000m  FEA TER REAKETLEER
BEARHR
EPRTLM

Cinema City Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Cinema operations and
management

EYNEEARAR &k BB FREERER

Cinema City (Langham Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Cinema operations

Place) Limited
EYR(BRI)ERAE BB 7%3,000,0007
Cinema City (Chai Wan)

Limited
TUA(RERDA  BR

Hong Kong HK$1 100%  100%

EBIT

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2019/20
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50.

COMPANY (Continued)

a. The Company had the following
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020 and
2019: (Continued)

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary Attributable

incorporation/  share capital/ equity interest

establishment/ registered held by
Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company

BRTRAR

HMERL/ LERBRAE/ FARREN

MEAREHE RY/BEHE ERER FEfE iR e
2020 2019

20208  2019%

NNl = NG S T )

a. H2020F K 20196 B
30H X BEETY
MIEAT @)

Proportion of
voting power
held by
the Company Principal activities

ONGIEEY
BREREMLA TEER
2020 2019
20206 2019%

Cinema City (Hong Kong) ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100%  100%
Limited

ER(BE)BRAF Bl BEIT

Cinema City (TW) Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%

BYM(2E)BRAA &k BT

Screen Media & Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%
Promotion Limited

FREREEERAR Eh BEIT

Chili (Note iv) Hong Kong HK$10,000 N/A 100%

Chili(Fit3Eiv) &R A%10000T  FEA

Powerful Target Investment BVI US$1 N/A 100%
Group Limited (Note iv)

FRREEERRAA ERRLEE =1 FER
(KIEiv)

100% 100%  Cinema operations

100%  100%  Cinema operations
gl

100% 100%  Film distribution, advertising
and promotion
EYETLm  BERKE
N/A 100%  Provision of advertising and
marketing services
TER RERSRTGHERSE
N/A 100%  Investment holding

TR BRI

{BIRIRLEH IR A 7] 2019/20 F R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. X EIM B A RFHEE @
COMPANY (Continued)

a. The Company had the following a. M2020F K 2019F 6 A
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020 and 308 AAEEET
2019: (continued) M‘ﬂ?ﬁﬂﬁl L (4#)

Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary Attributable Proportion of
incorporation/  share capital/ equity interest voting power
establishment/ registered held by held by
Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company the Company Principal activities
RELHE
HMERL,/ LERBAE/ FAEREN NG
WEARER RY/BEHE ZREE FEfE IR e REEHLA TEER

2020 2019 2020 2019
2020  2019F 2020  2019F

Favourable On Global BVI US$100 N/A 70% N/A 70%  Investment holding
Investment Limited
("Favourable On")

(Note iv)
EREHREABRAA AERENHE 100%n  FER TER RERR
(1£%)) (M)
Chili Platinum (Note iv) Hong Kong HK$1 N/A 70% N/A 70%  Provision of printed and
digital media publication
business
BB (M) Bk AT TER TER REDRIRSEEELRER
Hope Sound Limited BVI US$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
("Hope Sound") (Note i)

RBERAR(SE)) KBRTEHSE 100X 7T RERK
(WizH)

Hong Kong Transmit Hong Kong HK$100 100%  100% 100%  100% Investment holding
Entertainment Limited

ERBEREARAA Bl %1007 REBR

HERREYRERERAR PRC RMB10,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100%  Cinema management and
operation in the PRC

HERREERER e AR KRB EREEY R

AR 10,000,0007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. 22 B8 A Bl @)

COMPANY (Continued)

a. The Company had the following
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020 and
2019: (Continued)

Issued and fully

a.

M 2020 F K 2019F 6 A
30H X BEETY
MIEAT @)

Place of paid ordinary Attributable Proportion of
incorporation/  share capital/ equity interest voting power
establishment/ registered held by held by
Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company the Company Principal activities
RELHE
HMERL,/ LERBAE/ FAEREN NG
WEARER RY/BEHE ERER FEfE IR e REEHLA TEER
2020 2019 2020 2019
20205 2019 20206  2019%
LEREXERBBRAR  PRC RMB5,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% Film distribution in the PRC
FEFEULERBRAF  HE AR RbEAETEY
5,000,0007T
Shanghai Xinma PRC HK$7,500,000 100%  100% 100%  100%  Cinema operation in the PRC
LEHS P 717,500,007 RPELER
Guangzhou Huohua PRC Note {v) ~ 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Company
Limited (Note ii)
BMAREBRAA e Htztv) RERR
(Bytin)
Guangzhou Daide PRC Note (v)  100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Management Consultancy
Company Limited
("Guangzhou Daide")
BNSRERZAGRAR fte(v) REBR
(TEM=E])
Beijing Transmit Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Entertainment Limited
HREEREERAT 6 %1007 RERR

{BIRIRLEH IR A 7] 2019/20 F R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. X EIM B A RFHEE @
COMPANY (Continued)

a. The Company had the following a. M2020F K 2019%F 6 A
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020 and 308 ' A EEE TS
2019: (Continued) M‘ﬂ?ﬁﬂﬁl 2N D)

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary Attributable Proportion of
incorporation/  share capital/ equity interest voting power
establishment/ registered held by held by
Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company the Company Principal activities
BRTRAR
HMERL,/ LERBRE/ FAEREN NG
MEAREHE RY/BEHE TRER FEfE IR e REEMLA TEER

2020 2019 2020 2019
2020 2019 2020  2019F

Transmit Creation Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEAFARAT Bl AH100T REBR
Transmit Talent Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEERARAT i RE1007 RERR
Khorgas Houhai Culture PRC RMB12,500,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Television series production
Media Company Limited
ERRIBER U EE i AR EREISE
BRAR 12,500,0007C
Beijing Juhai Culture Media PRC RMB3,000,000  100%  100% 100%  100%  Television series production
Company Limited
IREEEHEARLT T AR EREISE
3,000,0007T
WNEE X BEERAA  PRC RMB5,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100%  Television series production
MNEBLEBRERRR  HE ARE ERBIRE
5,000,0007T
FEEEERCARAA  PRC Note (v} ~ 100%  100%  100%  100%  Screenwriter management
REBERZLARAR  HE Wiz (v) REIER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. 22 B8 A Bl @)

COMPANY (Continued)

a. The Company had the following
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020 and
2019: (Continued)

Issued and fully

a.

M 2020 F K 2019F 6 A
30H X BEETY

B S X B

Place of paid ordinary Attributable Proportion of

incorporation/  share capital/ equity interest voting power

establishment/ registered held by held by
Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company the Company Principal activities

BERTRER

KL/ LERBRE/ FAEREN NG

MEARER R/ B EfEx FEfE IR AE REEHLA TEER
2020 2019 2020 2019
20205 2019 20206  2019%

REEEREREBRAR  PRC Note(v) ~ 100%  100%  100%  100% Artiste management
REERFEREBRAG  PHE i) REER
REEENHNIER PRC Note ) ~ 100%  100%  100%  100% Director management
BRAR
REEEN AR t Htztv) LRER
BRAT
REEBERRXILER PRC Notelv)  100%  100%  100%  100% lInternet celebrity
BIR 27 (Note il
REEERRLESR e Bt v) fa
BRARA (Fi)
REEESHULER PRC Notefv) ~ 100%  100%  100%  100% Internet celebrity
BRAR
RNEEEBHULER HE Wt v) A
BRAT
REEELHESARARE  PRC Note (v)  100% - 100% - Advertising
(Note iii)
AEERLHESARLT T i) BE
(Bifsiin)
REERERLARRAE  PRC RMB10,000,000 51% - 51% - Intemet celebrity
("KZE1R") (Note iii
REEREFHECARRF  HE AR fan
(TRRELR]) (W) 10,000,0007C
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN
SRSy

FIE R

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

a.

The Company had the following

subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020 and

2019: (Continued)

Issued and fully

50.

NNl = NG S T )

a. H2020F K 20196 B
30H X BEETY
MIEAT @)

Place of paid ordinary Attributable Proportion of
incorporation/  share capital/ equity interest voting power
establishment/ registered held by held by
Name of subsidiary operations capital the Company the Company Principal activities
BRTRAR
HMERL,/ LERBRE/ FAEREN NG
MEAREHE RY/BEHE EREE FEfE IR e REREMNL A TEER
2020 2019 2020 2019
20205 2019F 20205  2019%
BEEEMEKRIBRAT PRC Note (v}  100% - 100% - E-commerce business
(Note iii)
BELERMRARERRAR RHE HiEE(v) EHEH
(Fi3ii)
BERR LB REAERRE PRC Note (v)  100% - 100% - E-commerce business
(Note iii)
BEZR(LERBERRR R Bt ) EHEH
(Bivsiin)
Wenlan (Note vi) PRC RMB11,666,667 60% - 60% - Artiste management
R (Fistvi) i AR% ZAEE
11,666,667
BREELEEBRAR  PRC Note (v)  100% - 100% - Film distribution and
(Note i) production
AEREERAERAR HH MiEE(v) BYATRESE
(Faii)
ERRIEE U ER PRC RMB5,000,000  100% - 100% - Film distribution and
BRG] Note il production
ERRATE AR EP AR BYBITREE
B AR (i) 5,000,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

a. The Company had the following
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020 and
2019: (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Except Green Riches and Hope Sound, all other
subsidiaries are indirectly owned by the Company.

The subsidiary is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise
established in the PRC.

These subsidiaries were newly established/incorporated

during the year ended 30 June 2020.

These subsidiaries were disposed of during the year
ended 30 June 2020. Details are set out in note 42.

The registered capital of the subsidiaries was not yet

injected as at 30 June 2020.

The subsidiary was newly acquired during the year ended
30 June 2020. Details are set out in note 41.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

50. XA FME A AFE @

a. H2020F K 20196 B
30H X BEETY
MIEAT @)

i -

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

BRMERABI - A HMN
BRAREEANRAREZES

% MY B A ) A o B AR A7 B b
BEELE -

ZEHBARRNEE202056
B30R IEFERFTRL M
KL °

&% M B A B Ty i B = 20206 6
A30B IEFELE - FHEHR
PiEE42

ZEKHBAAMEME AR
20206 A30H EAREA ©

ZHE AR 2 N ELE 202056
H30R L FEEHUEE - 15
EN LA

RERKFEREMER - SH B
AR EEAIRERERFES

EIRIREAF R A7) 2019/20 Ff
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. X EIM B A RFHEE @
COMPANY (Continued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEEKRFZREZIIE
subsidiaries that have material 2ENBARNFEE
non-controlling interests
The table below shows details of the non-wholly owned TREINHEEERIFIERESD
subsidiaries of the Company that has material non- RAFIEEEMB A RIS -

controlling interests:

Proportion of

Place of ownership interests Profit/(loss)
incorporation and and voting rights held allocated to Accumulated
principal place by non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary of business interests interests interests
FEM AR LB R FEREERENRE  IREFERER
WEARAR TEREHE ERERRERELS wigx/(E58) Rt ERER

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
2020F 2019 20206  2019F 20206  2019%
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

BRTr AETR ABTn ARt

Wenlan PRC 40% - 38 - 34,316 -
BB B
REER PRC 49% - (817) - 4,573 -
KEEIR HE
Favourable On and its subsidiaries  BVI - 30% - (184) - (3,963)
EZRENBAR HEETRES

(779) (184) 38,889 (3,963)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned

subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group's subsidiary that has a material non-controlling
interest is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before intragroup

50. X EIM B A RFHEE @

b. EREEARFERERAIIE

2EME DTS @

BRBREEAFERERNALE
BB ARNMBERGEERD
WT - ATHMBERBEMIE
BIOARBEBE N -

eliminations.
Wenlan i
2020
20204
HK$'000
BET T
Current assets MEVEE 5,268
Current liabilities e ARG (2,856)
Non-current assets IERENEE 110,152
Non-current liabilities EREAE (26,774)
Shareholder’s equity attributable to ~ RQ A% A AFEMGARRER
owners of the Company 51,474
Non-controlling interests eI R i 34,316

ERIRLZEG R A F) 2019/20 F3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. XA FME A AFE @

COMPANY (Continued)
b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEEKRFZREZIIE
subsidiaries that have material 2EME DTS @

non-controlling interests (continued)

Wenlan (Continued) B (@)
From
12 March
2020 to
30 June
2020
20204
38128 &
20204
6H30HHiE
HK$°000
BT T
Revenue W ek 1,076
Expenses X (980)
Profit for the period and total HAEA RERNEETABEE
comprehensive income
for the period 96
Profit and total comprehensive RRAREB AEE TN REEBALEE
income attributable to owners of
the Company 58
Profit and total comprehensive FEIERERIE (R R 2 EWALRE
income attributable to non-
controlling interests 38
Profit and total comprehensive HIRE 7| & 2 E IR A 4258
income for the period 96
Net cash inflow from operating KEEFIR S RAFE
activities 714
Net cash outflow from investing KEEE 2R M FRE
activities (1,540)
Net cash outflow from financing MEEH RS RHIFE
activities (220)
Net cash outflow e M FEE (1,046)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned

subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests (continued)

50. XA FME A AFE @

b. BEEEXRFZERERNIE
2EWB R BNFERE @

RKEEIR KEEIR

2020
20204
HK$'000
BET T
Current assets TMENVE E 10,685
Current liabilities mEEE (1,825)
Non-current assets EMENEE 1,587
Non-current liabilities FErHAasE (1,115)

Shareholder’s equity attributable to  RQAF#E A AFEGARRER
owners of the Company 4,759
Non-controlling interests JEPERR R 4,573

BIRIREEF R AT 2019/20 35
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B ISR I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A30H L FE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. XA FME A AFE @

COMPANY (Continued)
b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEEKRFZREZIIE
subsidiaries that have material 2EME DTS @

non-controlling interests (continued)

KIBEFIR (Continued) REZIR @)
From
13 April
2020 to
30 June
2020
20204
4813 &
20204
6H30H Hi
HK$'000
BT T
Revenue Wz 1,479
Expenses A (3,146)
Loss for the year and total FABBMFAZERZRE
comprehensive expense (1,667)
for the year
Loss and total comprehensive KREE ANELEBER
expense attributable to owners 2HEMAX 25
of the Company (850)
Loss and total comprehensive eI R RS FE (R B IE I
expense attributable to FHEMAZERE
non-controlling interests (817)
Loss and total comprehensive FREENEHER B
expense for the year (1,667)
Net cash outflow from operating D) i e D=2
activities (1,876)
Net cash inflow from investing activities & & &IRE R A FEE 10,855
Net cash outflow from financing MEEH RS RHIFEE
activities (372)
Net cash inflow REMNFEE 8,607
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR MR
For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z2020F6 A308 [FF[E

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

50. X EIM B A RFHEE @

b.

Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests (continued)

BEEARFEREZAIE
2EMWB RTINS @

Favourable On and its subsidiaries EZRHEKBE AT
2019
20194
HK$'000
BETIT
Current assets MEVEE 204
Current liabilities REBE (13,416)
Non-current assets IEmENE E -
Deficit attributable to owners of KRB AL EA
the Company (9,249)
Non-controlling interests JEPRRR fE (3,963)
Year ended
30 June 2019
20194
6A30R LFE
HK$'000
AT IT
Revenue Wz -
Expenses 53 (618)
Loss for the year and total FREBBERFERN
comprehensive expense for ENalEE
the year (618)
Loss and total comprehensive RAREBAEEEER
expense attributable to owners el
of the Company (434)
Loss and total comprehensive IR RS R R B R N
expense attributable to 2HEMAZERE
non-controlling interests (184)
Loss and total comprehensive FABENMEAERY AR
expense for the year (618)
Net cash inflow from operating KEEEIR S RAFEEE
activities 108
Net cash inflow RemAFRE 108

ERIRLZEG R A F) 2019/20 F3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 & Z=2020%6 A30H [FFE

51. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease (the “COVID-19")
in early 2020 has impacted the Group's operations. Local
residents have reduced social activities including attending
cinema screenings since the start of the COVID-19 outbreak.
In addition, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
government implementation of the safe distancing measures
include closure of all cinemas for the period of 29 March to
7 May 2020, and 15 July to 27 August 2020. Given the dynamic
nature of these circumstances, the Directors will continue to
assess the financial effects on the Group's financial position
and operating results.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B 51 &

FINANCIAL RESULTS

BSR4

For the year ended 30 June

BZ6H30ALEE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
20164 20174 20184 20194 20205
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BETT BT BT BETT
Revenue 6 446,381 225,631 274,640 668,130 465,534
Cost of sales HEKK (259,652)  (109,370)  (136,196)  (405,843)  (291,830)
Gross profit EH 186,829 116,261 138,444 262,287 173,704
Other gains and losses Hips RER - 5,353 8,608 21,055 (580)
Other income ElgA 4,738 6,593 7,681 11,347 42,348
Selling and distribution expenses & RETHY (102,820 (110,539) (200,624) (207,271) (181,793)
Administrative expenses THHX (87,674) (43,943) (50,981) (67,316) (60,997)
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain B (E18) W@ (6,779) (5,016) 1,859 (226) (2,210)
Impairment loss on goodwill BEREEE (43,084) - - - =
Impairment loss on intangible asset & AEREER (20,514) - - - -
Impairment loss on other receivable H b EUERFRERE (2,011) - - - -
Impairment loss on property, plant 1% - BE &R EMNFIE
and equipment BB - - (40,579) - (2,189)
Impairment loss on interests in RE2 N BIERA
associates HERE - (20,351) (22,295) (16,317 -
Impairment loss on trade EHREEBBEAET
receivables under expected B S RENGERERRE
credit loss model - - - - (2,998)
Impairment loss on right-of-use FREEERESE
assets - - - - (28,895)
Impairment loss on A ERERFIERSE
available-for-sale investment - - (2,736) - -
Impairment loss on investmentin ~ REEE, /B Z1EN
film/drama production BEER - - (19,613) - -
Fair value change on contingent RS ARENAFEE
consideration payable - - - (20,511) (6,161)
Finance costs BAKAK (170) (9 (262) (11,630) (57,630)
Share of results of associates BB EAREE (234) (1,757) 74 (1,484) (855)
Share of results of a joint venture  [E(E—TABNEEE (2,090) 13,494 445 97 (6)
Loss before tax BRERIER (73,809) (39,914)  (179,979) (29,969)  (128,262)
Income tax (expense) credit MER(RZ)ES (10,343) (966) (10,072) (5,719) 885
{BIRIRLEH IR A 7] 2019/20 F R 291
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MR E

For the year ended 30 June

HBZ6A30ALEE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
20164 20174 20184 20194 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BT BETT BETT BETT
Loss for the year FRER (84,152) (40,880)  (190,051) (35688  (127,377)
Other comprehensive FREMZERA(FAS)
income (expense) for the year
Items that may be reclassified F#AeET T EZ A
subsequently to profit or loss 6 H
Reclassification adjustments upon  Ef AtBz 7 —fEH B AR
disposal of a subsidiary included REEEEHDEAZE
in profit or loss - - - 165 -
Reclassification adjustments upon i AfB% 7 —EE 4 A A
disposal of an associate included ~ PHEREHTHEHE
in profit or loss - - - - (321)
Share of exchange difference of JE(FB S N B RBREFHN
associates arising on translating ERELNELESR
foreign operation 29 48 (39) 305 -
Share of exchange difference of a  E{f—H& &%
joint venture arising on translating ~ F#RZEFINER
foreign operation EEMER Z58 (2,485) (2,413) 28 (133) -
Exchange difference on translating BN ERHREZEH ZH
foreign operation 1,503 1,116 (1,373) 5,266 (1,144)
Total comprehensive expense FRZEATESE
for the year (85,105) (42,129) (191,435) (30,085) (128,842)
Loss for the year attributable to: THATERFNERE
Owners of the Company N/NGIEY=DN (72,591) (39,984) (189,750) (35,504) (126,598)
Non-controlling interests iR (11,561) (896) (301) (184) (779)
(84,152) (40,880) (190,051) (35,688) (127,377)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERBE
Total assets BERE 458,804 452,882 456,450 989,832 1,784,249
Total liabilities BEEE (126,494) (145,146) (340,149) (903,616)  (1,578,644)
332,310 307,736 116,301 86,216 205,605
Equity attributable to owners AREER ARG
of the Company B 334,027 311,214 120,080 90,179 (37,884)
Perpetual bonds KEEE - - - - 204,600
Non-controlling interests FERER (1,717) (3,478) (3,779) (3,963) 38,889
332,310 307,736 116,301 86,216 205,605
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